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1. Executive Summary
Welcome to the Bay Venues Half Year Report.
The purpose of this report is to inform Tauranga City Council (TCC) and the
community about activity across the city’s portfolio of community facilities managed
by Bay Venues. In future Bay Venues will report quarterly to update TCC on progress.
Attendance numbers across the Bay Venues network of facilities shows that total visitors for H1 were 803,599. This is a 25%
reduction on the previous period last year and is a result of a three week lockdown and ongoing Covid restrictions.

Visits (Jul-Dec 2021)

279,037
-25%*

200,074
-40%*

132,360
-39%*

192,128
25%*

Aquatics

Indoor Sports

Community Centres
& Halls

Other Business
Units**

Covid has continued to dominate management time as we
have worked through a lockdown, changes in Alert Levels, the
move to the Covid Protection Framework, mandatory staff
vaccinations, the postponement and cancellation of events
and supporting our user groups and customers to understand
and respond to the rapidly changing environment.
The new Bay Venues Board is committed to ensuring that Bay
Venues delivers on its role as kaitiaki of Tauranga’s community
facilities. A primary focus of the Board and new CEO has been
on building strong relationships with TCC and key stakeholders.
Bay Venues is actively contributing to TCC workstreams across
a range of significant city projects and brings a high level of
expertise.
We are refreshing the Bay Venues strategy including the
Vision, Purpose and Values. Positive engagement with TCC is
underway to define Bay Venues core community outcomes
and this is expected to focus on the range of activity within the
venues and the number of people using the facilities.
We are working closely with TCC and other stakeholders to
assess the network and develop a Venue Strategy to guide the
future planning and development of all facilities within the
portfolio. A key upcoming project will be to develop a master
plan for Baypark to help guide the future development of this
site.

Financial results for H1 have been significantly impacted by
Covid restrictions, delivering an EBITDA loss of $1.2m (a decline
of $1.4m against budget). This is in line with the forecast that
was presented to TCC in October 2021.
Events and associated activities have been hit hardest over
the past 6 months with a combined decline of $1.26m across
Events, Catering and Audio Visual.
With moving to the ‘Red’ traffic light setting, we have reforecast our result to -$3.61m for FY22, a further decline of
$1.56m. Most of this decline has again come through our
events business as we have assumed that no significant
events will take place during Q3 and Q4.
We have a renewed focus on cost management following the
latest revenue projections.
The outlook for the rest of the financial year remains uncertain.
The emergence of Omicron and an escalation of the pandemic
is expected to put significant strain on customers, staff and
the bottom line. Beyond that it is difficult to predict what will
happen. However, the pandemic has reaffirmed that people
need social connection and the facilities that Bay Venues
operates have a key role to play in connecting communities
across Tauranga Moana.
*Percentage a comparison to the same period in the previous year.
**Business units include Clubfit, Adams Cnt, BayStation, Stadium.

Simon Clarke, Chair

Chad Hooker, CEO
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1.1 Key Achievements
• A new Board has been established and is settling in well. Chad Hooker has been appointed as CEO and started with Bay
Venues on November 8, 2021.
• The new Board & CEO have been focused on building strong relationships with TCC and other community stakeholders.
• The Bay Venues team did an exceptional job of implementing Covid Vaccine Passes. This involved staff from across the
business and was delivered within a tight timeframe.
• In December we unveiled a Pou outside the Mount Hot Pools. Titled He Pou Rarama, it tells the story of the four sacred
springs of Mauao and recognises the history of the area.
• We were pleased to become a Living Wage employer, with all staff being paid at least the minimum living wage from
January 2022.
• There has been a strong focus on health and safety reporting, analysis and systems to support staff and customer safety
and wellbeing.
• Healthy School Kai re-signed all but one contract for the Ministry of Education’s Ka Ora, Ka Ako | healthy school lunches
programme.

1.2 Key Challenges
• Covid remains a threat to business continuity and the move to Red has again shut down events and put restrictions on
most community facilities. This puts financial pressure on the business as events and the associated business units drive a
large portion of revenue.
• The recruitment market continues to be challenging and attracting good quality staff is difficult.
• Rising construction costs and further upward pressure on costs due to inflation are expected to put
pressure on both capital projects and operating costs.

1.3 Emerging Risks and Opportunities
• We are experiencing an increasing number of minor security incidents
around our venues relating primarily to theft and anti-social
behaviour. We will monitor this and put in place initiatives to
ensure the safety of staff and patrons.
• Planning on significant city projects (e.g. new Stadium at
the Domain; Memorial Park redevelopment; Blake Park
Master Plan, Adams Centre for High Performance)
present exciting opportunities to support the future
development of these regional facilities. A master
plan will be created for Baypark to guide its future
development.
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2. Community Outcomes
The half-year started well with total visits across the Bay Venues network up 12% in July. The venues then closed for 21-days
in August and September due to Covid, before physical distancing requirements and gathering limits restricted venue capacity
for a further 12-weeks.
For the second year in a row, the AIMS Games did not go ahead which took a heavy toll on utilisation in September across several
venues. The graph below outlines the impact that Covid-19 has had on public facilities. At the end of H1 total visits were down by
34% compared to the previous year and 37% down on the previous 3-year period.

2.1. Aquatic Facilities
H1 Visits
400,000
350,000

Visits

300,000
250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000
50,000
0
Aquatics

Indoor Sports

3YR AVG YTD FY19-21

Community Centres & Halls

YTD21

YTD22

Note: Indoor Sports includes Trustpower Arena visits including commercial activity.

The year started well but the lockdown and physical distancing requirements have hit visitation. As more services began to open,
visit numbers started to increase. For H1 total visit numbers were 19% down on the prior year, but 8% ahead of forecast.

Community Pools - No. of visits
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Community Pools include Baywave, Greerton, Otumoetai and Memorial. Note: Greerton closure is forecast for Feb-Apr 22.

With the borders closed and extended lockdowns occurring in Auckland and Waikato, coupled with a hotter than normal
December, the Mount Hot Pools visits are well down on the prior year and did not achieve forecast. For H1, total visit numbers
were 35% down on the prior year and 26% down on forecast.
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Mount Hot Pools - No. of Visits
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Note: the Mount Hot Pools 10-weeks maintenance closure occurred in Feb & Mar 21.

Aquatic events started the year well including the Swimming BOP Short Course Championships (350+ competitors) and the North
Island Artistic Swimming Champs (130 competitors). Post Lockdown, events were severely affected due to gathering restrictions.
The events that did manage to proceed included Swimming NZ Tri Series Tour, Tauranga Water Polo Bay Festival and Swimming
BOP Junior Clash Meet.

“The Mount Maunganui Swim Club board wanted
to take the time to acknowledge the support and
assistance from all the Baywave staff over the latest
weeks of level 2 and the work prior to the latest
level announcement, enabling our swim programme
to continue. Your team’s efforts have ensured all
our swimmers can continue to train with minimal
disruption, which is appreciated. On behalf of the
board and all our swimmers, a huge thank you.”

Mount Maunganui Swim Club National Swim Team in Auckland, August 2021 for the NZ Short Course
Championships.

The Memorial Pool season commenced mid-November. Mini Water Polo
league ran on Tuesday nights with approximately 300 primary school
children participating. Like many other sporting codes, visits were
limited to players and officials only. School end of year visits
were significantly down on last year due to education vaccine
mandate challenges.
Patronage of the hydrotherapy pool at Greerton Aquatic
& Leisure Centre has steadily increased over the last
six-months. Easy accessibility (via pool ramp), warmer
pool temperatures and a peaceful environment
has attracted more visits from retirement villages,
physiotherapists delivering rehabilitation sessions
and individuals using the pool to exercise.
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Building on the appeal of the Greerton hydrotherapy pool,
venue staff have been hosting weekly Sensory Sessions. On
Wednesday evenings the hydrotherapy pool is cordoned
off and lights dimmed to create a calm environment. On
average 15 participants attend and plans are underway to
open an additional session each week.

11 April 2022

“My family attended our sensory session last
Wednesday. I just wanted to share how great this
was for my boys. I have twin 8yr olds with ASD who
love swimming, but it is really difficult to bring them
to do anything including lessons.”
Riley Reynolds and the Martin Whanau

Despite the COVID lockdown and many
schools withdrawing in December due to the
introduction of vaccine pass requirements,
nearly 2,000 primary school students from
eight schools participated in the Water Skills
for Life programme in 2021. The programme
establishes broad fundamental competencies
for life-long water safety. This programme is
partially funded by Water Safety NZ and the
Acorn Foundation while NZCT funding offsets
the cost of bus transportation.
“BaySwim offers the best [Water Skills for Life]
programme in the country by far!”
Phil Waggott, Water Safety NZ

Children from Arataki Primary taking part in the programme

OVER 4000
LEARN TO SWIM LESSONS

OVER 2000
WATER SAFETY LESSONS

NEARLY 1,500
FREE DISABILITY MEMBERSHIPS

1,500 FREE VOUCHERS
TCC LIBRARIES READING PROGRAMME

1,000+

On December 8, 2021 key representatives
gathered with the Ngāi Tūkairangi Hapu to
officially unveil He Pou Rarama, a culturally
significant contemporary Pou outside the Mount
Hot Pools.
He Pou Rarama translates to Reflection of the
Light and is an expression of local history, culture
and people manifested in a physical form,
signifying connection to the four traditional
sacred springs of Mauao, designed by local
artist Tiare Dickson and brought to life by Mark
& Abigail Wassung. A grant from Ministry for
Culture & Heritage subsidised the cost.

AQUA AEROBICS CLASSES
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Less visitors at our swimming pools in H1 has led to a revenue being down $457k against budget. However, direct expenses have
been well managed in response and savings of $105k helped offset the lost revenue.

PROFIT & LOSS
JUL -21 - DEC ‘21 (6 Months)

000’s

Aquatics

Actual

Budget

Prior Year

2,325

2,874

2,985

39

33

45

Revenue
User Fees
Other Income
TCC Operating Subsidy
Total Revenue

832

745

738

3,195

3,652

3,768

1,798

1,821

1,482

69

66

61

Direct Expenses
Employee Expense
Administrative Expense
Advertising and Marketing
Operating Expenses
Repairs & Maintenance
Total Direct Expenses
Shared Service
Allocations
EBITDA Profit/(Loss)

25

32

26

533

600

581

133

146

141

2,560

2,665

2,290

918

1,014

820

(283)

(27)

657
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2.2. Indoor Sports Facilities
After a good start to the year the lockdown and the loss of AIMS Games in September, hours of use dipped even further. Sporting
codes and centre-run programmes have continued within the limits imposed and with the introduction of vaccine passes,
community sport returned to relative normal. For H1, total hours of use were 23% down on the prior year and 13% down on
forecast.

Indoor Sports Facilities - hours of use
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The most spectacular recent event was the Kapa
Haka festival held at the QEYC in July. The event
Indoor Sports Facilities includes Trustpower Arena community usecomprised
only, QEYC,of
MtTe
Sports,
& Aquinas Schools) on
HakaMerivale
a Toi (Secondary
Friday and Tawharautia Mataatua (Ngahau groups) on
Saturday. This regional event is a key highlight on the
Maori calendar with 12 schools competing and large
numbers attending. In total over 5,000 performers
and spectators attended the event that was livestreamed and featured on television.

Pre-August Lockdown, two basketball tournaments were held at Trustpower Arena by Tauranga City Basketball and Sport BOP
(combined 1,200+ participants and spectators).
The inaugural Tauranga Netball Inter-Centre Premier Competition was also held at Trustpower Arena early August (600+
participants and spectators).
The cancellation of the AIMS Games had a significant impact with the Opening Ceremony, basketball, futsal and indoor bowls
normally held at Trustpower Baypark while QEYC hosts table tennis and badminton.
Some sporting events endeavoured to go ahead, with reduced numbers, including the Mid-North Zone Basketball Champs held
at Trustpower Arena in October. However, on the second day when the announcement was made that Waikato was moving into
Level 3, three Hamilton teams immediately left, and the tournament was called off.
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To support the growth of Pickle Ball, permanent floor markings have
recently been added to the Trustpower Arena courts and lines will soon
be added to the Mount Sports Centre.
Two long standing regular user
groups have wound up – the
Welcome Bay Indoor Bowls
Club who have been operating
for 65-years have gone into
recess and the Tauranga Classic
Leisure Marchers who have
been training at the QEYC for the last ten years have decided to retire
their club.

Over 7,000
TUMBLE TIME ATTENDEES

Over 1,900
FUNDED ACTIVE PLAY PARTICIPANTS
Tauranga City Basketball (TCB) hosted
their annual Midnight Madness event at
Trustpower Arena on December 18 with
over 250 people attending. The event
starts at 5pm and concluded at midnight
with lots of fun had by tamariki and
rangatahi. Bay Venues gives them the
court hire free of charge as a recognition
for their contribution throughout the year
to activate space.

Nearly 7,000
SPORTS LEAGUES VISITS
The Indoor Sports Facility financial result is in line with budget,
although lower user fees have been offset by an increase in the TCC
Operating Subsidy.

PROFIT & LOSS
JUL -21 - DEC ‘21 (6 Months)

000’s

Indoor Sports Facilities

Actual

Budget

Prior Year

393

470

534

7

12

0

1,021

1,038

1,085

1,021

1,038

1,085

277

279

265

13

9

8

4

6

8

95

89

82

Revenue
User Fees
Other Income
TCC Operating Subsidy
Total Revenue
Direct Expenses
Employee Expense
Administrative Expense
Advertising and Marketing
Operating Expenses
Repairs & Maintenance
Total Direct Expenses
Shared Service Allocations
EBITDA Profit/(Loss)

13

14

14

402

397

377

586

647

523

34

(6)

185
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2.3. Community Centres and Halls
Community Centres have been hard hit by COVID requirements.
Physical distancing rules made it difficult for many user groups to
operate safely. October utilisation was better than forecast due to a
Ministry of Justice booking at Pāpāmoa Sport & Recreation Centre. For
H1, total hours of use were 33% down on the prior year and 17% down on
forecast.

Community Centres - Hours of Use
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The Community Halls got off to a good start in July before lockdown impacted on users. Since then, vulnerable groups have been
more cautious about returning and gathering limits meant private functions were cancelled. For H1, total hours of use were 18%
down on budget and 19% down on the prior year.

Community Halls - Hours of Use
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There continues to be a diverse range of activity across the community halls and centres including dance, performing arts, music,
martial arts, exercise, church groups, wellness, table tennis, indoor bowls and training courses.
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Te Tuinga Whanau’s social enterprise arm,
Happy Puku, uses the Greerton Hall kitchen
four days a week, preparing meals to feed
under privileged members of society.
Other community meal providers are active
across the Bay Venues network including
Under the Stars, Kai Aroha and C3 Church.

Happy Puku team in action preparing over 100 meals for people in need.

There are currently five OSCAR programmes operating daily across all three community centres and two community halls (on
average 130+ children per day).
The Greerton Hall has become a popular venue to host roller-skating with six bookings occurring weekly and also hosted an
ethnic wedding in early November adhering to gathering limits. Fortnightly Craft Markets have continued utilising indoor and
outdoor areas of this facility.
Justice of the Peace clinics are hosted weekly at the Arataki Community Centre and Pāpāmoa Community Centre. The clinics are
popular drop-in sites for those requiring their services and we provide the facility free of charge.
The Papamoa football, rugby league and rugby clubs hosted a triple header sports function at the Pāpāmoa Sport & Recreation
Centre in July (400+ attendees). This is the first time all three clubs have worked collaboratively together to host an event at
Gordon Spratt Reserve.
A one-day Filipino event was held at Pāpāmoa Sport & Recreation Centre in July to celebrate and recognise local
accomplishments (350+ attendees).
For seven weeks, most of the Pāpāmoa Sport & Recreation Centre was turned into a courtroom to accommodate a Ministry of
Justice Environmental Hearing. The hearing involved 11 local hapu and with the strong connection the parties have to the area, it
was important that this hearing was held as close as possible to the area under consideration. Regular user groups were relocated
to nearby venues to minimise disruption.
The Community Centres and Halls financial result is in line with budget, although lower user fees have been offset by an
increase in the TCC Operating Subsidy.

PROFIT & LOSS
JUL -21 - DEC ‘21 (6 Months)

000’s

Community Centres & Halls

Actual

Budget

Prior Year

215

258

278

0

0

0

175

157

155

390

414

433

160

178

158

12

8

8

2

2

0

Operating Expenses

83

98

95

Repairs & Maintenance

20

18

19

277

305

280

109

121

98

4

(11)

56

Revenue
User Fees
Other Income
TCC Operating Subsidy
Total Revenue
Direct Expenses
Employee Expense
Administrative Expense
Advertising and Marketing

Total Direct Expenses
Shared Service Allocations
EBITDA Profit/(Loss)
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2.4. Events
Event activity is one of the major drivers of occupancy at Trustpower Arena and Trustpower Stadium. It provides revenue streams
from venue and equipment hire and the use of ancillary services such as AV production and catering. It also provides many
benefits to the wider community including economic benefits, social cohesion, and civic pride. The event industry has been
extremely hard hit by restrictions in response to the pandemic.
The pandemic and subsequent government response has seen all event activity put through a debilitating cycle of
postponements, rebooking and cancellations. It was hoped that the return to Alert Level 2 and subsequent move into the Covid
Protection Framework might restore confidence. However, the constantly shifting rules and uncertainty as to whether planned
activity can take place, and now the emergence of Omicron, has further impacted on the confidence of event organisers.
Overall, in excess of 50 events cancelled during H1 with a revenue value of around $600k to Bay Venues inclusive of venue
rental and associated services. Cancellations have continued into 2022 and no significant events are expected for the rest of
FY22.
Examples of impacted events include:
• The Bay Dreams festival was cancelled by the promoter in October. The main reason for this was their inability to achieve MIQ
positions for their overseas acts and/or the unwillingness of the acts to undertake MIQ.
• A concert featuring a major international artist scheduled for November 2021 has been rescheduled for late 2022 but is yet to
be announced by the promoter.
• Several smaller Arena based concerts have postponed or cancelled.
• The speedway season did not start as scheduled in October and the first speedway meeting of the season wasn’t held until 18
December 2021. Speedway NZ have cancelled their major championship events for this season. They have since trialled live
streaming of their events.
• The internationally renowned Nitro Circus show was postponed until November 2022.
• The annual Labour Weekend Hoop Nation Basketball tournament along with national bridge and weightlifting competitions
were called off.
• The regular Womens Lifestyle Expo, the Tauranga Home Show and the much-anticipated National Mustang Car convention (six
years in the planning) all had to be put off as did the Federation of Maori Authorities Conference.
Looking forward:
• While the DHB closed their Vaccination Centre at the Stadium in November they will continue to use some of the corporate
boxes as an administrative hub and car park areas for testing and “pop up” vaccinations centres.
• We have secured an international netball fixture involving the White Ferns v Australia.
• We have received confirmation that a new Tauranga based basketball franchise the ‘Stingrays’ has been accepted into the NZ
National Basketball League, commencing the Men’s league in 2024 and the Women’s competition later this year. Bay Venues
assisted this group with their bid, and it will result in ten matches being played at Trustpower Arena and another five at the
QEYC annually.
• We are working with local squash administrators, to host the World Teams Cup event followed by the NZ Open Championships
at Trustpower Arena over two weeks in November 2022. This will be followed by the World Men’s Championships in 2023 at
QEYC.
• The events team are working hard to reschedule events around existing future bookings.
Forward bookings are looking positive for the next financial year if events can
proceed.
While revenue from event hire is down this has been offset
by long term tenancies at Baypark including the
DHB vaccination and testing centres as well as
Envirowaste.
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PROFIT & LOSS
JUL -21 - DEC ‘21 (6 Months)

000’s

Baypark Events

Actual

Budget

Prior Year

Revenue
User Fees

788

767

689

Other Income

0

0

0

TCC Operating Subsidy

0

0

0

788

767

689

478

Total Revenue
Direct Expenses
Employee Expense

553

621

Administrative Expense

13

23

17

Advertising and Marketing

32

34

41

474

338

337

96

113

124

1,168

1,130

996

Operating Expenses
Repairs & Maintenance
Total Direct Expenses
Shared Service Allocations
EBITDA Profit/(Loss)

291

322

260

(671)

(685)

(567)

2.5. Associated Activities
Healthy School Kai
We have retained all Healthy School Lunches contracts for next year (except for Trident College in Whakatane). We have generated
new work due to increasing school rolls and new schools asking for aspects of our service, e.g. hot lunches to complement their
own offer.
The Healthy School Lunches team hosted Jan Tinetti, Associate Minister of Education, in November. She was briefed on the
programme and viewed the lunch kitchen in operation and was impressed by the work being done.

The University of Waikato Adams Centre
The NZ Rugby Sevens programme is to remain in the city for the next Olympic Games cycle. The Centre is being kept busy with
NZ Sevens teams not currently competing overseas.
Further interest in using training space at the facility has emerged and is expected to lead to a review of how the venue can meet
this demand. This has included discussions with organisations like the Waikato Bay of Plenty Magic.
The Adams Centre continues to provide high quality training opportunities for
aspiring young athletes and their annual Awards Prizegiving was held in
December.
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Catering/AV/Clubfit/BayStation
Bay Catering catered several events over the holiday period with speedway operating and the cricket test match at Bay Oval, while
Bay AV has been quiet due to event cancellations and postponements.
Clubfit was impacted slightly by the move to Covid Vaccine Passes being required but overall membership numbers have
remained stable.
BayStation experienced solid trading pre-Christmas despite several corporate and school bookings rescheduling their bookings to
2022.
The EBITDA decline has been driven by the Catering and Audio Visual business units being impacted by the lack of events in H1
due to Covid restrictions.

PROFIT & LOSS
JUL -21 - DEC ‘21 (6 Months)

Associated Activities

000’s

Actual

Budget

Prior Year

Revenue
User Fees

4,427

6,531

4,489

20

22

77

0

0

0

4,447

6,553

4,566

Cost of Goods Sold

1,162

1,844

851

Employee Expense

2,075

2,117

1,810

Administrative Expense

65

125

110

Advertising and Marketing

32

45

50

384

377

292

Other Income
TCC Operating Subsidy
Total Revenue
Direct Expenses

Operating Expenses
Repairs & Maintenance
Total Direct Expenses
Shared Service Allocations
EBITDA Profit/(Loss)

55

56

69

3,772

4,564

3,182

971

1,073

867

(296)

916

516

PROFIT & LOSS - Associated Activities
JUL -21 - DEC ‘21 (6 Months)

000’s

Associated Activities
Catering

A/Visual

BayStation

Clubfit

High Performance Centre

Merchandise

Total Assoc
Activities

Revenue
User Fees

2,452

328

225

998

271

153

4,427

Other Income

0

0

0

3

16

0

20

TCC Operating Subsidy

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,452

328

225

1,002

288

153

4,447

Total Revenue
Direct Expenses
Cost of Goods Sold

1,058

0

3

0

0

101

1,162

Employee Expense

1,050

241

103

551

122

6

2,075

31

17

3

11

2

0

65

4

2

8

12

6

0

32

121

102

17

66

77

1

384

Administrative Expense
Advertising and Marketing
Operating Expenses
Repairs & Maintenance
Total Direct Expenses
Shared Service Allocations
EBITDA Profit/(Loss)

17

12

0

7

17

0

55

2,281

374

135

647

226

109

3,772

491

70

48

215

62

33

971

(320)

(117)

42

140

0

11

(296)
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3. Management Update
New Board and New CEO
The new Bay Venues Board has come together well and is working constructively to ensure Bay Venues delivers on its role
as kaitiaki of Tauranga’s community facilities. The commencement in November of new CEO, Chad Hooker, provides further
leadership to the organisation. A primary focus of the Board and CEO has been on building strong relationships with TCC and
stakeholders with feedback to date being positive.
In November the new Board visited a selection of Bay Venues facilities to better understand the role of these facilities in the
community and the opportunities and challenges that exist in maximising community outcomes. The Board were impressed with
the quality of the staff that they met, and the range of activity hosted across the Bay Venues network.

Relationship Building
Bay Venues staff have been actively contributing to TCC workstreams including the Community Centres Strategic Plan, Blake Park
Master Plan and Gordon Spratt Reserve Master Plan. We are also represented on the Multi-Use Arena governance and working
groups and will be represented on TCC’s Civic Whare, Exhibition and Events Centre Steering Group - part of the Civic Amenities
Precinct planning.
Several Board members and many key staff members have attended TCC’s Cultural Connections course during H1. The feedback
from this has been overwhelmingly positive.
Bay Venues management are working with the TCC Community Development team to ensure that there is an ongoing focus on
ensuring diversity and inclusion across our network of facilities.
A joint team building event between TCC, Sport BOP and Bay Venues was hosted by Bay Venues at Trustpower Arena in July to
help build relationships between staff across those organisations.

Co-Naming & Branding
Bay Venues have implemented a co-branding approach across its network to recognise the financial contribution TCC makes
to the facilities. This involved adding the TCC logo to venue signage and facility websites. This has been done cost effectively
through adding to existing signage and will be included as part of any future facility signage renewals across the network.

Covid
The Covid pandemic continues to present significant challenges to the Events and Sport and Recreation sectors. As an
organisation that is focused on social connection, physical distancing and restrictions on gatherings and events have been
incredibly challenging.
The emergence of Omicron will further test the organisation with the impact upon both business continuity and customer
behaviour being uncertain.
In recent months several Bay Venues facilities have been identified as ‘Locations of Interest’ by the Ministry of Health. We expect
this to continue as case numbers increase through 2022.
We recently had our first staff member confirmed as testing positive for Covid and many others have had to isolate as close
contacts. This included 16 staff that worked at the Polo in the Bay event in January that was attended by a Covid positive attendee.
We expect further cases and close contacts among staff in the coming months and have contingency plans ready to ensure
business continuity. If we are unable to open facilities safely then contingency plans are in place to reduce service levels and, as a
last resort, close smaller facilities.
Due to changes in Covid restrictions the staff Christmas function that was originally scheduled for November and then postponed
to January has had to be cancelled.

Strategy
We are updating the strategy for Bay Venues and refreshing our Vision, Purpose and Values. Positive engagement with Council is
underway to define Bay Venues core community outcomes and key performance measures. These will be included in the Draft
Statement of Intent to be submitted in Q3. Community Outcomes are expected to focus on the range of activity within the venues
along with the number of people using the facilities.
With a large portfolio of busy and aging facilities we are working closely with TCC and other stakeholders to strategically assess
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the future of the network. A Venue Strategy will be developed considering the planning for strategic sites including the Tauranga
Domain (the proposed Multi Use Arena); Blake Park Master Plan; and, Memorial Park development plans that include a new
aquatics centre and redeveloped QEYC. As part of this a master planning exercise will be undertaken for Baypark to help guide
the future development of this strategic site. The Venue Strategy will dovetail the community engagement work that is currently
underway led by TCC and Sport BOP.
There is an incredible range of diverse activity that occurs across the Bay Venues network. Much of this goes on unknown
to the broader community and we want to share those stories more widely. We will start to regularly publish stories about
individuals and groups that use our facilities and showcase how this has enhanced their lives.

Risk Management
Bay Venues manages a significant number of risks, and an updated Risk Management Framework has been adopted. A risk review
will be conducted during Q3 to ensure that key risks have been identified and have appropriate controls in place.

Remuneration
The Living Wage was implemented for all areas of the organisation from 10 January 2022, which saw 88 staff across a range
of teams have their wage rate increased to $22.75. We also had a further 17 staff whose wage rate was increased to allow for
relativity.
Work has commenced on developing a Remuneration Strategy to ensure that we are offering a pay and benefits package that is
appropriate for the organisation as a public entity, while also ensuring we can attract and retain staff.

3.1. Health and Safety
Aside from our Covid response which has been the predominant Health and Safety topic over the last six months, the following
trends are of note:
• Staff Wellbeing – with more staff working from home we are ensuring regular check-ins with our people and that
communication is effective. Staff are coping very well with the changes, but this will remain an area of risk.
• Venue Security – we are experiencing varying degrees of security issues around the network which has heightened our focus
on security.
• Slips, trips and falls have trended up of late, this is normal over the school holiday period with more children active in our
aquatic venues, upgrades to our aquatic facilities over the next year will improve this issue.
• Following a series of fainting incidents at the Mount Hot Pools we initiated public address announcements reminding people to
stay hydrated and not stay in the hot pools for too long. This has seen these types of incidents reduce significantly.

Total events reported FY22 H1 (Jul – Dec 2021)
Bay Venues facility hazard or
work-related task

Event Type

Yes
All Events Reported

40 (24%)

Total

No
150 (76%)

191

Workers, Volunteers & Contract Workers
Total Events Reported

20

15

35

Incidents & Property Damage

8

7

15

Total Injuries

12

8

20

Serious Injuries

4

4

8

Minor Injuries

8

4

12

Total Events Reported

23

133

156

Incidents & Property Damage

11

79

90

Total Injuries

Customers or Other (non-customer member of public)

12

54

66

Serious Injuries

5

20

25

Minor Injuries

8

34

41
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Significant Events/Situations
• Information is provided on any notifiable events or any significant issues or concerns which arise due to a fault in the facility or
operations and any remedial action taken.
• There were no WorkSafe notifiable events in the 6 months to Dec 2021.
• Bay Venues had two incidents which were rated as high during this period. One was a concussion sustained on the Aqua Play
Station and one was staff who fractured her leg at a Bay Venues function. The two other incidents required medical attention
but were not significant injuries.
• For all preventable incidents actions were implemented to retrain staff, update a procedure or implement additional controls.

Continuous H&S Improvements
• We identified 15 new hazards and eliminated 37 hazards during this reporting period.
• We provided further situation Safety Training sessions for our staff in September 2021.
• Aquatics Facility audits continue on a weekly basis.
• 900 Facility Audits were conducted over this period.
• Two major projects have been commenced and are near completion; one is a complete review of our Risk Register and the
other on Hazardous Substances

3.2. Assets and Projects
• The Greerton Aquatic Centre will be closed from early February until early April 2022 to complete planned renewal work
in the main pool area plus construction of a reconfigured entrance and new changing rooms adjacent to the hydrotherapy
pool. Seismic strengthening of the gym floor and existing changing rooms will then follow later in the year.
• We have faced challenges with sub-contractor availability and rising costs that has resulted in a shortfall to budget. We have
identified other renewals items across the network that are non-urgent or can be put on hold to offset the additional cost.
• Fluctuating shower temperatures and upset customers continue to be an issue at Baywave. The cause is sub-standard
water pipes installed during construction. Attempts to fix this problem have been unsuccessful and planning is underway to
permanently rectify the issue with a complete replacement of the undersized pipes during the next scheduled pool closure
early in 2023.
• Also planned during the Baywave closure is the replacement of air-conditioning pipework above the gym and electrical plant
rooms that has started to fail, along with improved non-slip flooring and the replacement of several skylights.
• The Trustpower Arena sports floors were sanded back and re-varnished over the Christmas holiday period as part of our
building renewals programme.
• TCC has invited Bay Venues to join a Steering Group for the Memorial Park Pool and QEYC Redevelopment project.
Construction is expected to be 2-3 years away.

3.3. People, Performance and Culture
• Chad Hooker began as the new CEO of Bay Venues in November at which point Adam
Ellmers (who was Acting CEO), returned to his CFO position. We are recruiting for a
People and Performance Manager that is part of the Senior Leadership Team.
• Staff recruitment continues to be a challenge in a very constrained labour market.
• A staff survey completed late last year provided positive feedback, with the highest rating
areas being Health and Safety, Culture and Customer Focus.
• Key opportunities for improvement to focus on over the coming months include:
- Redefining our strategy and communicating this to staff
- Enhancing our project management capability
- Improving internal communication across the business

Chad Hooker

26 STAFF

5% STAFF TURNOVER

NZQA L4 APPRENTICESHIP

DUE TO VACCINE MANDATE
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3.4. Finance
Financial results for H1 of FY22 have been significantly impacted by the governments Covid restrictions, delivering an EBITDA loss
of $1.2m (a decline of $1.4m against budget) for the six months ended December 2021. These results are in line with the revised
forecast that was presented to Council in October 2021.
Baypark events and associated activities have been hit hardest over the past six months with a combined EBITDA decline of
$1.26m across Events, Catering and Audio Visual.
Despite the challenges of COVID, some business units have performed well with the following areas performing better than
budgeted:
• BaySwim – Volumes through our learn to swim classes have continued to build, this has provided challenges operating under
alert level restrictions and the team have adapted very well to new ways of working.
• Clubfit – Total memberships have remained stable despite the suspension of some memberships at times due to Covid.
• Overhead Cost Centres – Expenses have been well managed in H1 with all cost centres reporting better than budget results. We
have challenged our managers to reduce discretionary expenditure where possible in response to revenue declines.
The Consolidated Statement of Performance table is shown on the next page.

Outlook
Following the latest escalation to the ‘Red’ traffic light setting, we have re-forecasted our EBITDA result to -$3.61m for FY22, a
further decline of $1.56m. Most of this decline has again come through our events business as we have assumed that all significant
events (greater than 100 ppl) will be cancelled or postponed for the remainder of FY22. The combined EBITDA impact across
Events, Catering and Audio Visual is -$1.66m.
We have a renewed focus on cost management following the latest revenue projections. Cost reduction initiatives include
managing annual leave balances, holding any non-essential recruitment and investigating staff redeployment where possible,
reducing discretionary expenditure, and looking for new revenue generating opportunities. Incorporated in the latest forecast is
$340k in expense savings across our business support units.
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586
(6)

647

397

14

89

6

9

279

0

1,038

556

12

470

Budget

185

523

377

14

82

8

8

265

0

1,085

551

0

534

Prior Year

4

109

277

20

83

2

12

160

0

390

175

0

215

Actual

(11)

121

305

18

98

2

8

178

0

414

157

0

258

Budget

56

98

280

19

95

0

8

158

0

433

155

0

278

Prior Year

(671)

291

1,168

96

474

32

13

553

0

788

0

0

788

Actual

(685)

322

1,130

113

338

34

23

621

0

767

0

0

767

Budget

(567)

260

996

124

337

41

17

478

0

689

0

0

689

Prior Year

Baypark Events

(296)

971

3,772

55

384

32

65

2,075

1,162

4,447

0

20

4,427

Actual

916

1,073

4,564

56

377

45

125

2,117

1,844

6,553

0

22

6,531

Budget

516

867

3,182

69

292

50

110

1,810

851

4,566

0

77

4,489

Prior Year

Associated Activities

0

(2,875)

3,034

12

599

51

381

1,992

0

159

0

11

148

Actual

0

(3,176)

3,222

36

660

35

489

2,001

0

45

0

43

2

Budget

0

(2,569)

2,833

37

659

27

392

1,718

0

265

0

43

222

Prior Year

Business Support

2,788

(1,211)

0

11,213

329

2,168

147

553

6,854

1,162

10,002

1,628

77

8,297

Actual

3,645
(409)

Add back: Renewal
Funding

Net Surplus/(deficit)

1,397

4,156

0

67

2,881

188

0

12,281

383

2,162

153

721

7,017

1,844

12,469

1,458

109

10,902

Budget

(798)

958

161

(305)

2,746

847

0

9,959

403

2,046

152

597

5,909

851

10,806

1,443

165

9,197

Prior Year

Grand Total

4

657

820

402

13

95

4

13

277

0

1,021

621

7

393

Actual

Community Centres
and Halls

51

(27)

1,014

2,290

141

581

26

61

1,482

0

3,768

738

45

2,985

Prior Year

Indoor Sports
Facitilies

Other Expense

(283)

918

2,665

146

600

32

66

1,821

0

3,652

745

33

2,874

Budget

Aquatics

Debt Servicing costs

Depreciation

EBITDA Profit/ (Loss)

Shared Service
Allocations

2,560

133

Repairs &
Maintenance

Total Direct Expenses

533

25

Advertising and
Marketing

Operating Expenses

69

1,798

Employee Expense

Administrative
Expense

0

Cost of Goods Sold

Direct Expenses

3,195

832

Total Revenue

39

TCC Operating
Subsidy

2,325

Actual

Other Income

User Fees

Revenue

($000's)

Jul’21 - Dec’21
(6 months)

Consolidated Statement of Performance
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3.5. Sustainability
• We are working closely with TCC and Toitu and will be included as a TCC department for our Toitu membership. This will
ensure we continue to have good support from TCC while being able to use the reporting tools and software to record our
carbon emissions.
• We have commissioned an energy audit at Baywave to be completed in Q3. Through TCC, we have secured 40% funding from
Energy Efficiency & Conversation Authority on the condition that we implement energy savings.
• We have drafted a Bay Venues Sustainability Commitment and will use this to guide the development of a Bay Venues
Sustainability Plan.

3.6. Marketing
While actively promoting participation in a range of activity within our venues remains
a key role for our marketing team, the recent lockdowns and restricted access at some
alert/traffic light levels has required prompt communication. The use of in venue
signage and digital marketing have been critical channels for informing the community
of changes in how our venues operate safely.

OVER 180,000
WEB VISITORS

Website Transformation Project
• The 11 Bay Venues websites have been undergoing a transformation to make it easier
for customers to engage online, vastly improve the customer experience, and create
a platform to promote what’s taking place within our venues.

OVER 900,000
SOCIAL MEDIA REACH

• The first site to go live in October 2021, was the new Bay Venues website (www.
bayvenues.co.nz) as this was the oldest website. The new Bay Venues website is an
aggregation of all venues and activities within our network.
• Five websites are now live, with all remaining sites going live in Q3.

3.7. Technology
• In H1 we engaged a consultant to conduct an independent cyber security assessment. The results have identified areas
for improvement that we are working to resolve with a cyber security roadmap. Good progress has been made on these
workstreams and we will re-assess our readiness again in early FY23.
• We are about to go live with a new point of sale system across our Catering business. The new system will deliver significant
improvements over the previous systems.
• We are updating our technology roadmap to ensure the IT strategy aligns to the business needs over the next 3-5 years. There
is a strong desire to connect better digitally with our customers, which is driving many initiatives on the roadmap.
• We are assessing the technology platforms within the business as limited investment has left some aging legacy systems that
are not fit for purpose. Core operational systems are being upgraded to support and enhance the customer experience.
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HALF YEARLY
REPORT TO
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BOPLASS Chair’s Report

It is with pleasure the Directors present their 2021/2022 Half Yearly Report to Shareholders
demonstrating the considerable contribution the company makes to collaboration between councils.
With one change to the Board earlier this year, we farewelled and thanked Miriam Taris for her
contribution and welcomed John Holyoake as Director and Shareholder’s representative for the
Western Bay of Plenty District Council.
The hardening of the global insurance market continued in 2021 with insurers focussing on climate
change risks and the impact of this on councils’ risk profiles. BOPLASS has continued to build strong
relationships within the insurance markets and this again proved its value throughout the renewal
process, ensuring favourable terms and competitive rates were achieved. BOPLASS has continued to
take a proactive role in ensuring councils provide timely, relevant, and accurate data to support and
promote the collective group’s engagement with both local and international insurers.
2021 saw the awarding and management of several large aerial imagery and LiDAR contracts, with
the benefits not only covering the collective capture of imagery but also providing resource savings
through collaborating in the processing and storage of data for the region. Contributions from Land
Information NZ to the collective BOPLASS programme were received, which further contributed to
council savings.
In addition to the essential uses of the mapping data for internal and external council systems, this
GIS work also feeds into insurance data used in our submissions to insurers. The quality of this data
and mapping often sets our applications apart from less-informed organisations – resulting in
improved pricing and terms for BOPLASS councils.
The BOPLASS team have managed well through the continued challenges and changes of the
COVID-19 response frameworks and the Board acknowledges this commitment. Additionally,
BOPLASS facilitate a Health and Safety Managers’ Advisory Group which has proven to be an
essential conduit for the sharing of information as councils work through similar pandemic responses
and processes.
Each year the number of established procurement contracts BOPLASS manages on behalf of councils
grows, and with it, the importance to maintain competitive contracts to achieve best value for our
shareholding councils. BOPLASS has reviewed and renewed several contracts in the first six months
of this year and, where able, this has been undertaken in conjunction with the other LASS. In addition,
BOPLASS has successfully led the procurement of mail services for BOPLASS, MW LASS, Waikato
councils providing each group with substantial savings and an improved level of service. The Board
continues to support the development of inter-regional opportunities and collaboration.
Additional information about current projects is available in the attached report.
We thank staff from the participating councils and acknowledge the support we have received from
them.
Yours faithfully

Craig O’Connell
Chair
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BOPLASS Ltd
“COUNCILS PARTNERING FOR VALUE AND SERVICE”

HALF YEARLY REPORT
TO SHAREHOLDERS
1 5 F E B R U A RY 2 0 2 2

1 INTRODUCTION
The Local Government Act 2002 requires that the Directors deliver to the Shareholders a
report within two months of the end of the first six months of the financial year. The report is
required to provide information against the objectives set out in the Statement of Intent. The
following report records the objectives of the company and reports on performance against
a table of specific performance requirements set out in the Statement of Intent.

2 OBJECTIVES OF BOPLASS LTD
The company exists to provide councils in the Bay of Plenty and Gisborne regions with an
umbrella vehicle to investigate, procure, develop and deliver shared services.
Working together with the full support and involvement of staff, we will provide benefit to
councils and their stakeholders through improved levels of service, reduced costs, improved
efficiency and/or increased value through innovation.
These will be achieved primarily through:
JOINT PROCUREMENT
Being the procurement of services or products by two or more councils from an external
provider regardless of whether the service is paid for through BOPLASS or individually by
participating councils.
SHARED SERVICES
Being the participation of two or more councils in the provision of a common service which
may be jointly or severally hosted.

3 GOVERNANCE
In the year to date the governance structure has remained stable with no changes to the
Board of Directors or Shareholder Representatives.

BOPLASS Ltd
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4 NATURE AND SCOPE OF ACTIVITIES
The principle nature and scope of the activities of BOPLASS Ltd is to:
 Use joint procurement to add value to goods and services sourced for its constituent councils.
 Facilitate shared services that benefit councils and their stakeholders through improved levels
of service, reduced costs, improved efficiency, innovation and/or increased value.
 Pursue best practice in the management of all activities to obtain best value and minimise
risk.
 Demonstrate fiduciary responsibility by ensuring that its activities are adequately funded
from savings achieved, levies, council contributions, or Government funding where available.
 Allow other councils or organisations to participate in its activities where this will benefit its
constituent councils directly or indirectly.
 Represent the collective views of its shareholders in matters with which it is associated.

5 FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
BOPLASS Ltd will continue to work on business cases for joint procurement and shared services
that may be provided in the region or cross-regionally.
The Board has adjusted its strategy to ensure that BOPLASS is focused on continuing to deliver
savings and value to councils through new and existing joint procurement initiatives.
Current feasibility studies for joint procurement and shared services cover but are not limited
to:


















GIS;
ICT strategy and services;
Joint software support;
High speed fibre network services;
Digitalisation Services;
Accounts payable processing;
Collaboration Portal;
Archive services;
Health and safety;
IT datacentre/hosting;
Regional waste facilities strategy;
Diversion of putrescible waste from landfill;
Waste collections licensing and data;
Insurance valuations;
Robotic Process Automation;
Collective training services;
High-volume print.

BOPLASS Ltd
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Other collaborative opportunities may be progressed after the Board has considered
individual business cases and formally agreed to take on and deliver (or host/procure etc.)
the project.
Joint procurement opportunities will continue to be identified and developed with individual
councils engaging under the opt-in principle established by the Board. Joint procurement
initiatives will be considered by the Board and/or its advisory groups where there is
demonstrated support from two or more member councils.
The Board supports BOPLASS continuing to develop collaboration opportunities outside of the
regional boundaries. BOPLASS will continue to proactively explore opportunities to partner
with other Local Authorities and shared services organisations within New Zealand where they
are developing, or considering developing, cost effective shared services and products that
are of value to the Bay of Plenty and Gisborne councils.
BOPLASS development of the Collaboration Portal for the sharing of information on joint
procurement or shared services opportunities within the constituent councils identified a
number of duplicate projects across councils that present an opportunity for further
collaboration. The BOPLASS Collaboration Portal is now used by other LASS, councils and
local government organisations and provides an opportunity to assist with the identification
and management of inter-regional collaboration opportunities. BOPLASS will continue to
develop the Collaboration Portal and make it available to the wider local government
community.

6 PERFORMANCE TARGETS
To ensure the company continues to operate effectively in both governance and management
terms over the next three years the current SOI targets are to:


Ensure supplier agreements are proactively managed to maximise benefits for BOPLASS
councils.



Investigate new joint procurement initiatives for goods and services for BOPLASS councils.



Identify opportunities to collaborate with other LASS in Procurement or Shared Service
projects where alliance provides benefits to all parties.



Further develop and extend the Collaboration Portal for access to, and sharing of, project
information and opportunities from other councils and the greater Local Government
community to increase breadth of BOPLASS collaboration.



Communicate with each shareholding council at appropriate levels.



Ensure current funding model is appropriate.

The Board believes that all targets are being achieved or are on-track to be achieved, as is
demonstrated by the following list of current initiatives.
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7 CURRENT INITIATIVES
The following initiatives have been under consideration or operating during the first part of
the year:
HIGHLIGHTS


Contractor and Employee H&S Inductions – A project is underway to develop a common
platform and standard for the development and management of H&S inductions – for
both staff and contractor purposes. In addition to the financial savings, a common
platform would also provide an opportunity for the single development of modules that
could be used across multiple councils.



Inter-Council Network review and redesign – BOPLASS conducts ongoing reviews to
ensure the high-speed inter-council network is cost-effective and the quality of service is
maintained. In mid-2021, BOPLASS went out to tender for the ICN service. The tender
received significant interest with the resultant contract providing an improvement in
service levels and financial savings for all participating councils. The migration of services
to the new vendor has been initiated and is expected to be completed early 2022.



Geotechnical Engineering Panel – Currently the approval of geo-tech consultants is a
time-consuming exercise undertaken separately by each council. BOPLASS is investigating
opportunities for establishing a preapproved panel for accredited geotechnical
engineering consultants.



Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia (IPWEA) – BOPLASS negotiated a single
BOPLASS membership covering all councils at the same cost of a single large council,
providing substantial savings.



Cross-Regional Licencing of Waste Operators and Waste Data Collection – BOPLASS is
leading this project in conjunction with Waikato and Wellington councils. An ROI was
undertaken at the end of 2021 and received good responses from the market, with five
specialist organisations shortlisted. The ROI was considered an information gathering
stage, for both councils and suppliers and will ultimately inform the RFP to be undertaken
this year.



Insurance scorecards – Given the importance of international underwriters being
confident in the accuracy of data, schedules, loss modelling and valuations provided by
councils, BOPLASS developed council scorecards to help councils assess the quality of
their information and highlight any areas that could be improved. The scorecards have
assisted BOPLASS to identify where councils may require more training. With the help of
Aon, a series of online training modules is currently being developed to build on council
staff’s understanding of their role in the insurance renewal cycle and the importance of
accurate data.



Insurance renewals
Renewals were completed for all councils under the BOPLASS collective programme with
full cover achieved utilising a mix of NZ insurers and London markets. Throughout the
renewal process it became obvious that insurers are very focussed on increasing climate
change risks and the impact on councils’ risk profiles. Insurers continue to look very closely
at regions and areas susceptible to flood or sea inundation and now impose stricter
underwriting discipline when considering risks. BOPLASS has worked with our brokers to
ensure accurate and up to date asset schedules and hazard mapping are provided by
our councils to retain a competitive advantage with the underwriters. A very good
outcome has been achieved this year with minimal premium increases applied and
favourable terms able to be negotiated in all categories.

BOPLASS Ltd
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Insurance – Cyber Security – The global cyber market has become extremely challenging
with most insurers now very cautious about providing cyber cover due to the increasing
levels of claims in this category. Our insurers deemed some BOPLASS councils as having
inappropriate cyber security controls. BOPLASS engaged with each at-risk council to gain
clarity on their IT and cyber security roadmaps. The additional information provided by
BOPLASS allowed for the collective cover to be reinstated and the premiums reduced
overall.



Occupational Health Services – BOPLASS has recently extended the agreement with
Waikato Occupational Health Services for a further 12 months. Waikato LASS have
extended their agreement to align with BOPLASS so we can approach the market
collectively next year.



E-Plan Development – BOPLASS councils are required to move current operative plans to
an online environment by 2023. BOPLASS continues to review current providers to
explore collaborative options and opportunities to leverage a collective group rate.



Multi-function Devices (Photocopiers and Printers) – The collective agreement was due to
terminate at the end of 2021. Due to COVID lockdowns and subsequent working from
home policies, councils’ print volumes were much lower than forecast. Due to the low usage
of print equipment, BOPLASS negotiated a 12-month term extension to the existing
agreement with further discounts applied.



High Volume Print – Councils currently use a variety of solutions for their high-volume print
runs including utilising large print equipment, outsourcing to external suppliers, or a
mixture of both. BOPLASS is currently investigating alternative solutions with a focus on
minimisation of resource and cost reduction.



Postal & Courier Services – Procurement for councils’ mail service has been completed
and a preferred supplier appointed. The BOPLASS-led process covers BOPLASS,
WLASS, MWLASS and Hawke’s Bay councils. Savings for all councils will be substantial,
particularly for councils with high volumes of urban mail. The second phase of this project
will involve appointment of a courier services provider in 2022.



GIS Regional Technical Support – The majority of core GIS software used within councils
is now procured through collective BOPLASS agreements. However, there were a variety
of support models in place with most support being provided on an ad-hoc basis.
BOPLASS has established a discounted enterprise support agreement now covering all
councils. As well as financial savings, the support model provides for sharing of
information and learnings across the GIS teams to reduce any duplication of effort.



Aerial Imagery – Tenders have now been awarded for aerial imagery services covering
both the Eastern Bay regions and Gisborne’s urban/rural areas. Both tenders contribute
to the greater BOPLASS regional imagery programme and are being flown during the
2021-22 summer with updated imagery available mid-2022.



BOPLASS LiDAR – LiDAR capture is being undertaken under a separate contract to the
aerial imagery but during an overlapping period. This contract is being managed by
BOPLASS and completed with central government co-funding in conjunction with Land
Information NZ.



Video Conference Services – BOPLASS has continued to develop Zoom and meeting room
video conference services across the councils. While these services proved invaluable
during lockdown, there has been continued growth and usage. Further work is being
undertaken to ensure participating councils continue to have a reliable and secure service.



GIS Software and Services – A number of key contracts for councils’ geospatial software
have been reviewed and renewed through collective BOPLASS agreements.
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Driver Training – BOPLASS continues to investigate options for appointing a preferred
provider for driver training services.



Media Monitoring Service – BOPLASS continues to manage a collective media monitoring
service with Isentia that automatically monitors and reports on broadcast, print and social
media based upon council requirements. The single BOPLASS portal provides substantial
savings to councils while also providing a significant reduction in internal resource
requirements. The contract will be put out for tender in mid-2022.



Print Media Copyright Agency (PMCA) – A collective contract providing savings for all
BOPLASS councils has been renewed with PMCA for councils’ print and media copyright
services.



Health and Safety Advisory Group – The BOPLASS and Waikato Health and Safety
groups continue to collectively develop policies and protocols, significantly reducing the
resources required by individual councils and helping ensure common standards and best
practice are established across the greater region. This has been particularly beneficial
for councils in the development of H&S pandemic responses.



MahiTahi Collaboration Portal – The Collaboration Portal continues to encourage
collaboration between New Zealand local government organisations. Membership has
grown further with a mixture of councils and council groups across the country joining. In
particular, the regional council national alliance group, MWLASS and Waikato LASS are
actively utilising the service with several new projects added.



Website Quality Assurance – BOPLASS was requested to identify opportunities for a
collective agreement for website quality assurance. As council websites are often the first
point of contact for many in the community, regular content assurance is only going to
become more important. Several BOPLASS councils are now benefitting from the service
and the discounted collective agreement.



Inter-LASS collaboration – A number of procurement projects are underway covering
multiple LASS and benefitting from the increased volumes. Collaboration across the
regions is driving greater efficiencies within projects under consideration by more than
one LASS and allows the projects to be better resourced.



Communication – BOPLASS continues to regularly engage with our constituent councils,
senior management and shareholders to ensure opportunities continue to be developed
to the benefit of all stakeholders.



Viability of Current Funding Model – The sources of BOPLASS funding and the viability
of the funding model are regularly reviewed with financial reporting provided to the
BOPLASS Board.

8 FINANCIAL REPORTS
8.1 Financial Support and Accounting Services
Accountancy services and support continue to be provided by Tauranga City Council.
8.2 Accounting Policies
The company is compliant with the accounting policies stated in the Statement of Intent.
8.3 Tier 2 PBE Accounting Standards Applied
The financial accounts are prepared with application of Tier 2 accounting standards.
8.4 Financial Reports
Financial Reports for the period to 31 December 2021 are attached.
BOPLASS Ltd
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8.5 Variations
Included are the service-related payments for services accessed by councils.
The organisation is operating within budget and has achieved a reasonable revenue
stream for the first half of the year.
Aerial photography revenue and expenditure are higher than budgeted due to delays
in the initial flying of LiDAR capture in 2020, with the work being moved forward to
2021. Significant progress has been made with the capture and processing of the data
this year.
December salaries include an accrual for the last 12 days of December for salaries and
PAYE ($15,875 total) which would normally be included in the January Accounts as this
is when they are physically paid. There is also an accrual for the total leave owing at
31 December. The total accruals of $26,477 are reversed in January 2022.
Variances with ICN lease revenue and expenditure are due to the transition to a new
fibre provider and the requirement to run some services in parallel during the transition.

9 STAFFING, ACCOMMODATION AND SUPPORT
Staff
Staffing levels are unchanged with a part-time administrator continuing to provide additional
project support and management of existing activities.
Accommodation and Support
We continue to appreciate the office space provided at Tauranga City Council and the
support that is offered for IT and Accounting services. Although there is a monthly fee there
is still a contribution in kind.
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BOP LASS LTD
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE MONTH ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
Actual YTD

Budget YTD

Total Budget

YTD Variance

REVENUE
Revenue - Core
Bank Interest Received
Council Contribution

153,211
141
153,070

153,172
102
153,070

306,339
200
306,139

39
39
(0)

Revenue - Projects
Bank Interest Received
Aerial Photography Income
Collaboration Portal
Lease Income - ICN
Lease Income - Video Confer.
Recoveries
Rebates

993,286
1,378
330,099
20,400
91,276
29,241
520,150
742

857,000
3,000
200,000
30,000
67,500
15,250
540,000
1,250

1,199,000
6,000
300,000
45,000
135,000
30,500
680,000
2,500

136,286
(1,622)
130,099
(9,600)
23,776
13,991
(19,850)
(508)

1,146,497

1,010,172

1,505,339

136,325

199,113
562
1,023
7,799
1,569
0
131
0
540
9,000
1,937
1,717
0

196,948
800
1,000
8,650
2,498
20,700
176
1,000
326
10,500
1,750
998
502

374,950
800
2,000
17,300
5,000
20,700
200
2,000
650
21,000
3,500
2,000
1,000

2,165
(238)
23
(851)
(929)
(20,700)
(45)
(1,000)
214
(1,500)
187
719
(502)

9,860

9,000

9,500

860

Legal
Salaries
Salaries – Projects Opex
Staff Support Costs
Staff Training Costs
Subscriptions
Tax Advice
Tax Expense – Prior Years

0
0
153,409
(2,452)
8,894
474
0
4,650
0

500
2,000
129,000
(8,250)
8,498
1,000
1,000
5,300
0

500
2,000
278,000
(16,500)
17,000
2,000
1,000
5,300
0

(500)
(2,000)
24,409
5,798
396
(526)
(1,000)
(650)
0

Expenditure – Projects
Aerial Photography Expense
Collaboration Portal Opex
Lease Expense - ICN
Lease Expense – Video Confer.
Projects - Recoveries

949,792
330,099
9,605
88,189
28,252
493,647

818,253
200,000
16,117
64,800
14,336
523,000

1,130,389
300,000
26,119
129,600
28,670
646,000

131,539
130,099
(6,512)
23,389
13,916
(29,353)

1,148,905

1,015,201

1,505,339

133,704

(2,408)

(5,029)

0

2,621

Total Operating Revenue
EXPENSES
Expenditure - Core
ACC
Accommodation & Travel
Administration
Amortisation
Audit Fees
Bank Fees
Conferences
Depreciation
Directors Costs
Fringe Benefit Tax
General & Catering Expenses
Health & Safety
Insurance
Interest Paid – TCC Loan

Total Operating Expenditure
Operational Surplus / (Deficit)
before Tax
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BOP LASS LTD
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021
Actual YTD
Current Assets
Cheque Account
Trust A/c Aerial Photography
Term Deposit 182 days @ 1.20%. Maturing 11 April 2022
Term Deposit 185 days @ 1.15% Maturing 10 February 2022
Term Deposit 182 days @ 1.15% Maturing 07 March 2022
Trade Debtors
Accrued Revenue
Tax Payable (Tax Receivable)
Prepayments

Total Current Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible - Computer Software
Amortisation
Computer Equip at cost
Computer Equip depreciation
Office equip at cost
Office equip depreciation
Total Non-current assets

396,179
103,125
300,000
250,000
250,000
127,431
170,475
12,127
19,158
329,191

79,175
(68,266)
4,516
(3,175)
0
0
12,251

TOTAL ASSETS

1,640,746

Current Liabilities
Business Credit Card
Trade Creditors
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Salaries and Wages
Accrued Leave Entitlements
GST Collected, Paid, Payments (Refunds)
Retentions
Income in Advance
PAYE Accruals Payable
TCC Loan
Total Current Liabilities

207
287,996
17,845
12,410
10,602
(37,704)
37,374
1,256,828
11,770
0
1,597,329

TOTAL LIABILITIES

1,597,329

NET ASSETS
Equity
Current Year Earnings
Retained Earnings
Share capital
TOTAL EQUITY
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Tauranga Art Gallery Trust
Six Month Report
1 July – 31 December 2021
Non-Financial and Financial

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Tauranga Art Gallery Trust
Trustees Commentary
Tauranga Art Gallery entered the 2021-22 financial year in good spirits, with a suite of new trustees on
board and buoyed by strong community support, as expressed through the substantial community
response to our LTP submission.
We began the year in changeover, with a large portion of July devoted to preparations to mount our
Signature Event for the 2021-22 calendar year. This ambitious exhibition Mānawatia Takatāpui—
Defending Plurality was developed with Shannon Novak, an artist and activist in the rainbow
community. Staged across two levels of Tauranga Art Gallery and five offsite venues, the exhibition
included largescale commissions by Novak and 17 additional contributors from the LGBTQI+ community.
The reach of the exhibition was impressive, with additional high exposure sites activated across
Tauranga Moana. Even when the three-week COVID lockdown interrupted the final weeks of the
exhibition, causing us to fall slightly short of our target of 8,500 Gallery visitors, the addition of these
offsite spaces meant the exhibition cumulatively reached an estimated 53,858 visitors (see breakdown,
pg.8).
Despite all odds, the Gallery also successfully launched a new suite of exhibitions in November and
December, including a major sculpture commission by Tauranga artist Darcell Apelu, a feature visual arts
project designed to align with the cancelled Tauranga Arts Festival. The monumental sculpture,
fabricated anew from the ground up, was executed with exacting precision and professionalism, despite
numerous disruptions to planning, production schedules and logistics. The sculpture opened alongside a
hard-hitting line-up of contemporary exhibitions approaching a range of urgent social, historical, and
environmental topics, demonstrating the continued relevance and resilience of the visual arts.
For the six-month reporting period (1 July – 31 Dec 2021) the Gallery delivered 8 exhibitions, towards
our 2021-2022 financial year target of 12. Of these 8, 2 exhibitions opened near the close of the 20202021 financial year, with most of the run and associated activities of these shows carrying into this
financial year.
In addition to these Gallery-based exhibitions, our virtual reality exhibition Terminus continues to tour
Aotearoa. Jess Johnston’s and Simon Ward’s major exhibition was a feature exhibition for the reopening
of the newly refurbished Whangarei Art Museum (17 December 2021), which now sits alongside the
Hundertwasser Art Centre and Wairau Māori Art Gallery as part of a major new arts precinct. Its next
venue is confirmed for Hastings Art Gallery later this year (23 April – 23 October 2022).
Despite these programme highlights, the ongoing disruptions of COVID have expectedly resulted in a
highly challenging and disruptive period for the Gallery. Impacts have been felt across all aspects of our
organisation, including our bottom line. Significant intervention was required for us to record a small
surplus at the end of Q2, through proactively reducing expenditure in the face of unstable revenue
streams caused by disrupted visitation.
We enter the second half of the financial year in anew period of uncertainty. The steeply rising Omicron
variant in our communities has required the Gallery to change tack. We have reduced our programming
aims in order to provide respite in several key areas; including fundraising targets in an uncertain
TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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stakeholder environment, rising logistics and production costs, and our need to prioritise the health of
staff, visitors, and supporters.
The Gallery staff are to be commended for continually and promptly responding to the transitory
COVID-environment thus far, including substantial planning undertaken to transition the Gallery to a
CVC venue in late 2021. We continue as a Board to proactively provide governance support, as staff
adapt continuity plans and work to minimise disruption to our programmes amidst the steeply rising
case numbers of the Omicron variant.
Excluding offsite initiatives and associated programmes, the Gallery finishes Q2 at 15,010 visitors, 75%
of our half-year target and 38% of our year-end target of 40,000 visitors. Curiously, this running total
tracks very closely with our reduced 2020-2021 annual visitation target of 30,000 visitors, perhaps
indicating that despite exceeding this target significantly in the previous financial year, our earlier
forecasted disruptions have come into greater effect in the 2021-2022 financial year. Visitation
continues to be low in early 2022, casting significant doubt on our ability to achieve our visitation target
by June 30 due to circumstances out of our control.
Key factors at play for our reduced visitation are all COVID-19 related and will come as no surprise:
•
•
•
•
•

A period of closure of the Gallery under Level 4 and 3 (18 August – 9 September)
A general lull in inner city visitation, due to lack of confidence/ hesitation in returning to the
CBD and interrupted local tourism (Auckland/ international)
The cancellation of aligned inner city events: including Tauranga Art Festival, impacting
forecasted visitation from aligned Gallery programming
Reduced capacity to host events and the regular cancellation for opening events and venue
hires
Cancellations of school groups

Each of these factors impact our organisation on multiple fronts and we continue to respond to these
transitory circumstances as readily as possible.
We are pleased to have welcomed experienced curator and writer Dr Zara Stanhope to the Trust. Dr
Stanhope brings over 20 years’ experience of working in the art world to the role and is currently
Director of the Govett Brewster Art Gallery | Len Lye Centre. Q1 and 2 has also seen several changes to
staffing, including three new appointments: Amaria Kee-Huaki as Registrar, Megan Cleverley as Business
Development Manager, and Leiona Tupou as Front of House Coordinator. Following the departure of
our Exhibitions Manager, we also revised the scope of this role to add curatorial support to the Director.
We’re excited to have recently appointed an experienced Melbourne-based New Zealand curator to the
role, who will be announced shortly.
The Trust greatly appreciates the continued support from its various funders, sponsors, supporters and
of course, our artists.

Rosemary Protheroe, Chair
and the Tauranga Art Gallery Trustees
TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Key Activities
Exhibitions
1 July – 31 December 2021

•

Gabby O’Connor: The Unseen 22 May - 25 October

•

Tawhai Rickard: The Misadventures of Te Kuri, 22 May - 25 October

•

Mānawatia Takatāpui—Defending Plurality, Shannon Novak, with works and contributions by
Phylesha Brown Acton, Paul Darragh, Russ Flatt, Alicia Frankovich, Areez Katki, Tanu Gago, Brent
Harris, Kaan Hiini, Jžoe, Shaneel Lal, Shannon Novak, Eliana Rubashkyn, Arpége Taratoa, Telly
Tuita, Aliyah Winter, Hariata Wilson, Colleen White, Cao Xun. 23 July - 7 November

•

In the Wake: Rena 10 Years On, Reuben Friend, Alex Monteith, Rachael Rakena, Clinton Watkins,
Kelcy Taratoa, Allan Sekula and Nöel Burch 6 November 2021 – 4 April 2022

•

Darcell Apelu: A Death of Prosperity 27 November 2021 – 17 April 2022

•

The Moral Drift: Fraser Crichton, Lachlan Kermode, Malcolm Richards, 23 October 2021 - 23
January 2022

•

Bruce Connew: A Vocabulary, 23 October 2021 - 23 January 2022

•

NCEA Level 1&2 Folio Exhibition 2021-2022, 16 December 2021 - 16 January 2022

1 January – 30 June 2022
Ground Level
Gallery 1/ The Vault
•

Tauranga Art Gallery Collection show, developed in collaboration with the Tauranga Art Gallery
Education team, opening April 11

Atrium
•

New Commission: Andrew Beck, 6 May– late November 2022

Level 1
Window Gallery/ Long Gallery

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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•

The Miles Art Awards 2022, 4 Feb - 15 May 2022 (current)

•

Inside-out: New approaches to photography (working title), opening 28 May
A focused exhibition of select contemporary artists pushing the limits of photographic practice,
designed to complement Andrew Beck’s installation

Cube
Focus: Tauranga emerging artist series
•

Rolph Hediger: For Theirs is the Kingdom of Heaven, 4 February – 4 June 2022 (current), recent
Toi Ohomai graduate (current)

•

Anitarewa Robertson, (recent Toi Ohomai graduate), opening mid-June 2022

Project spaces/ commissions (longer term projects)
•

Mānawatia Takatāpui / Defending Plurality, projects (current)
Lift: Eliana Rubashkyn and Shannon Novak, Indivisibilidad/ Indivisibility, 2021, vinyl (pride flag
installation/ text, ongoing)
Wharf St Mural: Kaan Hiini, He Takatāpui Ahau, 2021 Inkjet print on vinyl (concluding 5 June)

•

Sara Hughes Commission, in partnership with TCC and Supercut Projects, opening 21 June
Wharf Street/ Willow Street exterior glass awning/ bus stop shelter

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Exhibition Highlights, 1 July – 31 December 2021

•
Mānawatia Takatāpui—Defending Plurality, 23 July - 7 November was our Signature Show for this
period and as well as encompassing both levels of the Gallery and spilling onto the foyer and front
entrance, it extended into the community with satellite artworks at The Incubator Creative Hub,
Baycourt, Bayfair, and The Kollective. The exhibition received widespread coverage, including focused
articles and interviews in Art News New Zealand, RNZ, Our Place (Cover/ feature article), Here, and
Drain magazines.
The exhibition has been thoroughly documented online, providing a lasting resource for future
researchers organizing exhibitions within the LGBTQI+ community.

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Joining with others
Visitation for Mānawatia Takatāpui—Defending Plurality offsite venues*, 23 July - 7 November

The Incubator The
Creative Hub Kollective

25,000 14,000
Conservative estimate from
266K annual visitors to the Historic
Village (outside)

*

Baycourt

Bayfair

7,358

7,500

Ticketed entries

Conservative estimate based on
150K+ annual visitation to Shopping
Centre

Total

53,858

Based on direct feedback from venues and an estimate based of general visitation and marketing statistics, excluding the lockdown period (18 August-8 September)

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Darcell Apelu’s exhibition A Death of Prosperity alongside The Moral Drift and A Vocabulary were
feature projects of the visual art offering of the 2021 Tauranga Arts Festival. Unfortunately, due to
COVID, all live events for the Festival itself were cancelled, with associated visual arts programmes being
the only projects realized. This meant the Gallery lost the high level of visitation expected from our
learnings from previous Festivals
Co-commissioned by Tauranga Art Gallery and Supercut Projects, Apelu’s 5-metre-tall sculpture is
conceived as both a functioning fountain and a satirical monument to colonisation, inviting us to
reconsider our perceptions of security, value and kaitiakitanga (guardianship). First presented in 2020 by
Te Tuhi (Auckland), this substantially upscaled iteration of A Death of Prosperity joins a series of visual
arts projects around the city centre which can explored with the free-to-download CITY ART WALK app.

Education Programme, 1 July 2021 and 31 December 2021
Education programmes offered over this time, in chronological order, were: Gabby O’Connor: The
Unseen, Laurie Steer: The Abundance of Water, Shannon Novak: Embracing Diversity, Sculpture for
Celebration. As a proactive means of providing programmes during a period of uncertainty and
disruption to exhibition schedules, for the first time we trailed and developed stand-alone education
programmes for onsite visits (Sculpture for Celebration) for Term 4. This allowed the education team the
benefit of running onsite and workshop-based learning opportunities without direct links to disrupted
schedules for temporary exhibitions.
The most popular education programme over this period was Gabby O’Connor: The Unseen, with 76
school group visits and 1,594 learners. All our education programmes are connected to a variety of
curriculum areas, including Art, English, Languages, Technology, Science and Social Sciences.
COVID-19 continued to affect the number of school/kura visits and education programmes. This is
reflected in the lower visitation numbers and number of cancellations between 1 July 2021 and 31
December 2021. 3,179 learners participated in our Tauranga Art Gallery education programmes during
this 6-month period an impressive result given the continued COVID-19 restrictions of 2021. In addition,
669 adults accompanied these school/kura visits. It is important to note that we had approx. 1895 fewer
learners due to COVID-19 school cancellations.
TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Between 1 July 2021 and 31 December 2021, the Gallery hosted 147 school classes. 25 schools out of 27
travelled via the ArtBus to participate in our education programmes. Our education team are continually
looking for new opportunities in response to the ever-changing COVID-19 climate. Outreach is an
initiative we are developing (and trialled during the 6-month period) as an option for schools and kura
as of Term 1, 2022. This is due to the uncertainty around the pandemic and its effect on schools/kura
being able to continue with Experiences Outside of the Classroom (EOTC) trips.

Outreach programmes, enabled through an increase to our TCC funding this calendar year, have begun,
providing practical art learning experiences with direct links to past and current exhibitions at the
Gallery. The initial focus of these workshops are students in Years 0 to 8, and explore fundamental artmaking skills, materials, and techniques in the elemental areas of drawing, painting, printmaking, and
sculpture. Adapting to shifts in the national curriculum, these learning experiences are making
connections to different learning areas alongside the arts. Outreach has proven to be a very popular
option for schools with an overwhelmingly positive response to this initiative from our community.
In response to the August 2021 lockdown, our education team developed our online TAG Father’s Day
Portrait Competition for Children. All tamariki between 4 – 14 years of age were invited to create a
portrait of their dad/pāpā or someone else special in their life. Digital images of the artwork were
submitted online. The competition proved a great success with over 200submissions received by
tamariki. Online link HERE.

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Education Highlights
Stats during 1 July – 31 December 2021

7

4

4,638

Exhibitions

Outreach visits to
4 different schools

out of 12 programmed
for the year

Attending in-gallery education
programmes participants and
helpers including teachers

96 learners and
4 adult supporters

156

149

3,179
EOTC students

Participants

Participants

July Holiday Programme

October Holiday
Programme

12 classes, 131 supporters

15 classes, 108 supporters
Reduced due to COVID

56

200

Participants at 5 x TAG Art Studio

Submissions to Father’s Day competition

sessions for children, 30 adult
supporters

4

361

Outreach visits to 4 different schools

Participants through our TAG Art Studio, with 269
adult supporters ECE groups

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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TAG Art Studio for Children
Festive Wreaths December Holiday Programme was cancelled due to COVID-19
In place of the December Holiday Programme we created Festive Wreath art kits which were
available for sale in TAG’s retail area. This kit contained the materials, lesson plan and resources
needed for families to make their own festive wreaths at home.
• 5 x TAG Art Studio for Children (1x Wild Wall Sculpture, 1x Ocean Prints, 1x Sculptural Stories, 1x
Magnificent Masks & 1x Pop Letters with reduced workshop numbers due to COVID-19 restrictions):
totalling 56 participants & 30 adult supporters.
• Online Father’s Day Portrait Competition for Children: over 200 submissions

•
•

Total of the above: 361 participants & 269 adult supporters
TAG Art Studio for Adults
No TAG Art Studios for Adults (1x adult workshop cancelled due to COVID-19)
TAG Art Studio for Families (1 adult & 1 child)
2x TAG Art Studios for Families (Gabby O’Connor): totalling 52 participants
Drop-In Sessions
No Drop-In Sessions (1x cancelled due to COVID-19)
COVID Cancellations
Approx. 1895 fewer EOTC learners due to COVID-19 cancellations
Approx. 50 fewer TAG Art Studio for Children participants due to COVID-19 cancellations
1x Drop-In Session cancelled
1x TAG Art Studio for Adults cancelled
TAG’s annual NCEA Visual Arts Folio Exhibition for 2021 was well received by secondary schools with 10
local schools and kura taking part in the Level 1 (Year 11) and Level 2 (Year 12) show. This is the highest
number of schools and kura that have participated in this popular exhibition since its inception,
contributing a total of 48 student folio boards. While numbers attending the opening event in December
needed to be reduced due to COVID-19 restrictions we still were able to host a total of 51ākonga,
teachers and whānau.
TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Looking ahead – Q3 & Q4, 1 January – 20 June 2022
Tauranga Art Gallery enters the second half of the ‘21–‘22 financial year in a stable financial position,
having made the necessary cost reductions to offset our reduced income. However, the aforementioned
disruptions continue to impact our organisation on multiple fronts.
The Gallery is reducing the number of exhibitions for Q3 & Q4, allowing us to ease pressure on multiple
fronts – to enable more efficient workflow and greater flexibility for staff to structure their work and
manage their responsibilities remotely and to provide time for further forward planning in the
programming due to new logistics and supply line challenges.
We therefore anticipate that lower gallery visitation will result in losses to revenue from retail,
education programmes, admission donations and corporate/ private events.
However, the Gallery has demonstrated resilience and adaptability, which means we can feel confident
that we will find lateral solutions to engage our audiences and tackle these unprecedented challenges.
Diversifying our education and exhibition offerings will enable greater continuity and options for
delivering programmes should the Gallery need to be closed for a period due to staff and or their
families contracting the COVID.

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Performance Framework Non-financial
Exhibitions and Education
He Tauranga Auaha
To be an anchorage of
innovation and creativity
TAG is a destination for both city
visitors and residents, providing
the opportunity for all to learn
about and experience art.

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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TAG Strategic Objective
*As a result of COVID-19 the number of visitors
taking part in TAG art programmes were less
than previous years. With the borders remaining
closed until 2021/2022, visitation targets are
accordingly conservative.

Performance Target
Total gallery visitation is not less than 40,000 in the financial
year 2021/2022, with a slow build up over the following two
years anticipated to restore pre-COVID-19 visitation of
60,000+.

Status

Develop an SROI (Social Return on Investment) assessment
and strategy, to better calculate our economic impact and
strategically raise our ROI.
Achieve a high level of customer satisfaction.

Atleastan80%‘highlysatisfied’/positive visitor responding.

Diverse audiences attend exhibitions.

Ethnicity of visitors is captured in our visitor survey forms.
Increased efforts made to reach a broad demographic in
our communication channels.

Stage an annual signature exhibition/event,
attracting visitors to the Gallery and the city
centre.

Present at least one signature exhibition/event annually, with
that event attracting not less than 8,500visitors (including
online engagement).

Extend TAG’s national reputation as an art
destination.

Investigate options for a regular national event attracting
visitors to the city.
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Cont.
Exhibitions and Education
TAG Strategic Objective

Performance Target

Maintain good working relationships with TCC
staff and elected members, observing the ‘no
surprises’ principle.

Regular meetings with TCC & elected members as mutually
agreed.

Status

Work collaboratively with TCC and other CCOs on the
development of a new CCO draft Statement of Intent template.
Work collaboratively with TCC Events team and
TCC city-wide events strategy.

Participate in TCC’s strategic process for a city-wide events
strategy.

TAG offers a wide range of exhibitions and art
experiences that are inclusive and to engage with
diverse audiences.

Deliver not lessthan12exhibitionsand other art experiences
(including online projects) that cover contemporary and
historical content and feature a range of cultural perspectives.

TAG delivers an active education programme to
school groups

Not less than 7,500 students attend our education programme
annually.

TAG education programme reaches diverse
communities, especially through the provision
of an ArtBus for school groups.

Not less than 30 schools and/or not less than 160 school classes
participate in our programmes.
Funding is raised to support the ArtBus.

Continue to identify and expand reach of programmes to
schools that for a variety of reasons struggle to attend our
exhibitions, including initiating offsite outreach programmes.

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Deliver 12 offsite education outreach visits in the first year
(2021-2022).
Ethnicity of students is recorded on teacher evaluation
forms.

Stakeholder Engagement
He Tauranga Matarau
To be an anchorage for diversity
TAG is inclusive and promotes
partnerships with tangata
whenua, values culture and
diversity and where people of all
ages and backgrounds are
included, feel safe, connected
and healthy.

TAG Strategic Objective
Investigate new ways to provide art
experiences within the city through
partnerships with key stakeholders.

Performance Target
Deliver not less than one off-site exhibition in collaboration
with another community group.

Collaborate with other organisations to create
and promote art opportunities in Tauranga.

Partner with not less than one other organisation per
calendar year to develop and promote an event or education
programme.

Through the use of technology and digital
platforms, provide alternative art experiences
in order to grow audiences and enable greater
access to the visual arts.

Develop an annual marketing plan and social media strategy
which includes artist-generated content.

Status

Deliver at least one exhibition per calendar year which is
focused towards online experiences and new media.
Visitation to the TAG website and social media engagement
increases annually. Report trends in digital engagement to
TCC in our reporting.

Increase use of te reo Māori through our Māori
Engagement Strategy.

Increase presence of te reo through TAG website, social media
posts, printed material, and exhibition texts.
Partner with TCC to offer increased opportunities for staff to
learn te reo.

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Financial Governance & Management
He Tauranga Whaihua
To be anchored in economic
sustainability
TAGT will pursue opportunities to
secure funding and manage all
funds with prudence and care
with a commitment towards
being financially sustainable.

TAG Strategic Objective

Performance Target

Gross revenue target achieved and forecasted
expenditure is contained within the approved
budget.

Budget is met.

Financial management is supported by
appropriate systems and controls.

External accountant performs monthly checks on financial
processes.

Status

Compliance with TAGT Audit Committee Policy, Audit NZ
requirements and approved general accounting practices.
Prudent management and accountability
exercised by TAGT to determine the appropriate
fiscal actions and cost-effective options to meet
needs.

Invest in Business Development role in order to identify and
grow new diverse revenue streams for TAG over the next
three years.

TAG continues to generate income from sources
other than Council and explores new funding
mechanisms.

Revise and implement new TAGT funding strategies annually.

Build relationships with all TAG Entities, including the TAG
Friends and TAG Foundation.
Not less than 20% of TAGT operating expenditure will be
provided from sources other than Council funds.
Investigate opportunities to future proof both the
physical and fiscal planning for the benefit of
current and future generations.
TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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The Director will provide information to the Board and work
with TAGT to develop strategies for the cost-effectively
management of the Gallery and future proofing our facilities.
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Maintenance & CapEx programme.

To be an anchorage of great
shelter

TAGT to develop its Building Maintenance & CapEx
strategy.

Infrastructure and Facilities
He Tauranga Taiao
To be anchored in environmental
sustainability

TAG Strategic Objective
TAGT to continue to work towards gaining a
sustainability accreditation.

Performance Target
TAGT to investigate the viability of installing solar power on
the roof of the Gallery and annually reviews power
consumption.

Status

TAGT investigates ways of reducing its waste by recycling
and/or reusing materials as appropriate.
TAGT encourages staff to explore alternative sustainable
travel options.
TAGT will take all practical steps to ensure health
and safety policies and procedures are adopted as
per statutory requirements.

Health and Safety Policy and operational procedures meet
statutory requirements and best practice standards of
reporting.
Monthly H&S staff meetings held to identify risks or
concerns, with required actions promptly conveyed to all
staff.
H&S performance provided as part of the Director’s Report
at Board meetings.

Work collaboratively with TCC management
team re the development of a Civic Hub.

Participate in TCC’s strategic process/strategy group
relating to the Civic Hub discussions?

.

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Infrastructure and Facilities
He Tauranga Haumaru
To be anchored in safe
development
TAGT will take all practical steps
to ensure our people are valued,
supported feel safe, connected,
and healthy.

TAG Strategic Objective
Create a culture of support and staff
wellbeing.

Performance Target
Development and implementation of a workplace equity
plan that includes sustainable steps to support pay parity,
living wage and diversity matters.

Status

Implement a staff survey with the view of continually
improving and developing HR best practice.
Excellence and innovation: Ensure staff are
adapting skills to meet changing demands.

Professional development is offered to staff in line with
their position descriptions.
The Māori Engagement Strategy development will include
considerations for staff training and support in; tikanga, te reo
Māori, and their appropriate application within the TAG
environment.

TAG values culture and diversity and where
people of all ages and backgrounds are included,
feel safe, connected, and healthy.

As part of the Māori Engagement Strategy development,
TAG/TAGT will engage in meaningfuldiscussions and
partnerships with tangata whenua.
Develop a healthy workplace culture, where staff feel safe and
connected.

Traffic Light Status Key

On track and remaining so
Off track but likely to be on target at Year End
Off track and needing further monitoring

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Engagement Highlights
Stats during 1 July – 31 December 2021

7

6

Exhibitions
out of the 12 programmed
for the year

Exhibition openings &
stakeholder events

15,010
Visitors

8,109

53,858

Gallery visitors to our
Signature Event –
Mānawatia Takatāpui–
Defending Plurality

Additional City-wide visitors
to our Signature Event –
Mānawatia Takatāpui
Defending Plurality

4

1

Friends of the Gallery
events

Touring exhibitions: Terminus
- Whangarei

3,179

361

EOTC students

Participants through our TAG
Art Studio, with 269 adult
supporters ECE groups

4

2

2

Outreach visits to 4
different schools

Public programmes (Matariki
panel discussion & Zinefest)

Venue Hires (World Homeless
day & Poetry Slam)

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Subscribers to TAG
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Visitor Surveys

During the six-month period, 404 visitors completed our visitor survey compared to 735 the
same period last year. This is a 45% drop which we attribute to the impact of COVID-19 and no
international visitors.

Reason for Visiting

Other
24%

Walking Past
50%

New Exhibition
21%

No Comment 3%
Event 3%
Opening 1%

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Where do you Reside?
Western
BOP 10%

Rest of NZ
32%

Tauranga 56%

Rest of World 1%
No Answer 1%

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Gender
Other
3%
No Comment
4%

Female
61%

Male
32%

TAGT Six-month Report, TCC, 1 July – 31 Dec 21
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Compilation report
Tauranga Art Gallery
For the 6 months ended 31 December 2021
Compilation Report to Tauranga Art Gallery

Scope
On the basis of information provided and in accordance with Service Engagement Standard Number Two: Compilation of
Financial Information, we have compiled the special purpose financial statements of Tauranga Art Gallery for the six month's
ended 31 December 2021.
These statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in the Notes to these financial
statements.

Responsibilities
Tauranga Art Gallery is solely responsible for the information contained in the special purpose financial statements and have
determined that the Special Purpose Reporting Framework used is appropriate to meet your needs and for the purpose that the
special purpose financial statements were prepared.
The special purpose financial statements were prepared exclusively for your benefit. We do not accept responsibility to any
other person for the contents of the special purpose financial statements.

Disclaimer
We have compiled the special purpose financial statements of Tauranga Art Gallery for the year ended 31 December 2021 in
accordance with the limited procedures agreed in our letter of engagement dated 14th December 2020.
Our procedures use accounting expertise to undertake the compilation of the special purpose financial statements from
information provided to by you. The compilation is limited primarily to the collecting, classifying and summarisation of financial
information supplied by you. Our procedures do not involve verification or validation procedures. No audit or review has been
performed and accordingly no assurance is expressed. We have not attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the
information and therefore neither we nor any of our employees or agents accept any responsibility for the accuracy of the
information from which the special purpose financial statements have been prepared.
These special purpose financial statements have been prepared at your request for your purpose only and neither we nor, any of
our employees or agents accept any responsibility on any ground whatsoever, including liability in negligence, to any other
person.

KPMG
Level 2
247 Cameron Road
Tauranga
Dated: 11.02.2022
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Statement of Financial Performance
Tauranga Art Gallery
For the 6 months ended 31 December 2021
NOTES

JUL - DEC 2021

BUDGET: JUL DEC 2021

JUL - DEC 2020

Donations, fundraising and other similar revenue

1

701,540

682,216

526,190

Revenue from providing goods or services

1

62,647

110,840

103,106

Interest, dividends and other investment revenue

1

3,475

6,000

7,260

Other revenue

1

1,090

1,500

4,388

768,753

800,556

640,944

Revenue

Total Revenue

Expenses
Expenses related to public fundraising

2

161,387

188,847

110,636

Volunteer and employee related costs

2

360,739

368,121

300,689

Costs related to providing goods or service

2

115,128

145,089

131,332

Other expenses

2

14,284

17,278

14,529

651,538

719,335

557,186

Total Expenses

Depreciation
Depreciation

75,648

75,174

71,613

Total Depreciation

75,648

75,174

71,613

41,567

6,047

12,144

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year

This statement has been prepared without conducting an audit or review engagement, and should be read in conjunction with the attached
Compilation Report.
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Statement of Financial Position
Tauranga Art Gallery
As at 31 December 2021
NOTES

31 DEC 2021

31 DEC 2020

668,123

542,413

35,539

33,945

Inventory

6,520

8,820

Other Current Assets

6,800

6,800

643,039

631,453

1,360,022

1,223,431

Assets
Current Assets
Bank accounts and cash
Debtors and prepayments

Term Deposits
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment

10,011,796

8,977,808

Total Non-Current Assets

10,011,796

8,977,808

11,371,818

10,201,239

177,554

149,872

Total Assets

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses
Employee costs payable

75,159

59,124

Total Current Liabilities

252,714

208,996

252,714

208,996

11,119,104

9,992,242

Capital contributed by owners or members

1,000,000

1,000,000

Accumulated surpluses or (deficits)

6,037,291

6,026,896

Reserves

4,081,813

2,965,346

11,119,104

9,992,242

Total Liabilities

Total Assets less Total Liabilities (Net Assets)
Accumulated Funds

Total Accumulated Funds

This statement has been prepared without conducting an audit or review engagement, and should be read in conjunction with the attached
Compilation Report.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Tauranga Art Gallery
For the 6 months ended 31 December 2021
JUL - DEC 2021

JUL - DEC 2020

815,103

584,389

70,880

111,721

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Donations, fundraising and other similar receipts
Receipts from providing goods or services
Interest, dividends and other investment receipts
Cash receipts from other operating activities
GST
Payments to suppliers and employees
Cash flows from other operating activities
Total Cash Flows from Operating Activities

149

131

1,223

4,478

(65,538)

(43,742)

(681,436)

(625,743)

(1,711)

(1,035)

138,669

30,200

(22,048)

(5,247)

Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment
Cash flows from other investing and financing activities

17,163

(9,367)

Total Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities

(4,885)

(14,614)

133,784

15,585

Opening cash

(534,339)

(526,827)

Closing cash

(668,123)

(542,413)

Net change in cash for period

(133,784)

(15,585)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash
Bank Accounts and Cash

This statement has been prepared without conducting an audit or review engagement, and should be read in conjunction with the attached
Compilation Report.
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Statement of Accounting Policies
Tauranga Art Gallery
For the 6 months ended 31 December 2021
Basis of Preparation
The entity has elected to apply special purpose financial reporting as the basis for this half-year report.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
The entity is registered for GST. All amounts are stated exclusive of goods and services tax (GST) except for accounts payable
and accounts receivable which are stated inclusive of GST.

Grants
Council, government and non-government grants are recognised as revenue when the funding is received or receivable unless
there is an obligation to return the funds if conditions of the grant are not met (“use or return condition”). If there is such an
obligation, the grant is initially recorded as a liability and recognised as revenue when conditions of the grant are satisfied.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are sold to the customer.

Sale of services
Revenue from the sale of services is recognised when the services are provided to the customer.

Donated assets
Revenue from donated assets is recognised upon receipt of the asset, if the asset has a useful life of 12 months or more and the
value of the asset is readily obtainable and significant.

Entrance fees
Entrance fees are not charged, any revenue in the form of admission donations is recognised upon receipt of the donation.

Venue hire
Fees charged for events or venue hire are recognised upon attendance at the event or at the time of venue hire. Refundable fees,
paid in advance of an event or venue hire are recognised as liabilities until the time of the event or venue hire, at which time they
are recognised as revenue. Non-refundable deposits are recognised as revenue at the time of receipt.

Interest and dividend revenue
Interest revenue is recorded as it is earned during the year. Dividend revenue is recognised when the dividend is declared.

Performance report - Half year
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Statement of Accounting Policies

Employee related costs
Wages, salaries and annual leave are recorded as an expenseas staff provide services and become entitled to wages, salaries
and leave entitlements.
Performance payments are recorded when the employee is notified that the payment has been granted.
Superannuation contributions are recorded as an expense as staff provide the services and become entitled to the
contributions.

Advertising, marketing, administration, overhead and fundraising costs
These costs are expensed when the related service has been received.

Lease expense
Lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Bank Accounts and Cash
Bank accounts and cash in the Statement of Cash Flows comprise cash balances and bank balances (including short term
deposits) with original maturities of 90 days or less.

Debtors
Debtors are initially recorded at the amount owed. When it is likely the amount owed (or some portion) will not be collected, a
provision for impairment is recognised and the loss is recorded as a bad debt expense.

Inventories
Inventories are initially recorded at cost. Goods held for sale are subsequently measured at the lower of cost and their selling
price. Goods for use or distribution are subsequently measured at cost and written down if they become obsolete.
When inventories are sold, exchanged, or distributed, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in
the period in which the related revenue is recognised. If there is no related revenue, the expense is recognised when the goods
are distributed or the related service is rendered.
The amount of any write-down of inventories and all losses of inventories is recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount
of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Investments
Investments comprise term deposits with banks. Bank deposits are initially measured at the amount paid. The carrying value of
bank deposits maturing within 12 months approximates their fair value.
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Statement of Accounting Policies

Property, Plant and Equipment
Land is measured at fair value and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation. All other asset classes
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Land, buildings and artwork are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure that their carrying amount doesn't differ materially
from fair value. A revaluation is undertaken at least every three years.
Revaluation movements are accounted for on a class-of-asset basis.
The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated to an
asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class of asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the asset revaluation
reserve, this balance is not recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense but is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Any subsequent increase on revaluation that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in the surplus or deficit will be
recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed and then recognised in other comprehensive
revenue and expense.
Donated assets are recognised upon receipt of the asset if the asset has a useful life of 12 months or more and the current value
of the asset can be readily obtainable and significant.
For an asset to be used by the Trust, the asset is impaired if the value to the Trust in using the asset falls below the carrying
amount of the asset.
Depreciation is provided on a straight line (SL) or diminishing value (DV) basis, at rates that will write the asset off over their
useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets is unchanged from prior year and
estimated as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Artworks: N/A
Land: N/A
Building: 1.0%- 2.0% SL
Building Improvements: 1.0% -33.3% SL and 20% DV
Office equipment: 4.0%to 30.0% DV
Computer Equipment: 20.0% DV
Exhibition Equipment: 6.6% to 40.0% DV
Tools and Workshop Equipment: 10.0% DV
Intangibles: 20.0%- 50.0% DV

Creditors and accrued expenses
Creditors and accrued expenses are measured at the amount owed.

Employee costs payable
A liability for employee costs payable is recognised when an employee has earned the entitlement.
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual leave earned but not yet taken at balance date. A
liability and expense for long service leave and gratuities are recognised when the entitlement becomes available to the
employee.
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Notes to the Performance Report
Tauranga Art Gallery
For the 6 months ended 31 December 2021
JUL - DEC 2021

BUDGET: JUL DEC 2021

JUL - DEC 2020

1. Analysis of Revenue
Donations, fundraising and other similar revenue
Tauranga City Council

601,969

601,956

484,996

Western Bay of Plenty District Council

20,000

20,000

17,755

Exhibition Sponsorship

50,000

20,500

6,000

Artbus Sponsorship

12,500

10,000

1,000

4,894

13,600

9,266

12,177

16,160

7,173

701,540

682,216

526,190

Education programme revenue

21,227

43,880

30,716

Events and exhibitions

28,261

37,842

28,684

-

5,500

14,537

Retail Sales

11,552

14,818

24,916

Venue hire

1,607

8,800

4,254

62,647

110,840

103,106

Admission Donations
Other donations
Total Donations, fundraising and other similar revenue
Revenue from providing goods or services

Exhibition Touring Income

Total Revenue from providing goods or services
Interest, dividends and other investment revenue
Interest Income

3,475

6,000

7,260

Total Interest, dividends and other investment revenue

3,475

6,000

7,260

Other revenue
Sundry Income

1,090

1,500

4,388

Total Other revenue

1,090

1,500

4,388

JUL - DEC 2021

BUDGET: JUL DEC 2021

JUL - DEC 2020

2. Analysis of Expenses
Expenses related to public fundraising
Advertising and marketing

22,039

24,482

17,847

Collection expenses

-

400

(27)

Contractor expenses

-

500

-

4,926

11,462

7,770

Education expenses - Art bus

13,419

19,428

15,396

Education program expenses

5,590

11,490

3,960

112,807

115,885

64,464

2,555

1,800

1,105

-

2,800

122

50

100

-

-

500

-

161,387

188,847

110,636

Cost of goods sold

Event and exhibition expenses
Special projects
Venue Hire
Membership Subscriptions
Workshop Tools Maintenance
Total Expenses related to public fundraising
Volunteer and employee related costs
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Notes to the Performance Report

JUL - DEC 2021

BUDGET: JUL DEC 2021

JUL - DEC 2020

355,818

349,417

286,337

-

10,422

-

1,260

1,300

10,437

Staff travel

800

1,600

14

Staff training

139

2,200

1,494

Salaries and wages
Employee Superannuation contributions
Recruitment and HR costs

Other Employee related costs
Total Volunteer and employee related costs

2,722

3,182

2,407

360,739

368,121

300,689

Costs related to providing goods or services
COVID - Health & Safety exp

344

500

251

3,525

3,675

2,850

Administration expenses

38,673

44,701

29,956

Building and maintenance

53,336

76,363

63,707

3,477

4,500

18,823

12,600

12,200

12,600

3,146

3,150

3,146

27

-

-

115,128

145,089

131,332

Audit fees

12,600

15,350

12,600

Bank fees

1,683

1,926

1,929

75,648

75,174

71,613

Accounting and payroll administration

Consultants and legal
Insurance
Lease expense
Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Asset
Total Costs related to providing goods or services
Other expenses

Depreciation
Interest Expense
Total Other expenses
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Budget Variances
Tauranga Art Gallery
For the 6 months ended 31 December 2021
JUL - DEC 2021

BUDGET: JUL DEC 2021

VARIANCE

701,540

682,216

19,324

21,227

43,880

(22,653)

-

5,500

(5,500)

Retail Sales

11,552

14,818

(3,266)

Events

29,868

46,642

(16,774)

Total Revenue from providing goods or services

62,647

110,840

(48,193)

Interest, dividends and other investment revenue

3,475

6,000

(2,525)

Other revenue

1,090

1,500

(410)

Total Revenue

768,753

800,556

(31,803)

Administration expenses

(38,673)

(44,701)

6,028

Advertising & Marketing

(22,039)

(24,482)

2,443

Building & Maintenance

(53,336)

(76,363)

23,027

Major Vairances to budget
Revenue
Donations, fundraising and other similar revenue
Revenue from providing goods or services
Education programme
Exhibition Touring Income

Expenses

Collection expenses
Cost of goods sold
Education expenses
Event and exhibition expenses
Insurance
Venue hire

-

(400)

400

(4,926)

(11,462)

6,536

(5,590)

(11,490)

5,900

(104,134)

(107,555)

3,421

(12,600)

(12,200)

(400)

-

(2,800)

2,800

Volunteer and employee related costs

(359,939)

(366,521)

6,582

Total Expenses

(601,239)

(657,974)

56,735
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Tuahu Kauri Track, Katikati

six month repoRt

TO 31 DECEMBER 2021
TĀPOI TE MOANANUI Ā TOI | TOURISM BAY OF PLENTY

(WESTERN BAY OF PLENTY TOURISM AND VISITORS TRUST)
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The COVID-19 pandemic continued to have a significant impact on the tourism industry across New
Zealand and the Bay of Plenty throughout 2021. Our international borders remained closed and the
regional lockdowns that were periodically implemented to contain COVID outbreaks dramatically
impacted domestic travel flows, particularly from Auckland and the Waikato which are our top two
domestic visitor markets.
Despite this uncertain environment, Tourism Bay of Plenty (TBOP) remained vigilant in the delivery
of our organisation’s fundamental functions in order to meet the performance measures we’ve been
prescribed. In doing so, we’ve had to learn to be flexible and responsive to the realities of operating
with COVID, both as an organisation and in support of our sector and operators.
While our Te Hā Tāpoi | The Love of Tourism Strategy 2020 - 2023 continued to guide us
strategically, the environment during the six-month period July to December 2021 required a much
more tactical and adaptive approach in the prioritisation and delivery of programmes across our four
strategic pillars:
o

Target the right visitors at the right time with the right messages.

o

Connect with residents.

o

Enhance the visitor experience.

o

Grow capability and increase supply.

Essentially this resulted in us prioritising several key programmes and initiatives (particularly those
that were digital/online in nature) that were aimed at stimulating domestic visitation during nonlockdown periods, as well as leveraging events as drawcards to the region, while also building on
shoulder and peak season opportunities with our operators as we led into a highly anticipated
summer season.
Conversely, we also needed to be prudent with our resources and defer a range of scheduled activity
into the second half of the 2021/22 year (such as seasonal campaign activations, in-person
trade/training events and international marketing) due to timing and the ongoing realities of COVID
and associated restrictions.
Central government support, via our successful application to MBIE’s one-off $1million Tourism
Support, Recovery and Reset (TSRR) programme, continued to underpin most of our Destination
Management activity across industry capability, product development and marketing. Due to the
extenuating circumstances of COVID and its impact on activity timelines, MBIE extended the funding
deliverables across all 30 Regional Tourism Organisations to December 2022, allowing TBOP to
broaden our programme reach and collaboration timelines. This also necessitated some carryforward implications, in terms of our budget and non-BAU (i.e. non-Council funded) programmes,
which are outlined in the financial section of this report.
In terms of MBIE’s Regional Events Fund (REF) announced in September 2020, TBOP successfully
undertook the promotion and distribution of the three-year $500,000 contestable REF process
during the July to December period, inviting applications from across the Coastal Bay of Plenty which
were then co-assessed by event team managers from the Tauranga, Western Bay and Whakatane
councils. This process was administered via the Smarty Grants system in partnership with TECT,
which also funded an additional $200,000 to increase the total contestable fund provision to
$700,000 across 15 key events over the following three years.

1

Item 11.1 - Attachment 4

Page 72

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

11 April 2022

Of the 33 measures used to track TBOP’s progress to date, 26 remain on track for completion with a
further five at risk related to COVID-deferred TBOP activities that are now being undertaken in the
second half of the 2021/22 Financial Year. The remaining two measures are no longer applicable as a
direct result of COVID. These relate to cruise visitor spend (given that there were no cruise
passenger arrivals during the 2021/22 season), and Qualmark assessment scores in region, which
have since been deferred by Qualmark assessors to Jul/Aug 2022 due to the 2021 lockdowns.
As outlined in the pages following, TBOP has managed to deliver a number of key outcomes during
the July – December 2021 period, with some of the major achievements including:
o

Reorganisation of the TBOP team – new staff appointed with a key focus on delivery

o

Completion and distribution of a new Cycle Trails booklet for the WBOPDC region

o

Launch of the Flavours of Plenty brand, platform and inaugural April 2022 festival planning

o

Ongoing delivery of key Destination Management projects, funded by MBIE’s $1m TSRR Fund

o

Local operator activations and promotions over summer with Mt Mainstreet in the i-SITE POD

o

Delivery of an integrated domestic campaign, with backing track by local band L.A.B.

o

Successful development of a carbon waste reduction programme for the BOP tourism industry

o

Proactive support of local hapū in confirming an MOU with award-winning tourism operator

o

Partnered with TECT and MBIE to fund 15 events over three years to the value of $700,000.

Despite the constant challenges facing the visitor economy in Te Moananui ā Toi | the Coastal Bay of
Plenty, we incurred only a 5% drop in domestic visitor spend compared to July – December 2020.
Taking into consideration the significant decline in visitation and subsequent visitor spend in other
regions across the country, this can be viewed as a positive result.
Our organisation is in a sound financial position at the end of the first six months of the current
financial year. The financial summary shows an overall surplus of $1,290,959 compared to the
budget of $1,149,955 and is therefore favourable by $141,004. Income shows a total of $2,823,717
compared to the budget of $3,259,409, which reflects a decrease in total revenue of $435,692.
Expenses show a total of $1,532,757 compared to the budget of $2,109,454. This reflects a reduction
in total expenses compared to the budget of $576,697 with employee expenses down $243,526 YTD
compared to budget due to vacant roles at the start of the year. Marketing costs were also down
$281,297 due to COVID and subsequent project delays, with the expectation that these costs will be
spent in the second half of the financial year. Overall, as per our Key Performance Indicators in the
Statement of Intent 2020–2023, TBOP has maintained a working capital ratio of not less than 1
(Actual 2.7) and equity ratio above .5 (Actual .7) and we fully expect the results to June 2022 to be
on budget with a net breakeven position by the financial year end.
In closing, this Six-Month Report 2021 reflects the work of a dedicated and talented team, many of
whom transitioned with the organisation as it went through a reorganisation and the onboarding of
new staff and leadership. Together with the board, I want to thank our longer-term and new staff
and also to acknowledge the vital support we receive from our council partners and other
stakeholders in enabling us to do what we do. Noho ora mai.
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TBOP's new team structure is in place
and most roles have been recruited

Inaugural Western Bay of Plenty
Cycle Trails booklet produced and
digital version distributed

Secured TSRR funding from MBIE

Launched Flavours of Plenty brand
and website, and announced a food
festival for April 2022

Partnered with TECT and MBIE to
support 15 regional events

Our partnership with a local hapū has
resulted in a joint venture with an
award-winning operator

Locals and visitors engaged in
giveaways and activations at the
Mount i-SITE Pod over the summer

Domestic campaign achieved 1.4
million impressions and 264,000
complete video views
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The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the tourism industry locally, nationally and
globally. The July - December 2021 period saw a decrease in domestic visitor spend and domestic
visitor numbers compared to the same period in 2020. It’s likely that the second half of 2020
reflected a period of heightened domestic travel, following that year’s COVID-19 lockdowns, that
was unable to be sustained throughout 2021. Additionally, the nationwide lockdown and the
extended Waikato and Auckland lockdowns in the latter part of 2021 curtailed travel during this time
(those two regions represent our two main visitor markets).
Spending by domestic visitors during this July to December 2021 period actually increased compared
to same period in 2019, (up 9%), further suggesting that the 2020 spike was the result of unusual
domestic activity due to the unique circumstances at that time.
The 19% increase in spend by international visitors is likely primarily attributable to repatriating
Kiwis from the USA, Japan and Australia still using overseas electronic cards. The short travel bubble
between NZ and Australian in the middle of 2021 did have some effect, however spending via
Australian cards actually decreased by 20% compared to the year prior.
Change in visitor spend in Te Moananui ā Toi | The Coastal Bay of Plenty
(compared to same period of the previous year)
35%
16%

12% 12% 12%

4%

-1%

-4%

-5%

Jul-Dec 2017

2%

19%

10%

Jul-Dec 2018

-5%

-49%
Jul-Dec 2020

Jul-Dec 2019

Domestic

International

-3%

Jul-Dec 2021

Total

Change in Total Visitor Spend and Visitor Numbers
(Jul - Dec 2021 cf. Jul - Dec 2020)
-3%
-10%
-16%
-20%
-27%

Coastal BOP

Waikato

-17%

-20%-22%

-11%
-16%
-18%

-19%

-20%

-25%

-29%

-30%

Coromandel

Rotorua

Visitor spend

Gisborne

Taupo

Ruapehu

Hawke's Bay

Visitor numbers
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The good news is that while Te Moananui ā Toi | the Coastal Bay of Plenty experienced a decline of
both domestic visitor numbers and spending during the July to December 2021 period (compared to
July to December 2020), this was a trend that was seen across most of New Zealand. During this
period, the change in visitor spending and visitor numbers in Te Moananui ā Toi | the Coastal Bay of
Plenty compared favourably with our Central North Island neighbours and with the national trend
(total visitor spend decreased by 11% nationally).

Approximate proportion of visitor
spend per territorial authority

Tauranga

Whakatāne

Western Bay of Plenty

Source of all spend data: MarketView Tourism
Dashboard. Note that these data are based on
electronic card transactions only and exclude prebookings, online and cash purchases. As such, figures
should be read as approximates and treated with
caution.
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Te Hā Tāpoi | The Love of Tourism 2021–2022 is TBOP’s Destination Management Plan (DMP) and
outlines its commitment to its role as a Destination Management Organisation. Considering the
balance of economic growth with the social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of the community
underpins everything that TBOP does.
TBOP’s key achievements from the July to December 2021 period are highlighted in the sections
below.

Horticultural Provenance is a key element of Te Moananui ā Toi | The Coastal Bay of Plenty’s DNA™
and our proposition and story needs to be elevated to appeal to potential and current visitors. Work
in this space continued at pace in July to December 2021.
•

We announced the region’s first multi-event food festival and launched a festival brand,
website and marketing campaign. The theme of the 7-10 April 2022 festival, ‘Plentiful
Produce’, recognises our regional DNA and will celebrate and raise awareness of the region’s
abundance of local produce and artisans.

•

We worked collaboratively across Te Moananui ā Toi | The Coastal Bay of Plenty to create a
united food story. We held four meetups with food businesses from throughout the rohe
during July - December 2021. A total of 436 stakeholders joined our industry database and
650 people joined the consumer database.

•

We continued to build the profile and reputation of the region as a food and produce
destination via foodie content and media partnerships. During this reporting period, we
produced five new food feature stories; featured in the spring and summer editions of
Nourish magazine; signed a content partnership with Cuisine magazine; and funded a BOP
focused episode of A NZ Food Story Series Two starring award-winning chef Ben Bayly, which
will screen in New Zealand on TVNZ 1, Duke and TVNZ on Demand in May 2022.

The Coastal Bay of Plenty offers some of the most diverse and unique landscapes for locals and
visitors alike to get out and explore. A key challenge for us as a wider region has been in the
coordination of a diverse network of cycle trails that showcase the region’s scenic vistas, heritage
sites of significance and waterways. The trails span different areas; are at varying stages of
consultation, development and/or completion; and some traverse multiple-owned land parcels,
council boundaries and/or iwi whenua.
As part of our focus in this cycle trails area, TBOP has been working heavily to ascertain the current
state of play across these varied stakeholder interests, to develop a regional narrative and
promotional workplan that pulls together this network as a rich tapestry of trail discovery across the
region.
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•

A key highlight achieved during the July to December 2021 period was the coordination,
creation and delivery of a dedicated cycle trails booklet for the Western Bay of Plenty
District Council region.n Bay of Plenty being completed leading into the summer period of
2021/22.

•

With the WBOP Cycle Trails booklet completed, further work is underway with Bay of
Connections and Tauranga City Council to scope and develop a regional collateral piece in
2022 that will include all the relevant Tauranga trails. This may be delivered in stages,
dependent on the varied nature of consultation, development and/or completion of these
trails and related parties.

•

TBOP will continue to work with interested parties to identify opportunities to further
develop or propose product and experiences that could complement the various trails,
including the partnering with relevant iwi/hapū on potential storytelling and signage
elements and interpretation.

•

As part of TBOP’s regenerative tourism focus, there has also been engagement with other
entities around encouraging more locals and visitors to utilise cycle trails rather than relying
on the roading network.
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The Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment released a Regional Events Fund to be used
over three years. TBOP was successful in securing $865,000 via this funding and also secured a
further $200,000 by collaborating with the Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust (TECT).
Event organisers were asked to provide expressions of interest to access this funding support. TBOP
coordinated a panel to assess each event submission and determine how the funding should be
allocated. The panel comprised of representatives from Tourism Bay of Plenty, Tauranga City
Council, Whakatāne District Council, Western Bay of Plenty District Council and TECT.
Events were assessed on key factors such as the likelihood of generating a significant increase in
visitation and spend within the Coastal Bay of Plenty region, and their alignment with one or more of
the region’s Place DNA™ elements of Natural Environment, Ocean and Beaches, Māori Culture and
Horticultural Provenance. Additionally, events were required to promote kaitiakitanga, regeneration
and sustainability, and show a likely future legacy with year-on-year growth in visitor numbers.
A total of 15 events were successful in securing funding and were awarded multi-year/multi-event
funding. These events were Polo in the Bay, Mount Festival of Multisport, NZ National Bridge
Congress, Te Atea Indigenous Art and Tattoo Event, 2022 NZ SUP Nationals, Sun to Surf fun run, The
West End Wiggle Surf Carnival, Wild Food Challenge & Festival, Flavours of Plenty food festival, X*
Air Games, The Tauranga Arts Festival, AIMS Games, Tauranga STEMFest, Classics at Ōhope, and the
2023 Paddle Boarding World Champs.
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Given COVID-19 lockdowns during the latter part of the July – December 2021 period, when our key
markets (Auckland and Waikato) were unable to travel, TBOP took a pragmatic approach to
domestic marketing. This meant continual reviewing of the landscape and rescheduling domestic
marketing to ensure appropriate timing.
To increase cut through in an increasingly competitive landscape, and to showcase our Ocean and
Beaches DNA asset, we licensed a L.A.B music track and released new video content for our Sure To
Make You Smile campaign.
We also devised a new campaign architecture to reflect the visitor decision journey (dream, plan,
book) and built in subregional identities and tourism products. This was rolled out in a summer
campaign across our display, Facebook and YouTube channels from 1 December 2021. This
campaign is due to finish at the end of January 2022. Early results indicate good engagement results
across all these activities, with 415k impressions delivered and 3,324 clicks through to the landing
page.

Corporate PR
During the reporting period, TBOP commentary appeared in 75 articles across Sunlive, the NZ
Herald, BOP Times and Rotorua Daily Post. These opportunities have allowed us to help shape the
national conversation on topics such as COVID-19, major events, tourism industry recovery and
cruise. The AVE (advertising value equivalent) for this publicity is $4.03m. To view the dashboard for
Corporate PR please click here and use the password “tbop”.
Travel stories
TBOP worked with travel journalists to promote the region in 12 national travel stories, gaining an
AVE value of just under $1 million ($999,610). This content included our accessible tourism offerings,
foodie spots, and a heritage story that shone a light on The Elms, Pukehinahina battle sites and
Clarence Hotel.

The continuation of a successful monthly e-communications programme resulted in an average open
rate of 35% and 4,415 views of the locals’ pages on the bayofplentynz.com website. Established
media partnerships with BOP Times, Stuff, Our Place magazine and Sun Media resulted in seven new
tourism stories and multiple advertising features that highlighted local tourism operators,
specifically targeted to the local market. Feedback from operators was positive, with three operators
reporting that they received phone calls and bookings following publication of these stories.
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To support our i-SITE team to assist visitors and to promote major events and natural landmarks, we
produced three new collateral pieces during the reporting period. This included:
•

a detailed BOP visitor map

•

a major event guide

We created 16 new stories that covered tourism experiences, foodie hot spots and regional gems.
We also produced an entire hub on our website dedicated to the region’s accessible tourism
offerings and commissioned one story that has since appeared in Stuff. We worked alongside Kieran
Wall from TCC, Cindy Clare from Waihī Beach Info and John Sligo from Parafed BOP to produce this
content.

During the reporting period there were 235,774 page views on the bayofplentynz.com website. This
is up 1% from the same period last year. The average time spent on each page increased by 23%. The
most popular pages (after the home page) were Tauranga, Covid-19, Mount Maunganui, Mauao
walking tracks, and locals (the No Place Like Home campaign).
Two-thirds (67%) of our total web traffic is organic. This is an increase of 32% or 91,095 more people
who are finding our content when looking for travel ideas and inspiration compared with the same
period last year.
This means people are either searching for us by name or by topics that interest them, suggesting
that the effort we are putting into our content strategy and storytelling is paying off. This also
demonstrates our strong domain authority and SEO results for Bay of Plenty search terms. We have
also seen a 9% increase in e-newsletter sign-ups amongst these organic website visitors, allowing us
to continue sharing messages about the Bay with them through our communications plans.

It’s important that we keep Te Moananui a Toi | the Coastal Bay of Plenty brand in the minds of
international wholesalers and travel agents as preparation for when the New Zealand border will
reopen to international markets. In the reporting period, we achieved this via the online training of
more than 2,000 individuals, spanning product managers Tourism New Zealand offshore teams and
travel agents (across Australia, South-East Asia, the United Kingdom and Germany). This training was
done in conjunction with Tourism New Zealand. TBOP also participated in TRENZ Connect online – a
new platform introduced by TIA (Tourism Industry Association) to allow destinations and operators
to stay connected with international wholesalers around the world. Furthermore, we provided
updates to more than 30 inbound tour operators.
As we look ahead to the highly anticipated phased opening of New Zealand’s international border,
we are continuing to work with Tourism New Zealand to ensure our region is included in
international campaigns.
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We included operators in media stories and social media posts and provided training to enable
operators to list and upload deals onto newzealand.com. This activity, alongside a more dynamic and
inclusive i-SITE approach (see more below), has helped support operators’ own marketing efforts.

In collaboration with Tauranga City Council and Mount Mainstreet, TBOP opened a temporary
Mount Maunganui i-SITE Visitor Information Centre (‘the pod’) in December at Te Papa o Ngā Manu
Porotakataka for the busy summer season. To ensure the effective promotion of activities and things
to do in the area, operators were offered free advertising and promotional opportunities, and many
took advantage of this offer. A radio activation plan was executed to raise awareness of the Mount
VIC and to engage the community. This included some exciting giveaways and promotions of
operators. The i-SITE team also developed a social media plan to further promote tourism products
and deals over the summer and beyond.

TBOP was instrumental in shaping a joint venture between Ngāti Hangarau and top Qualmark
operator Kaitiaki Adventures. Once developed this product will showcase the spectacular Omanawa
Falls, tell the story of the area, and allow visitors to experience local Māori culture. This experience
will align closely with our region’s Place DNA™ and will appeal to some of our key target markets.
This is the first foray into tourism for this hapū and it promises the added benefit of further job
opportunities and training with Kaitiaki Adventures.

TBOP is rolling out a three-year programme (supported by Bay of Plenty Regional Council Toi Moana)
to educate operators about low carbon circular economies and to provide practical
recommendations for implementing measures to meet recommended guidelines. While COVID-19
and associated restrictions have delayed this programme’s progress, it is set to kick off in the
January - December 2022 period. Part of this project, that is currently underway, includes measuring
the carbon footprint of tourism in the Coastal Bay of Plenty region and identifying key opportunities
to decrease emissions. This is being done in conjunction with Rotorua Economic Development and
Bay of Plenty Regional Council Toi Moana.
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TBOP has continued its efforts to build stronger relationships with operators and provide meaningful
support throughout these challenging times. Our monthly Office Open Hour gatherings continue to
be well attended. These provide an opportunity to engage in a more personal and informal chat with
TBOP team members. During lockdown, and prior to the peak summer visitor season, TBOP checked
in with operators via phone to gain an understanding of the COVID-19 policies and processes that
were being implemented by each operator. This assisted i-SITE staff to accurately answer customer
enquiries. Additionally, staff from both the TBOP office and the i-SITE Visitor Information Centre are
making a more concerted effort to meet with operators more regularly.

TBOP has an ongoing commitment to genuine partnerships with iwi and hapū that ensures we
honour Māori principles and values. As a result of recent changes within TBOP, new members
(primarily the General Manager and the Head of Destination Management) have been working on
establishing new relationships with local iwi and hapū leaders.
To ensure continued wider community engagement and leadership, TBOP is establishing steering
and industry groups to lead activity related to elements of our Place DNA™. The steering group
related to Horticultural Provenance (referred to as Flavours of Plenty) is up and running and we are
in the process of establishing the Ocean and Beaches steering group.

TBOP management and governance are actively building relationships with local council staff,
councilors and commissioners. This is an area TBOP places significant importance and is a key aspect
of the realigned structure of our organization and priority focus of the general manager.
TBOP is continuing to work collaboratively with the TCC events team. We attended 13 meetings with
the TCC events team during July - December 2021 and were part of the City Events Strategic Plan
working group. TBOP and TCC have been working together on major event destination messaging, broll videos, imagery and promotion, in particular for the Black Clash and the upcoming Women’s
Cricket World Cup. TBOP also produced a major events guide which is being distributed via the
Visitor Point network across Aotearoa.
During July to December 2021, TBOP has also made a point of connecting with local economic
development agencies (Priority One, Toi Kai Rawa and Bay of Connections) and has identified key
opportunities for working together to achieve projects of mutual interest. It is in the alignment of
strategy and objectives with our stakeholder Councils’ (TCC and WBOPDC) along with other entities
such as BOPRC, Priority 1, Toi EDA and DOC that will remain a key focus for the TBOP Leadership
Advisory under the direction of chair Graeme Marshall.
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Of the 33 performance indicators, 26 are on track to be achieved by end of the financial year. Two
indicators have been marked as ‘not applicable’ due to extenuating circumstances. (Given the cruise
market has not yet returned, we are unable to monitor or report on visitor spending from this
market. Similarly, the Auckland lockdown last year has delayed the Qualmark assessment of the iSITE. This is now expected to take place in July or August 2022.)
The following are the areas where we are at risk of not achieving the desired level of performance by
the end of the financial year, although we are putting measures in place to address these matters.
-

COVID-19 restrictions and a change of TBOP leadership have resulted in slightly fewer
stakeholder engagement hui than intended. That said, we are making significant progress in
building relationships and will continue to do so over the next six months.

-

Residents in Whakatāne and the Western Bay of Plenty are less satisfied with the impact of
tourism on their communities than in previous years. We expect this is likely, at least partly,
a result of the impact of COVID-19, but we will be undertaking research during January to
June 2022 to understand what is causing this shift and how we can best respond.

-

The proportions of Kiwi and Australian travellers who are somewhat informed about the
region, consider the region to be highly appealing, and will probably or definitely visit in the
next 12 months have dropped marginally compared to the scores for the previous year (YE
March 2021). The decrease in percentages (23% down to 20% for Kiwis, and 16% down to
13%) are within the margin of error for the results of the survey, meaning there may well
have been no real change in the results. However, the ongoing COVID pandemic may be
impacting these results and, if so, it may continue to affect further results in the short-term.
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These financial statements include the operations of TBOP and the Tauranga i-SITE, as these
contracts are now combined.
The financial summary shows an overall surplus of $1,290,959 compared to the budget of
$1,149,955 and is therefore favourable by $141,004.

Income shows a total of $2,823,717 compared to the budget of $3,259,409 which reflects a decrease
in total revenue of $435,692. This is due to Stapp/TSRR funding of $499,200 that was received in this
financial year that will be spent in the next financial year. Total income is up on last year due to the
one-off extra $300,000 in TSSR funding received this year.

Expenses show a total of $1,532,757 compared to the budget of $2,109,454. This reflects a reduction
in total expenses compared to the budget of $576,697. Employee expenses show a reduction of
$243,526 compared to budget, due to vacant roles at the start of the year. Marketing costs also
show a reduction of $281,297 due to COVID-related delays in project costs, but we are expecting to
spend this allocation in the second half of the financial year.

Equity is currently showing an increase for the six months as a balance of $1,752,247. Our equity has
remained approximately $400,000 for the past four years, as at year end 30 June, and we expect it
will be approximately $400,000 in June 2022. The six months to December show a higher amount
due to less spend in the first half of the year and more spend in the second half of the financial year,
which is a similar pattern to previous years. The increase in debtors is due to late payment of
funding invoices by the councils.
As per key performance indicators in the Statement of Intent 2020–2023, TBOP has maintained a
working capital ratio of not less than 1 (Actual 2.7) and equity ratio above .5 (Actual .7).

We expect the results to June 2022 will be on budget, with a net breakeven position by the financial
year end.
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The activity outlined on the following page applies to the territorial boundaries covered by TBOP, as recognised by Statistics New Zealand, and covers the rateable areas of Tauranga City, Western Bay of Plenty District and Whakatāne District.
Status scale:

Exceeded

Completed

On track

Not started

At risk

Off track

N/A*

*Note: N/A is used where that activity is no longer applicable due to elements outside of TBOP’s control. For example, the cruise market has not yet returned due to the ongoing pandemic, therefore we will not be reporting on cruise visitor spend.
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Focus Area

Performance
Area

11 April 2022

Performance Measure

Breakdown

Baseline

Total visitor
spend

In the YE May 2021, total visitor
spend in the region was up 18%
compared to YE May 2020.

Domestic
visitor spend

In the YE May 2021, domestic
visitor spend in the region was
up 27% compared to YE May
2020.

International
visitor spend

In the YE May 2021,
international visitor spend in the
region was down 51% compared
to YE May 2020.

Cruise visitor
spend

No baseline result, as there was
no 2020-21 cruise season due to
travel restrictions associated
with COVID-19.

Visitor numbers

Monitor trends in the number
of visitors to Te Moananui ā Toi
| the Coastal Bay of Plenty.

Te Moananui ā
Toi | the
Coastal Bay of
Plenty

Monitoring average number of
visitors each day per month and
reporting to stakeholders.

Employment

Measure the number of jobs
provided by the tourism
industry.
(Includes accommodation, food
and beverage services, tourism
activities, travel and tour
services, and transport
services.)

Total number
of filled jobs in
select tourism
industries.

Environmental
impact

Measuring the impact (both
positive and negative) of
tourism on the environment.

Te Moananui ā
Toi | the
Coastal Bay of
Plenty

Measure trends in visitor spend
in Te Moananui ā Toi | the
Coastal Bay of Plenty.

Visitor spend

Tourism data expert Shane
Vuletich from FreshInfo deems
it imprudent to forecast or set
targets for future years at the
moment (February 2021), due
to the current levels of market
uncertainty.

Economic

Environmental

Tourism provides 7,440 jobs in
the Coastal Bay of Plenty (April
2021).

Started to assess the impact of
tourism across the region via
ECO-destination certification
(50% complete) and in
conjunction with stakeholders.

Six-month summary
(July to December 2021)

Status

Source

For the period July - December 2021, total visitor
spend was down 3% compared to the same period in
2020.

On track

Marketview
Tourism Dashboard

For the period July - December 2021, total visitor
spend was down 4% compared to the same period in
2020.

On track

Marketview
Tourism Dashboard

For the period July - December 2021, total visitor
spend was up 19% compared to the same period in
2020.

On track

Marketview
Tourism Dashboard

No update available. The cruise sector is still unable to
operate owing to the pandemic and its associated
restrictions.

N/A

MBIE Tourism
Satellite Account

Monitor and report on visitor
numbers across the year.

TBOP is tracking visitor numbers and uses daily
averages to construct monthly averages. This
information is then shared with key stakeholders.

On track

Data Ventures
Tourism NZ Tool

Monitor and report on the
number of jobs the tourism
industry provides and use the
information to set new goals for
future years.

Tourism provided an average of 7,850 jobs in the
Coastal Bay of Plenty each month through July December 2021.

On track

Inland Revenue’s
Employer Monthly
Schedule (EMS)
and payday filing

Determine a framework for
measuring the impact of tourism
and regenerative tourism on the
environment and begin
monitoring.

TBOP is measuring the carbon footprint of tourism in
the region as part of a joint project with Bay of Plenty
Regional Council Toi Moana and Rotorua Economic
Development.

On track

Report to be
developed based
on framework

2021-2022 Goal (June 2022)
Monitor and report on changes
in visitor spend and use the
information to set new goals for
future years.
Monitor and report on changes
in visitor spend and use the
information to set new goals for
future years.
Monitor and report on changes
in visitor spend and use the
information to set new goals for
future years, dependent on
market conditions.
If the cruise market returns in
2021-2022, monitor and report
on changes in visitor spend and
use the information to set new
goals for future years.
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Performance
Area

Performance Measure

Breakdown

Baseline

2021-2022 Goal (June 2022)

Reach of
engagement
with iwi and
hapū

Monitor the number of iwi and
hapū with whom TBOP engages.

Te Moananui ā
Toi | the
Coastal Bay of
Plenty

Relationships with 10 iwi and 11
hapū.

Two new relationships
developed with iwi and hapū per
year.

TBOP

Internal assessment of quality of
relationships:
▪ 48% are classified as ‘strong’
▪ 24% are classified as
‘moderate’
▪ 29% are classified as ‘weak’

Develop a 360° review to
establish a new baseline.

Enabling new TBOP staff to establish and strengthen
existing relationships with iwi and hapū has been a
priority during the July to December 2021 period. A
re-assessment will be conducted in May 2022.

Maintain or improve perceptions
of tourism's impact on the
community.

The score for the July - December 2021 period is 68%
agree (representing scores of 7 to 10).

Cultural
Quality of
engagement
with iwi and
hapū

Monitor the strength of TBOP's
relationships with iwi and hapū.

Six-month summary
(July to December 2021)
The new General Manager and the Head of
Destination Management are stepping into this space
and are prioritising strengthening existing
relationships before reaching out to other local iwi
and hapū.

Status

Source

On track

Simpleview CRM
system

On track

360° review

On track

Tauranga City
Council residents'
satisfaction survey
results

At risk

Western Bay of
Plenty residents'
satisfaction survey
results

At risk

Whakatāne District
Council residents'
satisfaction survey
results

•

Tauranga City
residents

Social licence

Measure resident's sentiment
towards tourism. This is
measured by the percentage of
residents who agree that
tourism has a positive impact on
the community. Residents
provide a rating of 1 to 10,
where 1 is strongly disagree and
10 is strongly agree.

Social

Operator social
licence

Stakeholder
engagement

Measure industry operators'
satisfaction with Tourism Bay of
Plenty's activities.

Monitor stakeholder
engagement volume.

The score for the year to date
(2020-21) is 66% agree
(representing scores of 7 to 10).

The score for the year ending December 2021 is 62%
agree (representing scores of 6 to 10). This is a decline
of 10% compared the June 2021 result. We expect this
is likely, at least partly, a result of the impact of
COVID-19, but will be undertaking research during
January to June 2022 to understand what is causing
this shift and how we can best respond to improve
perceptions.
The score for the year ending December 2021 is 69%
agree (representing scores of 6 to 10). This is a decline
of 10% compared the June 2020 result. We expect this
is likely, at least partly, a result of the impact of
COVID-19, but will be undertaking research during
January to June 2022 to understand what is causing
this shift and how we can best respond to improve
perceptions.

Western Bay
of Plenty
District
residents

The score for the year ending
June 2021 is 72% agree
(representing scores of 6 to 10).

Maintain or improve perceptions
of tourism's impact on the
community.

Whakatāne
District
residents

The score for the year ending
June 2020 is 79% agree
(representing scores of 6 to 10).

Maintain or improve perceptions
of tourism's impact on the
community.

Operators

No current baseline data is
available. First survey to be
undertaken in 2021-2022.

Maintain or improve operators'
satisfaction with TBOP's
activities.

Survey is scheduled to occur between February and
May 2022.

On track

TBOP operator
satisfaction survey

Achieve an average of 70
engagements with key
stakeholders per two-month
period.

The current General Manager, Head of Destination
Marketing, Head of Destination Management, and
Head of Strategy & Insights achieved an average of 45
engagements with key stakeholders in the July December 2021 period. Staff turnover and new
appointments contributed to a lower number of
engagements than intended. That said, we are making
significant progress in building relationships and will
continue to do so over the next six months.

At risk

Simpleview CRM
system

Stakeholders

Averaged 120 engagements with
key stakeholders per two-month
period from July - December
2020.
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Performance
Area

Performance Measure

Leadership
Advisory Group

Hold Leadership Advisory Group
meetings.

Visitor
satisfaction

Measure visitor satisfaction
with their visit to Te Moananui
ā Toi | the Coastal Bay of
Plenty.

Potential visitor
perceptions

i-SITE user
experience

Breakdown

Total visitor
satisfaction

Baseline

2021-2022 Goal (June 2022)

One meeting in the 2020-21 FY.

Hold three Leadership Advisory
Group meetings.

86% of visitors are satisfied with
their last visit to the region (May
to April 2021).
Sample: n=214
Error margin: +/-7%

Maintain or improve visitors'
satisfaction with their visit.

New Zealand
market

23% of adult New Zealand
travellers are somewhat
informed about the region,
consider the region to be highly
appealing, and will probably or
definitely visit in the next 12
months (YE March 2021).

Maintain or improve propensity
to visit score.

Australia
market

16% of adult Australian travellers
are somewhat informed about
the region, consider the region
to be highly appealing, and will
probably or definitely visit in the
next 12 months (YE March
2021).

Maintain or improve propensity
to visit score.

Tauranga iSITE

Six responses to i-SITE users'
perceptions survey.

Monitor Net Promoter Score™
and set benchmarks for future
years.

Measure perceptions of Te
Moananui ā Toi | the Coastal
Bay of Plenty among the New
Zealand and Australia markets.

Measure i-SITE users'
perceptions of their experience.

Six-month summary
(July to December 2021)
Two meetings were held in July - December 2021. One
of these was focused on Flavours of Plenty, to get
feedback from group members regarding potential
opportunities for collaboration or support.
Most (86%) of visitors are satisfied with their last visit
to the region (March to August 2021).
Sample size: n=418
Error margin: +/-5%

20% of adult New Zealand travellers are somewhat
informed about the region, consider the region to be
highly appealing, and will probably or definitely visit in
the next 12 months (YE December 2021). While this
result represents a decline of 3% compared to the last
reported result (YE March 2021), the change is within
the margin of error for the results and there is actually
no real change in the results. That said, COVID-19 and
its impact on propensity to travel may be having an
impact here. TBOP’s domestic marketing campaigns
are aimed at enhancing perceptions of the area to
help improve these scores.
13% of adult Australian travellers are somewhat
informed about the region, consider the region to be
highly appealing, and will probably or definitely visit in
the next 12 months (YE December 2021). While this
result represents a decline of 3% compared to the last
reported result (YE March 2021), the change is within
the margin of error for the results and there is actually
no real change in the results. That said, continued
international border closures may be impacting
perceptions and we hope to see increased likelihood
to visit when Trans-Tasman travel is once again an
option.
We have received seven responses to the i-SITE users’
perceptions survey and identified a plan to increase
response rates over the latter half of the 2021-2022
financial year.

Status

Source

On track

Simpleview CRM
system

On track

Visitor satisfaction
survey

At risk

Market Perceptions
research report by
Angus & Associates

At risk

Market Perceptions
research report by
Angus & Associates

On track

Customer Radar
feedback
dashboard
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Focus Area

Performance
Area

Performance Measure

Baseline

2021-2022 Goal (June 2022)

Employee
engagement

Measure organisational culture and
staff well-being.

Employee Engagement score: 76%
(April 2021)

Maintain or improve Employee
Engagement Score.

Living wage

Payment of the living wage (as a
minimum) to all permanent
employees.

All employees are being paid a
minimum of the living wage.

Payment of the living wage (as a
minimum) to all permanent
employees.

Payment of the living wage is paid to all permanent
employees.

Health and
Safety

Measure health and safety
capability of Tourism Bay of Plenty.

Safe365 Index of 79% across the ten
modules.

Safe365 Index of 80% across the ten
modules.

Safe365 index of 76% across the ten modules and working on
On track
areas that need attention.

Safe365
assessment

i-SITE Qualmark
status

Monitor the Qualmark status of
Tauranga i-SITE.

Achieved Qualmark Sustainable
Tourism Business Award with score
of 85.

Maintain or improve the Qualmark
Sustainable Tourism Business Award
score.

Yet to be re-assessed since baseline score. This is due to
lockdowns and Aucklanders being immobilised. Next
assessment is due in July or August 2022.

N/A

Qualmark

Carbon
footprint

Measure TBOP's carbon output.

Measured carbon footprint and
identified opportunities for
reduction.

Reduce carbon footprint across the
organisation by 10% and offset or
inset the rest.

Total TBOP carbon emissions in 2018/19 and 2020/21 were
24.2 tonnes and 10.2 tonnes respectively. Currently
considering options to offset or inset the remainder.

On track

Carbon footprint
calculator

Reduce waste to landfill by 10%.

Resource Wise programme audit took place in August 2021,
which calculated baseline waste and recycling levels. This
showed 91% diversion of total waste from landfill, earning
TBOP Platinum status.
Workstation rubbish bins have been removed and new
recycling-waste stations system implemented to support our
goal of reducing the landfill component by an extra 10% by
June 2022.

On track

Resource Wise
Business through
Tauranga City
Council

TBOP team

Regulations

11 April 2022

Sustainability
Waste
management

Monitor TBOP's waste
management.

TBOP has a worm farm and
recycling bins.

Six-month summary
(July to December 2021)
Implementing a new HR system, Employment Hero. Will
conduct employee engagement assessments through this
system once up and running.

Status

Source

On track

TBOP Employee
Engagement
Survey

On track

Financial records
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Performance
Area

Performance Measure

Baseline

2021-2022 Goal (June 2022)

Six-month summary
(July to December 2021)

Status

Source

Governance

Statutory reporting requirements.

Met statutory reporting
requirements for the 2020-2021
financial year.

Meet statutory reporting
requirements.

On track to meet requirements for the 2021-2022 financial
year.

On track

Audit

Manage P&L budget and aim for
best effort cost recovery through
revenue growth opportunities and
cost management strategies.

Achieved

Variance of profit to budget for year
within 5% of total revenue.

Net result is ahead of budget to December and on track to
be on budget at year end.

On track

TBOP Six Month
and Annual Reports

Code of Conduct compliance.

Achieved

Code of Conduct compliance.

On track

On track

TBOP Six Month
and Annual Reports

Compliance and regulatory
obligations met.
Enterprise Risk Management Policy
adherence.

The Annual Report 2020-2021 has not yet been audited due
to Audit NZ staffing issues.

On track

Council's feedback

On track

On track

Board confirmation

Achieved

No surprises principle maintained.

On track

On track

Council's feedback

Achieved

Manage STAPP and TSRR funding to
MBIE and TBOP Board expectations.

On track

On track

TBOP Six Month
and Annual Reports

Achieved

Manage Regional Events Fund
funding to MBIE and TBOP Board
expectations.

On track

On track

TBOP Six Month
and Annual Reports

Governance
and finance
Finance

Compliance and regulatory
obligations met.
Enterprise Risk Management Policy
adherence.
Maintain good working
relationships with Council staff and
elected members, observing the ‘no
surprises’ principle.
Manage Strategic Tourism Assets
Protection Programme (STAPP) and
Tourism Support Recovery and ReSet (TSRR) funding.
Manage Regional Events Fund
funding.

Achieved
Achieved
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Benefiting
communities through
delivering efficient
financing for local
government.
Ka whiwhi painga ngā
hapori mā te whakarato
pūtea tōtika ki ngā
kaunihera.
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New Zealand Local
Government Funding Agency
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Planting day at Tōtara Reserve with Awahou school.
Horizons Regional Council
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Message from the Chair
and Chief Executive
He karere mai i te Toihau
me te Tumuaki

For the six-months ended 31 December 2021
The six-month period to December was another strong period for LGFA in delivering value to
council members and our investor base while meeting our financial targets. A key highlight
was our first Green, Social and Sustainable loans to councils as part of our focus on
fostering sustainability across the local government sector.
We are pleased to record another period of positive
performance by the company for the six-month
period to 31 December 2021 and to highlight the
following developments.

Strong Financial and Operational
Performance
LGFA’s total interest income for the six-month period
of $185.89 million was a 2.4% decrease over the
2019-20 comparable period result of $190.38 million,
while net operating profit of $5.94 million for the
six-month period was a 0.3% increase on the 2019-20
comparable period result of $5.92 million.
Both net interest income and operating profit were
slightly ahead of the Statement of Intent (SOI)
forecast. We are adopting a prudent approach
to our funding by borrowing a greater amount
than we are lending to councils and for a longer
term. This is having a modest drag on profitability
despite the growth in the balance sheet but is a
more conservative approach to balance sheet
management.

Expenses have been managed below the SOI
budget over the past six months. Lower fees paid
due to a reduced limit of the New Zealand Debt
Management committed credit facility and
lower travel and accommodation costs relative
to forecast were positive contributions. These
savings were offset by higher legal and NZX costs
associated with increased council lending and
LGFA bond issuance.
LGFA bonds are an attractive investment for
investors while delivering savings in borrowing
costs for members. Over the last six months, we
have launched Green, Social and Sustainable (GSS)
lending to councils and approved our first CouncilControlled Organisation (CCO) borrower.
The financial strength of LGFA was reaffirmed
by Fitch Ratings who maintained our domestic
currency credit rating at ‘AA+’ in October 2021 while
our ‘AAA’ rating from S&P Global Ratings remains the
same as the New Zealand Government.
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Borrowing activity
LGFA is the largest issuer of New Zealand dollar
(NZD) securities after the New Zealand Government
and our bonds are amongst the largest and most
liquid NZD debt instruments available for investors.
It is pleasing to note increased activity in the
secondary market in our bonds.
LGFA issued $2.06 billion of bonds over the past six
months and outstandings now total $15.94 billion
(including $1.20 billion of treasury stock) across 12
maturities from 2022 to 2037. The average term of
our bond issuance during the six-month period
at 7.7 years was longer than the prior year period.
The debut of new May 2028 and May 2035 bond
maturities by syndication helped fill in the gaps
between our existing bonds and provided investors
with more investment opportunities. It also reduced
our mismatch exposure between bond issuance
and council lending.
It is also pleasing to observe the increased
participation by offshore investors over the past
six months as NZD-denominated investments have
become relatively more attractive for investors as
the Reserve Bank commenced monetary policy
tightening. We estimate that offshore investors hold
29.7% of LGFA bonds on issue compared to 21.6% a
year ago. Domestic institutional and retail investors
hold 32.4%, domestic banks hold 26.7% and the
Reserve Bank holds 11.3%.
The performance of LGFA bonds over the past six
months has been mixed with LGFA bond spreads
to New Zealand Government Bonds moving wider
while LGFA bond spreads to swap have tightened
slightly, except in the very long end of the curve.
Outright yields rose between 53 basis points (bps)
(2037 maturity) and 127 bps (2024 maturity) over the
six-month period.

Lending to the sector
LGFA was established in December 2011 to provide
long-dated borrowing, certainty of access to
markets and to reduce the borrowing costs
for the local government sector. The original 31
shareholders including the Crown remain as
shareholders. Over the past six months, we added
two councils and our first CCO as members, with
Southland District and Otago Regional Councils
joining as guarantors and Invercargill City Holdings
Ltd joining as our first CCO. Total membership is
now 74 out of the 78 councils in New Zealand.
Long-dated lending to council and CCO members
over the six-month period was $1.64 billion provided
to 46 councils as they refinanced their April 2022
loans and increased their borrowing to finance
infrastructure projects. Our estimated market share
of total council borrowing of 79% was slightly lower

11 April 2022

than forecast but remained high on an historical
basis. The average tenor of long-dated borrowing
by councils of 5.8 years over the six-month period
was in line with prior periods.
Short-dated lending for terms less than 12 months
continues to be supported by councils and as at 31
December 2021, LGFA had $382 million of short-term
loans outstanding to 31 council and CCO members.

The impact from COVID-19 and Three
Waters Reform Program on the sector
and LGFA
The local government sector continues to face
unprecedented and uncertain change having to
deal with climate-related events, COVID-19, the
Central Government-led initiatives relating to the
Three Waters Reform Programme and Future for
Local Government Review.
LGFA is assisting on an as required basis, both
Central Government and our council members
as they work through the Three Waters Reform
Programme as required. The Government’s
proposed Three Water Reform Programme would be
the largest change to the local authority sector in
30 years.
LGFA is also assisting the local government sector
led initiative in developing a Ratepayer Financing
Scheme that may provide some financial relief to
ratepayers.

New products and initiatives
We undertook our first loan to a CCO in July 2021
and are looking to approve our second CCO
member in the next six months.
We launched our GSS lending product in October
2021 and are pleased to have made our first GSS
loans to Wellington City and Greater Wellington
Regional Councils in December 2021.

Increasing focus on sustainability
Sustainability plays an important part within the
local government sector and at LGFA. We have
undertaken several initiatives over the past year,
including:
•	
Appointment of a Head of Sustainability.
•	
Establishment of a Sustainability Committee
that advises the LGFA Board and management
team on sustainability issues.
•	
Achievement of CarbonZero certification from
Toitū Envirocare and we have committed to
reducing our carbon emissions.
•	
Launched our GSS lending product that offers a
lower borrowing margin for councils with eligible
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projects. We have pre-approved borrowing for
eligible projects of $407 million and have made
loans to date of $43 million.

Acknowledgments
LGFA’s work cannot be implemented without
the support of our staff, directors, shareholders
and members, New Zealand Debt Management
(NZDM), the Reserve Bank and central and
local government, all whose efforts should be
acknowledged. We also would like to acknowledge
the support of financial institutions, intermediaries
and investors. We believe LGFA’s future remains
positive and look forward to working with all
stakeholders in the next six months.

Craig Stobo
Chair

Mark Butcher
Chief Executive
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Wetlands in Queen
Elizabeth Park, Kāpiti Coast.
Greater Wellington Regional Council
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Performance
against objectives
Ko ngāwhakatutukitanga
ki ngā whāinga

The statement of service performance details LGFA’s performance for the first half of the
year against the objectives and targets set out in the LGFA Statement of Intent 2021-22 (SOI)

2021-22 Performance objectives
The SOI sets out two primary performance objectives and eight additional objectives for the year ended
30 June 2022.

Primary objectives
LGFA will optimise the debt funding terms and
conditions for Participating Borrowers. Among
other things, this includes:
•	Providing interest cost savings relative to
alternative sources of financing;
•	Offering flexible short and long-term lending
products that meet Participating Borrowers’
borrowing requirements;
•	Delivering operational best practice and
efficiency for its lending services;
•	Ensuring certainty of access to debt markets,
subject always to operating in accordance
with sound business practice.

LGFA will ensure its asset book remains at a
high standard by ensuring it understands each
Participating Borrower’s financial position, as well
as general issues confronting the local government
sector. Amongst other things, LGFA will:
•	Proactively monitor and review each
Participating Borrower’s financial position,
including its financial headroom under LGFA
policies;
•	Analyse finances at the Council group level
where appropriate and report to shareholders;
•	
Endeavour to meet each Participating Borrower
annually, including meeting with elected
officials as required, or if requested; and
•	
Take a proactive role to enhance the financial
strength and depth of the local government
debt market and work with key central
government and local government stakeholders
on sector and individual council issues.

8
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Additional objectives
4.	Meet or exceed the Performance Targets.

LGFA has the following eight measurable
and achievable additional objectives which
complement the primary objectives. Performance
against these objectives is reported annually.

5.	Comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act
2015.
6.	Comply with the Shareholder Foundation
Policies and the Board-approved Treasury
Policy at all times.

LGFA will:
1.	Maintain LGFA’s credit rating equal to the New
Zealand Government sovereign rating where
both entities are rated by the same Rating
Agency.

7.	Assist the local government sector with
significant matters such as COVID -19 response
and the proposed Three Waters Reform
Programme.

2.	Provide at least 80% of aggregate long-term
debt funding to the local government sector1.
3.	
Achieve the financial forecasts for net interest
income and operating expenses, including
provision for a shareholder dividend payment in
accordance with the approved dividend policy.

8.	Improve sustainability outcomes within LGFA
and assist the local government sector in
achieving their sustainability and climate
change objectives.

Performance against primary objectives
Providing interest cost savings relative to
alternative sources of financing

This section sets out LGFA’s performance for the
six months ended 31 December 2021 against the
two primary objectives set out in the SOI.

LGFA continues to borrow at very competitive
spreads compared to the AAA rated Sovereign,
Supranational and Agencies (SSA) issuers who borrow
in the New Zealand debt capital markets, the domestic
banks and Kainga Ora, our closest peer issuer.

LGFA will optimise the debt funding terms and
conditions for Participating Borrowers. Among
other things, this includes:

Secondary market spread to swap (basis points)
2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2033 2035 2037
LGFA (AAA)

(4)

Kainga Ora (AAA)

(1)

(1)

5

3

10

11

16

13

23
25

Asian Development Bank (AAA)

1

2

7

13

23

IADB (AAA)

0

1

10

15

27

14

International Finance Corp

1

5

10

KBN (AAA)

3

8

14
12

Rentenbank (AAA)

0

1

6

World Bank (AAA)

2

1

1

Nordic Investment Bank (AAA)

1

ANZ (AA-)

25

BNZ (AA-)
Westpac Bank (AA-)

23

28

31

33

42

51

59

47
33

18
39

12

18

23

18

24

33

10
31

17
11

8

25

39

55

40

43

53

SSA Average

1

1

4

10

14

Bank Average

11

22

36

41

54

31

36

33

1. This includes Auckland Council borrowing both in its own name and through LGFA and recognising that the amount
of borrowing by Auckland Council from LGFA is restricted by the Foundation Policy covenants.
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In the 2021 stakeholder survey, our members
responded with a 99% satisfaction rating for LGFA
in adding value to their borrowing requirements.
Offering flexible short and long-term lending
products that meet Participating Borrowers’
borrowing requirements;
Both short and long-term borrowing have been
well supported by member councils and CCOs:
•	
Over the six months ended 31 December 2021,
46 members (45 councils, 1 CCO) borrowed $1.64
million in 125 new long-term loans, across 46
maturity dates ranging between 2022 and 2036.
•	As at 31 December 2021 there were $382 million
of short-term loans outstanding to 31 members
(30 councils, 1 CCO) with loan terms ranging
between one month and 12 months.
•	As at 31 December 2021, nine councils had
entered into Standby facilities with LGFA
totalling $522 million.
Delivering operational best practice and
efficiency for its lending services;
Over the six months, LGFA operations successfully
settled 833 new trades and 5,600 cash flows
totalling in excess of $31 billion.
In the 2021 stakeholder survey, our members
responded with a 96% satisfaction rating for the
LGFA settlement process.
Ensuring certainty of access to debt markets,
subject always to operating in accordance with
sound business practice.
For LGFA to provide certainty of access to markets
for our borrowers, we need to have a vibrant primary
and secondary market in LGFA bonds. The primary
market is the new issuance market, and we measure
strength through participation by investors at our
tenders through bid-coverage ratios and successful
issuance yield ranges. The secondary market is the
trading of LGFA bonds following issuance and a high
turnover implies a healthy market.
Activity in LGFA bonds in both the primary market
(tender or syndicated issuance) and secondary
market (between banks and investors) during
the six month period remained at high levels,
with primary issuance totalling $2.055 billion
and secondary market turnover of $4.45 billion.
In addition, we successfully launched two new
bond maturities, May 2028 and May 2035, by
syndication, reducing the gap between existing
LGFA bond maturities.
LGFA maintains an Australian Medium-Term Notes
Programme which, to date, has not been used but
which provides LGFA with additional flexibility if
there is a market disrupting event in the future.

11 April 2022

LGFA will ensure its asset book remains at a
high standard by ensuring it understands each
Participating Borrower’s financial position, as well
as general issues confronting the local government
sector. Amongst other things, LGFA will:
Proactively monitor and review each Participating
Borrower’s financial position, including its
financial headroom under LGFA policies;
LGFA reviews all councils’ financial statements
on an annual basis and the agendas and
management reports on an ongoing basis for
councils on the LGFA borrower watch-list. This
year, we reviewed councils 2021-2031 Long-Term
Plans and liaised directly with councils’ where we
had issues or queries arising from these.
We have received compliance certificates from all
Participating Borrowers, and all remain compliant
as at 30 June 2021. There are 14 councils who, due to
COVID-19 delays in finalising the audit process, have
provided outcomes based on unaudited financial
statements. LGFA has reviewed these financial
statements and there were no issues of concern.
Analyse finances at the Council group level where
appropriate and report to shareholders;
No council has yet requested to be measured on a
group basis.
Endeavour to meet each Participating Borrower
annually, including meeting with elected officials
as required, or if requested;
Over the six months, LGFA met with 15 councils
which is lower than planned due to COVID-19
travel restrictions over the period. Travel
permitting, we aim to increase visits in the first
half of 2022, with virtual meetings replacing
in-person meetings as required.
Take a proactive role to enhance the financial
strength and depth of the local government debt
market and work with key central government
and local government stakeholders on sector and
individual council issues.
Over the six months, LGFA met with representatives
from Central Government on the proposed Three
Waters reforms and provided feedback regarding
financing of the proposed entities.
LGFA sponsored the Taituarā Funding and Rating
Forum and presented on ‘Financial Risks in the
Local Government Environment’ to a forum
of Council Audit and Risk Committee Chairs
organised by OAG.
LGFA continues to assist the sector and their
advisers in offering to provide support for
solutions to off-balance sheet financing for
councils. LGFA continues to provide technical
expertise to the proposed Ratepayer Financing
Scheme (RFS).
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Additional objectives
LGFA has the following eight measurable and
achievable additional objectives which complement
the primary objective. Performance against these
objectives is reported annually. LGFA will:
Maintain LGFA’s credit rating equal to the New
Zealand Government sovereign rating where both
entities are rated by the same Rating Agency.
On an annual basis, S&P Global Ratings and Fitch
Ratings meet with LGFA and review our credit
ratings.
•	
S&P Global Ratings upgraded our long-term
local currency credit rating to AAA and our
long-term foreign currency credit rating to AA+
on 22 February 2021. Both ratings are the same
as the New Zealand Government.
•	
Fitch Ratings affirmed both our local currency
credit rating of AA+ (stable) and foreign
currency credit rating of AA, positive outlook.
1 November 2021.
Provide at least 80% of aggregate long-term debt
funding to the local government sector 2.
LGFA’s estimated market share for the rolling
twelve-month period to 31 December 2021 was
79%3. Adjusted for Auckland Council borrowing,
this increases to 84%. This market share compares
to a historical average of 75% and remains high
compared to our global peers.
Achieve the financial forecasts for net interest
income and operating expenses, including
provision for a shareholder dividend payment in
accordance with the approved dividend policy.
The following table summaries income, expenses
and operating result for the six months ended 31
December 2021 against the financial forecasts
outlined in our 2021-2022 Statement of Intent.
$000s

Net interest income
Other operating income
Total operating income

Unaudited
result to 31
December
2021

Variance
to SOI
budget

9,178

+267

526

+26

9,704

+293

Operating expenses

3,769

+88

Net operating profit

5,935

+381

The Net interest income (NII) includes the
unrealised mark-to-market movement for fixed
rate swaps that are not designated effective
for hedge accounting purposes. These swaps
reduce exposure to fixed rate loans transacted
outside of the normal tender process and reduce
mismatches between borrowing and on-lending
terms on our balance sheet. The unrealised loss
increases as interest rates fall but turns to a profit
if interest rates rise. Due to a rise in interest rates
since June 2021, the year-to-date unrealised gain
was $1.03 million.
Operating expenses for the six-month period
were $88k below budget. This variance is the
consequence of:
•	Issuance and on-lending costs (excluding AIL)
at $1.308 million were $46k below budget. A
lower NZDM Liquidity Facility fee was offset by
higher legal expenses and NZX fees due to the
additional amount of bond issuance.
•	Operating costs at $2.135 million were $48k
below budget due to lower operating
overhead, travel and IT costs offset by higher
personnel costs relative to budget.
•	Approved Issuer Levy (AIL) payments of $325k
were in line with budget. We pay AIL on behalf
of offshore investors at the time of semiannual coupon payment for a small number of
LGFA bond maturities.
Meet or exceed the Performance Targets.
As at 31 December 2021, we forecast we are on
track to achieve eight out of the 10 performance
targets by 30 June 2022.
Comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act
2015.
LGFA has a Health and Safety Staff Committee
which is chaired by the Risk and Compliance
Manager and reports to the LGFA Board on a
regular basis. There were no Health and Safety
incidents during the six months.
Over the Covid lockdown period, Auckland and
Wellington based staff worked from home as
required and we have adopted safety protocols
to minimise risks to staff on returning to our
offices. All staff, directors and visitors are required
to hold a valid vaccine passport before entering
LGFA offices.

2. This includes Auckland Council borrowing both in its own name and through LGFA and recognising that the amount of
borrowing by Auckland Council from LGFA is restricted by the Foundation Policy covenants.
3. Source: PwC Local Government Debt Report

Performance against objectives LGFA Half Year Report 2021 11

Item 11.1 - Attachment 5

Page 105

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

Comply with the Shareholder Foundation Policies
and the Board-approved Treasury Policy at all
times.
There were no compliance breaches during the six
month period.
Assist the local government sector with
significant matters such as COVID -19 response
and the proposed Three Waters Reform
Programme.
Over the six months, LGFA:
•	Contributed expertise to the Ratepayer
Financing Scheme project that, if successful,
could offer temporary financial relief to
ratepayers via rates postponement.
•	Provided a Standby Facility product that
will provide greater certainty of access to
emergency funding for councils at a lower cost
than going to traditional bank providers. This
has been well supported by councils with $522
million of standbys written with nine councils.

11 April 2022

•	Established a Sustainability Committee,
comprising:
•	Three LGFA staff members and
•	Four external members - Alison Howard,
Chris Thurston, David Woods and Erica
Miles.
•	Launched a GSS lending programme for
council and CCO members. Projects that meet
one of 16 green or social lending categories are
now eligible for a discounted loan margin. As
at December 2021, Wellington City (WCC) and
Greater Wellington Regional (GWRC) Councils
have borrowed under this programme
•	WCC financed the construction of ‘Takina’,
the Wellington Convention and Exhibition
Centre.
•	GWRC financed the flood protection work
on the RiverLink project in the Hutt Valley.

•	Outlined its views on the proposed Three
Waters Reform for the Shareholders Council
and this was distributed to all council
members.
Improve sustainability outcomes within LGFA
and assist the local government sector in
achieving their sustainability and climate change
objectives.
LGFA has:
•	Appointed a Head of Sustainability.
•	Achieved Carbon zero certification from Toitū
Envirocare.

The Waimakariri River has been the site of many
recent biodiversity projects and planting days.
Environment Canterbury
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Performance Targets
Performance measure

Result for the six month
period to 31 December 2021

LGFA net interest income for the period to June 2022 will be
greater than $19.1 million

$9.7m

Annual issuance and operating expenses (excluding AIL)
will be less than $7.2 million

$3.4m

Total nominal lending (short and long term) to
participating councils to be at least $13,294 million

$13.513 million

Conduct an annual survey of councils and achieve 85%
satisfaction score as to the value added by LGFA to council
borrowing activities

August 2021 survey outcome
of 99.2%

Meet all lending requests from PLAs

100%

Achieve 80% market share of all council borrowing in New
Zealand

79%

Review each Participating Borrower’s financial position, its
headroom under LGFA policies and arrange to meet each
Participating Borrower at least annually

Council meetings to total 74
over year. Financial position
and headroom review
completed.

No breaches of Treasury Policy, any regulatory or
legislative requirements including the Health and Safety at
Work Act 2015

No breaches

Successfully refinance of existing loans to councils and
LGFA bond maturities as they fall due

100%

Maintain a credit rating equal to the New Zealand
Government rating where both entities are rated by the
same credit rating entity

AA+/AAA

Outcome
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Financial statements
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the six months ended 31 December 2021 in $000s
Note

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

Interest income

185,886

190,375

Interest expense

176,709

180,523

Net interest income

4

9,178

9,852

Other operating income

5

526

5

9,704

9,857

3,769

3,938

Net operating profit

5,935

5,918

Total comprehensive income

5,935

5,918

Total operating income
Operating expenses

6

Statement of changes in equity
For the six months ended 31 December 2021 in $000s
Note

Share
capital

Retained
earnings

Total equity

25,000

58,616

83,616

Net operating profit

12,007

12,007

Total comprehensive income for the year

12,007

12,007

-

-

(879)

(879)

69,744

94,744

Net operating profit

5,935

5,935

Total comprehensive income for the half year

5,935

5,935

-

-

(857)

(857)

74,822

99,822

Equity as at 1 July 2020

Transactions with owners
Dividend paid on 4 September 2020
Equity as at 1 July 2021

25,000

Transactions with owners
Dividend paid on 3 September 2021
Unaudited closing balance as at 31 December 2021

17

25,000

These statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
The Board of Directors of the New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited authorised these
statements for issue on 28 February 2022.

Craig Stobo, Director
Board Chair

Linda Robertson, Director
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2021 in $000s
Note

Unaudited as at
31 December 2021

Audited as at
30 June 2021

42

43,587

374,236

391,835

1,385,022

768,453

Deposits

841,628

654,961

Derivatives in gain

246,072

559,635

13,513,127

12,065,668

1,002

683

218

345

16,361,346

14,485,167

25,000

25,000

68,887

69,744

5,935

-

99,822

94,744

Assets
Financial assets
Receivables
Cash and bank balances
Marketable securities

Loans

8

Non-financial assets
Prepayments
Other assets

9

Total assets
Equity
Share capital

16

Retained earnings
Total comprehensive income for the period
Total equity
Liabilities
Financial liabilities
Payables and provisions

10

93,014

40,900

Bills

11

534,258

609,624

Bond repurchases

12

225,850

110,220

415,046

187,098

Derivatives in loss
Bonds

13

14,732,861

13,217,759

Borrower notes

14

259,934

224,281

15

561

539

Total liabilities

16,261,524

14,390,422

Total equity and liabilities

16,361,346

14,485,167

Non-financial liabilities
Other liabilities
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Statement of cash flows
For the six months ended 31 December 2021 in $000s
Note

Unaudited six
months ended 31
December 2021

Unaudited six
months ended 31
December 2020

(1,427,636)

(1,420,594)

(215,363)

(212,221)

(1,591)

(1,149)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Cash applied to loans

8

Interest paid on bonds issued
Interest paid on bills issued
Interest paid on borrower notes

(212)

(137)

Interest paid on bond repurchases

(254)

(599)

76,952

77,156

1,031

377

Interest received from marketable securities

5,624

5,376

Interest received from deposits

2,206

2,978

136,753

139,963

526

-

(3,927)

(4,172)

(1,425,888)

(1,413,023)

Purchase of marketable securities

(594,958)

(27,701)

Purchase of deposits

(185,743)

(140,161)

-

-

(780,701)

(167,862)

2,096,802

2,026,534

(75,367)

(34,910)

Cash proceeds from bond repurchases

158,143

(165,546)

Cash proceeds from borrower notes

35,509

37,876

(857)

(878)

(25,240)

(124,161)

2,188,991

1,738,914

Net (decrease) / increase in cash

(17,599)

158,029

Cash, Cash Equivalents and at beginning of year

391,835

165,826

Cash and cash equivalents at end of half year

374,236

323,854

Interest received from loans
Interest received from cash & cash equivalents

Net interest on derivatives
Cash proceeds from provision of standby facilities
Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash flow from operating activities

18

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment
Net cash flow from investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash proceeds from bonds issued
Cash proceeds from bills issued

Dividends paid
Cash applied to derivatives
Net cash flow from financing activities

13
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Notes to the financial
statements

Changes in accounting policies

1. Reporting entity

Early adoption standards and interpretations

The New Zealand Local Government Funding
Agency Limited (LGFA) is a company registered
under the Companies Act 1993 and is subject to the
requirements of the Local Government Act 2002.
LGFA is controlled by participating local
authorities and is a council-controlled
organisation as defined under section 6 of the
Local Government Act 2002. LGFA is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in
New Zealand.
The primary objective of LGFA is to optimise
the debt funding terms and conditions for
participating borrowers.
The registered address of LGFA is Level 8, City
Chambers, 142 Featherston Street, Wellington
Central, Wellington 6011.
These financial statements were authorised for
issue by the Directors on 28 February 2022.

2. Statement of compliance
The interim financial statements are for the six
months ended 31 December 2021 and are to be
read in conjunction with the annual report for the
year ended 30 June 2021.
The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with New Zealand Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP) and
in compliance with NZ IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting.

3. Basis of preparation
Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on
a historical cost basis modified by the revaluation
of certain assets and liabilities.
The financial statements are prepared on an
accrual basis.
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in New
Zealand dollars rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless separately identified. The functional
currency of LGFA is New Zealand dollars.
Foreign currency conversions
Transactions denominated in foreign currency
are translated into New Zealand dollars using
exchange rates applied on the trade date of the
transaction.

There have been no changes to accounting
policies.

LGFA has not early adopted any standards.
Standards not yet adopted
LGFA does not consider any standards or
interpretations in issue but not yet effective
to have a significant impact on its financial
statements.
Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets, other than derivatives, are
recognised initially at fair value plus transaction
costs and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
bank accounts and deposits with an original
maturity of no more than three months.
Purchases and sales of all financial assets are
accounted for at trade date.
At each balance date, an expected credit loss
assessment is performed for all financial assets
and is calculated as either:
•	Credit losses that may arise from default events
that are possible within the next 12 months,
where no significant increase in credit risk has
arisen since acquisition of the asset, or
•	Credit losses that may arise from default events
that are possible over the expected life of the
financial asset, where a significant increase in
credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the
asset.
Impairment losses on financial assets will
ordinarily be recognised on initial recognition as
a 12-month expected loss allowance and move
to a lifetime expected loss allowance if there
is a significant deterioration in credit risk since
acquisition.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities, other than derivatives, are
recognised initially at fair value less transaction
costs and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.
Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are recognised
both initially and subsequently at fair value.
They are reported as either assets or liabilities
depending on whether the derivative is in a net
gain or net loss position respectively.
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Fair value hedge

Interest expense

Where a derivative qualifies as a hedge of the
exposure to changes in fair value of an asset or
liability (fair value hedge) any gain or loss on the
derivative is recognised in profit and loss together
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged
asset or liability.

Interest expense is accrued using the effective
interest rate method.

The carrying amount of the hedged item is
adjusted by the fair value gain or loss on the
hedged item in respect of the risk being hedged.
Effective parts of the hedge are recognised in the
same area of profit and loss as the hedged item.
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are
initially recorded at cost.
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at
rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation
of an item of property, plant and equipment, less
any estimated residual value, over its remaining
useful life.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise software and project
costs incurred for the implementation of the
treasury management system. Capitalised
computer software costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of the software (three to seven years). Costs
associated with maintaining computer software
are recognised as expenses.

The effective interest rate exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability to that
liability’s net carrying amount. The method
applies this rate to the principal outstanding to
determine interest expense each period.
Income tax
LGFA is exempt from income tax under Section 14
of the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011.
Goods and services tax
All items in the financial statements are presented
exclusive of goods and service tax (GST),
except for receivables and payables, which are
presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is
not recoverable as input tax, then it is recognised
as part of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, the IRD is included as part of receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD,
including the GST relating to investing and
financing activities, is classified as a net operating
cash flow in the statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed
exclusive of GST.
Segment reporting

Other liabilities

LGFA operates in one segment being funding of
participating borrowers in New Zealand.

Employee entitlements

Judgements and estimations

Employee entitlements to salaries and wages,
annual leave and other similar benefits are
recognised in the profit and loss when they
accrue to employees.

The preparation of these financial statements
requires judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts. For example, the fair value
of financial instruments depends critically on
judgements regarding future cash flows, including
inflation assumptions and the risk-free discount
rate.

Revenue
Interest income
Interest income is accrued using the effective
interest rate method.
The effective interest rate exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s
net carrying amount. The method applies this rate
to the principal outstanding to determine interest
income each period.
Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the period to which
they relate.

The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may
differ from these estimates and these estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Where these judgements
significantly affect the amounts recognised in the
financial statements they are described in the
following notes.
The financial statements as at 31 December
2021 include estimates and judgements of the
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potential impact of COVID-19 and the Three
Waters Reform Programme on LGFA’s financial
position and performance. Whilst there has
been no material impact on the estimates
and judgements at the date these financial
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statements are authorised, it is noted that there
is significant uncertainty with regards to the
medium and long-term effects of COVID-19, as
well as the outcome of Three Waters Reform
Programme on the local government sector.

Revenue and expenditure
4. Net interest income
in $000s

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

Interest income
Cash and cash equivalents

1,036

385

Marketable securities

4,259

1,911

Deposits

3,129

3,493

Derivatives

90,015

107,810

Loans

87,447

76,776

-

-

185,886

190,375

1,591

1,149

319

325

5

9

173,439

177,963

1,355

1,077

176,709

180,523

9,178

9,852

Fair value hedge ineffectiveness
Total interest income
Interest expense
Bills
Bond repurchase transactions
Lease liability
Bonds
Borrower notes
Total interest expense

Net interest income

5. Other operating income
As at 31 December 2021, LGFA had provided credit standby facilities totalling $522 million to selected
councils. As at balance date, there were no drawdowns outstanding under the facilities.
in $000s

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

Standby facilities fee income

526

5

Total other operating income

526

5
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6. Operating expenses
in $000s

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

Approved issuer levy

325

593

Rating agency fees

324

311

NZDMO facility fee

250

308

Legal fees - issuance

225

294

NZX

390

340

Trustee fees

51

50

Regulatory, registry, other fees

68

97

1,633

1,993

399

367

95

16

Issuance and on-lending expenses

Other operating expenses
Information technology
Consultants
Directors fees

212

200

Insurance

43

42

Legal fees

51

95

136

159

55

54

-

-

1,145

1,012

2,135

1,945

3,769

3,938

Other expenses
Auditors’ remuneration
Statutory audit
Advisory services
Personnel

Total operating expenses
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7. Hedge accounting
LGFA is exposed to interest rate risk from its borrowing, lending and investment activities and uses
interest rate swaps to manage this risk. For hedge accounting purposes, LGFA has designated these
swaps in fair value relationships to its fixed rate borrowings, loans and investments.
The following table shows the gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk for fair value hedge relationships.
in $000s

Unaudited
gain/(loss)
for the six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited
gain/(loss)
for the six
months ended
31 December
2020

Hedging instruments – interest rate swaps

520,010

635,001

Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk

(520,010)

(635,001)

-

-

Ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss from fair value hedges

The gains or losses on the hedging instrument (interest rate swaps) and the hedged item (bonds,
loans and investments) are mapped to the same fair value account. For this reason, the statement of
comprehensive income will only report any ineffectiveness arising from the fair value hedge.
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8. Loans
in $000s

Ashburton District Council
Auckland Council
Bay of Plenty Regional Council
Buller District Council
Canterbury Regional Council

Unaudited as at
31 December 2021
Short-term
Loans
loans

Audited as at
30 June 2021
Short-term
Loans
loans

10,021

60,757

10,011

60,723

-

3,381,550

-

3,303,915

25,477

161,153

25,428

155,995

-

20,007

-

20,005

4,008

62,189

4,003

59,133

Carterton District Council

4,013

12,752

-

-

Central Hawkes Bay District Council

2,011

20,108

-

20,107

Christchurch City Council

2,003

2,083,566

14,533

1,951,017

Clutha District Council

2,005

20,061

2,004

16,042

Far North District Council

-

71,810

-

51,702

Gisborne District Council

-

80,946

-

68,774

6,016

26,585

6,011

26,563

-

540,335

-

450,945

3,993

21,670

3,995

21,642

Gore District Council
Greater Wellington Regional Council
Grey District Council
Hamilton City Council

-

591,533

-

481,019

Hastings District Council

-

228,619

-

205,357

Hauraki District Council

-

48,139

-

44,101

Hawkes Bay Regional Council

-

29,939

-

18,868

Horizons Regional Council

11,992

42,228

11,991

37,194

Horowhenua District Council

16,014

118,260

16,000

92,178

Hurunui District Council

8,018

30,081

8,002

30,062

Hutt City Council

-

261,416

-

201,225

Invercargill City Council

-

68,677

-

68,666

Invercargill City Holdings Ltd

29,937

60,054

-

-

Kaikoura District Council

-

5,016

-

5,014

Kaipara District Council

-

44,132

-

44,088

-

250,572

-

230,366

11,546

74,153

11,522

72,681

Kapiti Coast District Council
Manawatu District Council
Marlborough District Council

30,243

87,179

30,226

73,136

Masterton District Council

-

56,650

-

48,609

Matamata-Piako District Council

-

30,097

-

26,567

Nelson City Council

-

105,255

-

90,146

New Plymouth District Council

-

181,117

-

169,999

Northland Regional Council

-

14,148

-

14,147

Opotiki District Council

-

8,590

-

8,600

Otorohanga District Council

-

-

-

-
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Palmerston North City Council
Porirua City Council
Queenstown Lakes District Council
Rangitikei District Council

11 April 2022

Unaudited as at
31 December 2021
Short-term
Loans
loans 1

Audited as at
30 June 2021
Short-term
Loans
loans

-

177,476

-

152,314

-

156,927

-

141,794

50,113

210,612

25,030

130,333

-

3,020

-

3,020

Rotorua District Council

12,850

245,204

12,823

215,034

Ruapehu District Council

8,010

21,497

8,005

21,474

Selwyn District Council

-

65,180

-

60,129

South Taranaki District Council

-

95,284

-

95,210

South Waikato District Council

13,975

20,046

8,987

15,030

Southland District Council

19,996

16,819

-

-

South Wairarapa District Council

-

24,526

-

24,520

Stratford District Council

-

22,273

-

22,271

Taranaki Regional Council

1,993

8,528

4,999

-

Tararua District Council

-

46,135

-

44,100

Tasman District Council

24,065

176,151

27,037

152,035

Taupo District Council

-

135,302

-

125,177

Tauranga City Council

-

657,330

-

516,688

Thames-Coromandel District Council

-

73,216

-

61,145

22,571

117,402

22,529

117,181

Timaru District Council
Upper Hutt City Council

2,999

74,225

-

65,153

Waikato District Council

4,983

90,277

-

80,189

Waikato Regional Council

-

32,098

-

32,082

Waimakariri District Council

-

170,642

-

170,506

24,533

105,282

8,000

90,123

-

8,042

-

8,041

Waipa District Council
Wairoa District Council
Waitaki District Council (WD)
Waitomo District Council
Wellington City Council

2,497

17,542

2,498

12,523

7,011

24,052

4,003

30,045
792,505

-

1,009,389

-

2,003

6,611

2,001

6,610

Western Bay Of Plenty District Council

-

70,209

-

70,154

Westland District Council

-

24,880

-

21,858

Whakatane District Council

-

82,265

-

77,203

Whanganui District Council

7,513

100,362

7,507

94,289

Whangarei District Council

9,986

162,416

9,993

162,296

-

(19,835)

-

(1,091)

382,396

13,130,731

287,140

11,778,528

West Coast Regional Council

Fair value hedge adjustment

1. As at 31 December 2021, $1,751 million of loans are due to mature within 12 months. This comprises all
short-term loans and $1,369 million of loans.
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9. Other assets
in $000s

Unaudited as
at 31 December
2021

Audited as at
30 June
2021

79

154

Right-of-use lease asset

139

190

Total other assets

218

345

Intangible assets1

1. Intangible assets comprise acquired and internally developed software costs incurred on the
implementation of LGFA’s treasury management system.

10. Payables and provisions
in $000s

Unaudited as
at 31 December
2021

Audited as at
30 June
2021

Loans to be advanced

68,000

40,000

Unsettled investments

24,000

-

Trade creditors

576

658

Credit provision

265

193

Other provisions

172

49

93,014

40,900

Total receivables

11. Bills
Unaudited as at
31 December 2021 in $000’s

Face value

Unamortised
premium

Accrued
interest

Total

12 January 2022

70,000

-

(10)

69,990

18 January 2022

55,000

-

(17)

54,983

3 February 2022

25,000

-

(18)

24,982

9 February 2022

80,000

-

(70)

79,930

1 March 2022

50,000

-

(72)

49,928

11 March 2022

70,000

-

(107)

69,893

15 March 2022

50,000

-

(88)

49,912

21 March 2022

27,000

-

(54)

26,946

7 April 2022

65,000

-

(142)

64,858

13 May 2022

43,000

-

(164)

42,836

535,000

-

(742)

534,258
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Audited as at
30 June 2021 in $000’s
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Face value

Unamortised
premium

Accrued
interest

Total

7 July 2021

20,000

-

(1)

19,999

15 July 2021

110,000

-

(13)

109,987

5 August 2021

25,000

-

(8)

24,992

11 August 2021

80,000

-

(29)

79,971

10 September 2021

75,000

-

(46)

74,954

17 September 2021

150,000

-

(95)

149,905

6 October 2021

20,000

-

(20)

19,980

14 October 2021

55,000

-

(57)

54,943

10 November 2021

50,000

-

(73)

49,927

8 December 2021

25,000

-

(34)

24,966

610,000

-

(376)

609,624

12. Treasury stock and bond repurchases
Periodically, LGFA subscribes for LGFA bonds as part of its tender process and holds these bonds as
treasury stock. LGFA bonds held by LGFA as treasury stock are derecognised at the time of issue and no
liability is recognised in the statement of financial position. As at 31 December 2021, $1,200 million of LFGA
bonds had been subscribed as treasury stock.
LGFA makes these treasury stock bonds available to banks authorised as its tender counterparties to
borrow under short-term repurchase transactions. The objective of the bond lending facility is to assist
with improving secondary market liquidity in LGFA bonds. Bonds lent to counterparties are disclosed as a
separate stock lending liability on the face of the statement of financial position.
As at 31 December 2021, bond repurchase transactions comprised:
in $000s

Unaudited as
at 31 December
2021

Audited as
at 30 June
2021

14 April 2022

15,163

-

15 April 2023

84,569

32,887

15 April 2024

10,033

-

15 April 2025

20,244

-

15 April 2026

3,826

-

15 April 2027

60,371

-

15 May 2028

4,852

-

20 April 2029

10,963

33,810

15 May 2031

9,505

-

14 April 2033

6,324

38,957

15 May 2035

-

-

15 April 2037

-

4,566

225,850

110,220
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13. Bonds
Bonds on issue do not include $1,200 million face value of issued LGFA bonds subscribed by LGFA and held
as treasury stock. Refer Note 12: Treasury stock and bond repurchase transactions.
Unaudited as at
31 December 2021
in $000’s

Face Value

Unamortised
premium

Accrued
interest

Fair value
hedge
adjustment

Total

Fixed interest bonds
14 April 2022

1,605,000

5,592

9,579

15 April 2023

1,750,000

38,281

20,625

15 April 2024

1,648,000

14,928

7,946

15 April 2025

1,619,000

(13,109)

9,541

15 April 2026

1,390,000

3,296

4,468

15 April 2027

1,631,000

90,026

15,728

15 May 2028

700,000

(5,440)

2,045

20 April 2029

1,272,000

(13,369)

3,826

15 May 2031

730,000

(4,336)

2,133

14 April 2033

1,260,000

46,048

9,571

15 May 2035

400,000

2,234

1,558

15 April 2037

730,000

(13,169)

3,129

14,735,000

150,984

90,148

(373,638)

14,602,493

130,000

(20)

388

-

130,368

14,865,000

150,964

90,536

(373,638)

14,732,861

Face Value

Unamortised
premium

Accrued
interest

Fair value
hedge
adjustment

Total

Total fixed interest
Floating rate notes
14 October 2022
Total
Audited as at
30 June 2021
in $000’s
Fixed interest bonds
14 April 2022

1,605,000

15,527

9,406

15 April 2023

1,660,000

46,296

19,208

15 April 2024

1,528,000

17,466

7,233

15 April 2025

1,469,000

(20,190)

8,499

15 April 2026

1,240,000

6,911

3,913

15 April 2027

1,486,000

82,140

14,068

20 April 2029

1,172,000

(10,512)

3,458

15 May 2031

650,000

(4,966)

1,868

14 April 2033

1,170,000

37,817

8,727

15 April 2037

700,000

(8,443)

2,945

12,680,000

162,045

79,326

166,138

13,087,509

130,000

(33)

283

-

130,250

12,810,000

162,012

79,610

166,138

13,217,759

Total fixed interest
Floating rate notes
14 October 2022
Total
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14. Borrower notes
Borrower notes are subordinated debt instruments which are required to be held by each local authority
that borrows from LGFA in an amount equal to a fixed percentage of the aggregate borrowings by that
local authority. The fixed percentage is 2.5% for loans issued from 1 July 2020. Prior to this date, the fixed
percentage was 1.6%.
LGFA may convert borrower notes into redeemable shares if it has made calls for all unpaid capital to be
paid in full and the LGFA Board determines it is still at risk of imminent default.

15. Other liabilities
in $000s

Unaudited as
at 31 December
2021

Audited as
at 30 June
2020

Lease liability

139

190

Accruals

422

349

Total receivables

561

539

Capital and dividends
16. Share capital
As at 31 December 2021, LGFA had 45 million ordinary shares on issue, 20 million of which remain uncalled.
All ordinary shares rank equally with one vote attached to each ordinary share. Ordinary shares have a
face value of $1 per share.
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17. Shareholder information
Registered holders of equity securities
New Zealand Government

As at 31 December 2021

As at 30 June 2021

5,000,000

11.1%

5,000,000

11.1%

Auckland Council

3,731,960

8.3%

3,731,960

8.3%

Christchurch City Council

3,731,960

8.3%

3,731,960

8.3%

Hamilton City Council

3,731,960

8.3%

3,731,960

8.3%

Bay of Plenty Regional Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Greater Wellington Regional Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Tasman District Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Tauranga City Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Wellington City Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Western Bay of Plenty District Council

3,731,958

8.3%

3,731,958

8.3%

Whangarei District Council

1,492,784

3.3%

1,492,784

3.3%

746,392

1.7%

746,392

1.7%

400,000

0.9%

400,000

0.9%

373,196

0.8%

373,196

0.8%

Gisborne District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Hauraki District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Horowhenua District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Hutt City Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Kapiti Coast District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Manawatu District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Masterton District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

New Plymouth District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Otorohanga District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Palmerston North City Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

South Taranaki District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Taupo District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Thames - Coromandel District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Waimakariri District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Waipa District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Whakatane District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

Whanganui District Council

200,000

0.4%

200,000

0.4%

45,000,000

100%

45,000,000

100%

Hastings District Council
Marlborough District Council
Selwyn District Council
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Other Notes
18. Reconciliation of net profit to net cash flow from operating activities
in $000s

Net profit/(loss) for the period
Cash applied to loans

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2021

Unaudited six
months ended
31 December
2020

5,935

5,918

(1,427,636)

(1,420,594)

(3,955)

1,937

13

149

Non-cash adjustments
Amortisation and depreciation
Working capital movements
Net change in trade debtors and receivables
Net change in prepayments

(319)

(321)

73

(113)

(1,425,888)

(1,413,023)

Net change in accruals
Net Cash From Operating Activities

19. Related parties
Identity of related parties
LGFA is related to the local authorities set out in
the Shareholder Information in note 16.
LGFA operates under an annual Statement
of Intent that sets out the intentions and
expectations for LGFA’s operations and lending to
participating borrowers.
Shareholding local authorities, and nonshareholder local authorities who borrow
more than $20 million, are required to enter
into a guarantee when they join or participate
in LGFA. The guarantee is in respect of the
payment obligations of other guaranteeing local
authorities to the LGFA (cross guarantee) and of
the LGFA itself.

Related party transactions
LGFA was established for the purpose of raising
funds from the market to lend to participating
borrowers. The lending to individual councils
is disclosed in note 8, and interest income
recognised on this lending is shown in the
statement of comprehensive income.
The purchase of LGFA borrower notes by
participating borrowers. Refer note 14.
The Treasury (New Zealand Debt Management)
provides LGFA with a committed credit facility and
is LGFA’s derivatives counterparty.
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Directory
Rārangi tauwaea
Postal address

Main Phone

P.O. Box 5704
Lambton Quay
Wellington 6145

+64 4 974 6530

Office Hours
Monday through Friday,
09.00-17.00 hrs
Except Public Holidays

General Enquiries
lgfa@lgfa.co.nz

Staff E-Mail Addresses
firstname.lastname@lgfa.co.nz
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LGFA

New Zealand Local
Government Funding Agency
Te Pūtea Kāwanatanga ā-rohe

lgfa.co.nz
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Statement of Intent
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1. Foreword
I have pleasure, on behalf of Bay Venues Limited (Bay Venues), in introducing an updated Statement
of Intent (SOI) for the 2022/2023 year.
As Tauranga City Council’s (TCC) largest Council Controlled Organisation (CCO), Bay Venues play a
major role in contributing to the wellbeing of the people of Tauranga Moana. We are the kaitiaki of a
strategic network of community facilities. Our facilities and the experiences we provide, enhance the
quality of life for residents of, and visitors to, Tauranga Moana and the Bay of Plenty.
This Statement of Intent (SOI) is presented in accordance with the requirement of Section 64 (i) of the
Local Government Act 2002 and incorporates the expectations of TCC as outlined in the revised
Enduring Statement of Expectations adopted in December 2018 along with the annual Letter of
Expectations dated 13 December 2021. It outlines Bay Venues objectives, nature and scope of
activities undertaken, and the performance targets by which we will be measured for the year 1 July
2022 to 30 June 2023.
This is the first SOI produced by the new Bay Venues Board that was appointed in July 2021.
It is fair to say that the last 6-8 months has been a difficult time for the Bay Venues business. However,
despite the challenges of the current trading environment highlighted by the Covid pandemic, we wish
to assure TCC that the Board, executive and staff of Bay Venues remain fully committed to delivering
exceptional outcomes to the people and communities of Tauranga Moana. The Board is also pleased
with the strategic re-focusing work that has been completed to date and the recruitment of new CEO,
Chad Hooker.
This document will outline Bay Venues strategic approach to meeting Council’s expectation of driving
significant benefits for the community.
The organisation has had its most difficult year ever during 2021/22 with Covid restrictions taking a
heavy toll on financial and operational performance Restrictions throughout the year have included a
three-week lockdown, capacity limits on all venues and the expectation that events of over 100 people
will be prohibited for the second half of the 2021/22 year. All of this has not only had a negative impact
on Bay Venues finances, but it has also had a major negative impact on the confidence of activity and
event organisers more generally as well as the general public.
It is anticipated that the business may take some time to recover to pre-Covid performance, but we
remain hopeful that we will shortly be through the worst of things and that the situation will start to
improve in 2022/23. However, given the ever-changing landscape that government restrictions in
response to the Covid pandemic have on our operations and our customers, we would welcome the
opportunity to view this SOI as a ‘living document’ as we move through the year.

Simon Clarke
Chair
Bay Venues Limited

3
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2. Strategic Vision and Purpose
[Note: Bay Venues is in the process of refreshing its Vision, Mission, Purpose and Values to ensure the
organisation is focused to deliver on our role within the community and Strategic Outcomes. The
concepts below are an early draft of where we are heading, and this will be finalised before the final
SOI is adopted. We welcome any feedback.]

Our Vision
The people of Tauranga Moana and beyond are fiercely proud of our vibrant community venues.

Our Mission
We are the kaitiaki of Tauranga Moana’s strategic network of community facilities.

Our Purpose
Connecting our community through exceptional experiences.

Our Values
Engaging Experiences - exceptional service, making it relevant, respect & professionalism, curating
joyful experiences, encouraging play, an enjoyable place to work
Connecting Communities – a spirit of partnership and collaboration, facilitating connections,
providing spaces to gather and celebrate, supporting people when it’s needed, one interaction at a
time, showing leadership
Creating Great – being bold, taking ownership, striving for excellence, driving innovation, leading the
industry, sparking creativity
We acknowledge TCC’s Purpose and Values and will ensure our Bay Venues strategic focus is aligned
with this.

TCC Purpose
We’re here to make Tauranga better.

TCC Values
Pono / Integrity – We do what we say we will do.
Manaakitanga / Respect – We listen to all views and show we care.
Whaia te Tika / Service – We do the right thing for the community and each other.
Whanaungatanga / Collaboration – We work together and create connections.

4
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Nature and Scope of Activities

Bay Venues core business is venue ownership and management of community facilities and the
operation of venue-based businesses, programmes and services. Bay Venues is also in the business of
providing event services and hosting events within its venues.
Assets under Bay Venues management are worth approximately $125 million and the business
employs over 320 full time, fixed term, part-time, and casual staff.
We welcomed over 2.1 million visitors to our facilities in the 2019/20 year, a reduced number of 1.6
million users in 2020/2021 and 1.4 million (projected) in 2021/22 because of Covid. We will continue
to work hard to welcome members of our community and visitors to our facilities during 2022/2023.
Bay Venues owns and/or manages twenty-four facilities comprising five aquatic facilities, a Stadium
and ancillary buildings at Baypark, one large contemporary multi-purpose recreation and event centre,
two indoor sports recreation facilities, three community centres, two community share facilities, eight
community halls and a high-performance sports training centre.
Aquatic Facilities
(5)
Baywave

Community Halls & Centres Indoor Sports Facilities
(11)
(5)
Arataki Community Centre

Trustpower Arena

Elizabeth St Community Centre

QEYC & Memorial Hall

Papamoa Community Centre
Papamoa Sports & Rec Centre
Bethlehem Hall
Matua Hall
Greerton Hall
Welcome Bay Hall
Tauriko Hall
Waipuna Park Pavilion
Cliff Rd Building

Mount Sports Centre
Aquinas Action Centre
Merivale Action Centre

Mount Hot Pools

Greerton Pools
Memorial Pool
Otumoetai Pool

Other
(3)
Trustpower Baypark
Stadium
University of Waikato
Adams Centre for High
Performance
Pavilions

5
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Aquatic Facilities
Baywave
This is an aquatic and leisure centre, recognized regionally as providing a variety of recreational &
leisure, competition, aquatic education, exercise, health & wellbeing activities. The configuration of
the lap pool also accommodates synchronised swimming, water polo and underwater hockey as well
as regional and national aquatic events. The venue is home to a number of water-based sporting
clubs/squads. In 2019 the facility underwent a comprehensive maintenance closure which included
the installation of an aqua play facility for children.
Several secondary business units operate within the complex which are complimentary to the overall
purpose of the facility:
• Learn to Swim (including water safety lessons)
• Clubfit (health & fitness club)
• Café
• Merchandise
• Massage Therapy

Mount Hot Pools
An iconic and unique hot saltwater facility and world-class tourist attraction, providing rest, relaxation,
and rejuvenation/rehabilitation for a broad range of visitors. The Mount Hot Pools also provides
several physical therapy options for the general public including massage therapy, aqua walking and
aquarobics.

Greerton Aquatic & Leisure Centre
An aquatic and leisure centre, providing a variety of fun, safe, well-maintained aquatic and therapy
activities for the general public (primarily local). The 18m hydrotherapy pool is popular for rehab and
senior adults. Aquatic Evolution Tauranga are anchor tenants of the facility. Other activities which
complement the centre include:
• Learn to Swim (including water safety lessons)
• Aqua aerobics
• Clubfit (health & fitness club)
The facility is currently undergoing an extensive refurbishment including new non-slip flooring,
seismic strengthening, new changing facilities and a reconfigured entrance. In addition will be new
signage and repainting the pools and interior and exterior of the facility.

Memorial Pool
An outdoor seasonal facility with a lap and learners pool, BBQ facilities and green space, providing a
safe, clean, maintained environment for families and recreational swimmers to enjoy during the
summer months.

Otumoetai Pool
Otumoetai Pool provides a safe, clean, well-maintained facility servicing the local community, in
particular the neighbouring College during school hours and the anchor tenants, Evolution Aquatics
Tauranga who are high users of the facility.

BaySwim
Bay Venues delivers a quality Learn to Swim programme catering for all ages at Baywave and Greerton
Aquatic and Leisure Centres. In addition, BaySwim also provides Water Safety Education for primary
school groups as part of our funded Water Safety NZ’s ‘Water Safety for Life’ programme.
6
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Indoor Sports Facilities
Trustpower Arena
The Trustpower Arena is the key sporting venue for indoor sports such as basketball, volleyball, futsal
and premier netball. The six-court side of the facility has a focus on community sport while the threecourt facility also gets used extensively for community sport when not being used to host events. The
facility also provides a range of pay for play sports leagues and programmes that service the
community. Within the facility is a licensed café providing quality food and beverage service.

Aquinas Action Centre (Community Share Facility)
Situated on the grounds of Aquinas College, the facility features a single court gymnasium suitable for
hosting sport, recreational and cultural activities outside of agreed school access hours.

Merivale Action Centre (Community Share Facility)
This facility is located on the grounds of Merivale Primary, it features a single court gymnasium
suitable for hosting sporting / recreational groups and community activities.

Mount Sports Centre
Located at Blake Park, this facility features a single court gymnasium suitable for hosting sporting and
recreational groups, community activities and minor events. The facility is also home to Tauranga City
Basketball’s office.

Queen Elizabeth Youth Centre (including Memorial Hall)
Located at Memorial Park, this facility provides the city with a multi-court venue suitable for hosting
sporting & recreational groups. cultural and community activities. The venue also hosts a variety of
regional and national tournament and events. Pay for play sports leagues and centre-run programmes
are also provided at this venue.

Community Centre-Run Programmes
Bay Venues runs several community focused programmes across the network for pre-schoolers,
children, youth and adults including the popular Tumble Time, Funky Fundays, Oddball, coaching
clinics, sports days, birthday parties, social badminton and more.

Sports Leagues
Bay Venues organises sports leagues both at the Trustpower Arena and Queen Elizabeth Youth Centre
for indoor netball, fastnet, football, and turbo touch.

7
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Community Halls & Centres
Arataki Community Centre
This venue provides a high quality, versatile indoor space of varying sizes and flooring as well as
equipment, to enable community groups to host their activities. During the weekdays, PlayTime hosts
an OSCAR programme at the facility.

Bethlehem Hall
This venue is primarily used for local community groups to host a variety of activities. Private functions
also use this venue.

Cliff Road Building
This building provides a space for hire and is home to No Compromise box fit group and community
dinners. It is also a storage area for the petanque club.

Elizabeth St Community & Arts Centre
This is a facility for community groups to host a variety of activities. It also provides space for
individuals to host private functions.

Greerton Hall
This is a facility for local community groups to host a variety of activities. It also provides space for
individuals to host private functions. Greerton Hall is also used as office space for Greerton Village
Mainstreet.

Matua Hall
This venue provides space for local community groups and individuals to host a variety of activities
and private functions. During the weekdays, PlayTime hosts an OSCAR programme at the facility.

Papamoa Community Centre (at the Library)
This venue provides a high quality, versatile indoor space of varying sizes and flooring as well as
equipment, to enable community groups to host their activities. During the weekdays, PlayTime hosts
an OSCAR programme at the facility. The venue also provides visitors with useful information
including activities and services available in the community.

Papamoa Sports & Recreation Centre
Located at Gordon Spratt Reserve, this indoor facility has rooms of varying sizes as well as a range of
equipment, to enable community groups to host their activities. There is also a commercial kitchen
and licensed bar for groups, businesses and individuals to host functions. During the weekdays,
PlayTime hosts an OSCAR programme at the facility.

Tauriko Hall
This hall provides space for local community groups to host a variety of activities and provides a venue
for individuals to host private functions. During the weekdays, Schools’ Out hosts an OSCAR
programme at the facility.

Waipuna Park Pavilion
This pavilion is for the users of Waipuna Park to utilise for registrations, after match functions and
meetings at no charge. Other community groups can also utilise the facility to host their activities.

8
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Welcome Bay Hall
These venues provide space within the local community for community groups to host a variety of
activities. They also provide space for individuals to host private functions.

9
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Events
Trustpower Arena
In addition to its purpose as a community indoor sports hub, the three-court side of the Arena acts as
the key events facility for the region. When combined with the six-court side of the facility the Arena
is a versatile multi-purpose venue with the ability to host any type of event – from community and
national sporting fixtures through to trade shows, conferences, gala dinners, corporate hospitality and
concerts.

Trustpower Stadium, Baypark
This is Tauranga City’s only significant outdoor stadium. It has the capacity for crowds of up to 18,000
people inclusive of seated and corporate hosting areas. It features a 480-metre oval clay speedway
track and a turf area (inside the track). The primary activity is Speedway race meetings (15-17 per
annum). Trustpower Stadium is also a venue for other events and activities suited to outdoor spaces
(Jetboats, drifting and outdoor concerts etc.). Corporate boxes and a Premium Lounge are also
available for businesses to utilise for hosting, functions or meetings.
Trustpower Baypark is regarded as one of the best equipped Speedway venues in New Zealand with a
fast, wide clay track and a large well serviced pit area. A Promoter is contracted to promote and
operate Speedway events at Baypark.

Trustpower Stadium Lounge
The Stadium Lounge is a self-contained venue adjoined to the Baypark Stadium offering a secure and
private environment to host public and private functions. Suitable for meetings, conferences, gala
dinners, school balls, private functions, weddings and small to medium sized trade shows, this venue
can comfortably accommodate up to 500 people for dinner or 900 for performances. For major
stadium events, this facility offers the client added flexibility for hosting corporate hospitality or pre
and post event activities.

Bay Events
This business unit is primarily responsible for attracting events to Bay Venues facilities. Venue hire,
corporate hospitality, signage, corporate boxes, outdoor space hire and event support make up the
products and services offered by Bay Events.

Bay Catering
This business unit primarily provides catering services at venues managed by Bay Venues as well as
some off-site catering at other venues and events. Bay Catering also operates food and beverage
outlets throughout the Trustpower Baypark venue as well as the cafes at Trustpower Arena and
Baywave. Recently Bay Catering have taken on contracts with the Ministry of Education to provide
school lunches to children at a number of schools throughout the Bay of Plenty.

Bay Audio Visual
A sound, lighting and audio-visual equipment and support business unit that provides services
primarily at the Trustpower Arena, Trustpower Stadium Lounge, Trustpower Stadium and some
external off-site events and venues.

10
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Associated Activities
Bay Venues operates several venue-based business units including:

University of Waikato Adams Centre for High Performance
Based at Blake Park opposite Bay Oval, The University of Waikato Adams Centre for High Performance
is a world-class facility of over 2,500 m2 of state-of-the-art facilities including a 652m2 gym, plunge
pools, physiotherapy, massage and rehabilitation rooms, a sport science laboratory with performance
testing, research and acclimatisation facilities, meeting rooms and an athlete's lounge. It caters for a
wide range of athletes, high performance organisations, sports science research and athlete medical
support services. Current tenants of the Centre include NZ Rugby, BOP Rugby, Body in Motion High
Performance Sports and the University of Waikato.

Clubfit
This is made up of two gymnasiums located at Baywave and Greerton Aquatics Centre. Clubfit
provides support and fitness programming to members who have access to mid to high quality
equipment.

Merchandise
Bay Venues operates small retail outlets at its aquatics facilities selling swimming apparel and
associated products.

BayStation
BayStation is a family entertainment business that operates four different entertainment products
including Blokarts, Drift Trikes, Paintball and Lasertag. The operation complements the range of
activities on offer at Baypark.

11
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Key Areas of Focus for 2022/23

Bay Venues acknowledges TCC’s request to focus our business activity to contribute to the following
TCC Community Outcomes:
▪
▪
▪

We have a well planned city, with specific reference to supporting planning around the
Tauranga Domain, Blake Park and Baypark
We are inclusive, with specific reference to strengthening mana whenua relationships
We value and protect our environment, with specific reference to reducing greenhouse gas
emissions

We also note that TCC have asked Bay Venues to ensure its financial reporting is clear and transparent
and that Board professional development is undertaken.
In FY23 Bay Venues will continue to develop and execute robust business plans and innovative
initiatives that support and deliver the overall objectives of the Bay Venues Strategic Plan.

Key Goals
Primary Goal
1.

Community Benefit – We host a wide range of successful activities
and events (sport, culture, service, recreation and business) within
our facilities that collectively enhance the social, cultural and
economic wellbeing of Tauranga.

2.

High Quality Facilities – Our facilities and assets are safe, well
maintained, professionally managed and fit for purpose.
A High Performing Organisation – We strive for excellence and
foster collaboration and partnership to achieve the best possible
outcomes.

Supporting Goals
3.

Objectives
Community Benefit
1.

4.

Host at least 1.6 million visits to our facilities. We will provide
analysis broken down by: facility type; type of activity; and, type of
visitor.
Host at least TBC events and activities in our facilities across a range
of activity types.
Support at least 10 diversity and inclusion initiatives during the
year.
Achieve a customer feedback rating of >85%.

▪

Develop a Wellbeing Reporting Framework in partnership with TCC.

5.
6.

Have no preventable serious harm incidents in our facilities.
Have no preventable unplanned facility closures.

2.
3.

Strategic Objectives

High Quality Facilities

12
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7.

Deliver our capital and renewals programme to business case.

▪
▪
▪

Develop a long-term Venue Strategy in partnership with TCC.
Develop a Baypark Masterplan in partnership with TCC.
Develop and implement a Sustainability Plan (including a target to
reduce greenhouse gas emission).
Be TCC’s strategic delivery partner for community facilities and work
collaboratively with them on key strategic projects.

Strategic Objectives

▪

A High Performing Organisation
8.
Achieve our budgeted financial result.
9.
Meet regularly with TCC management, key facility users and mana
whenua.
Strategic Objectives
▪
▪
▪
▪

Agree Memorandum’s of Understanding with key Iwi and mana
whenua.
Implement an easily understood and transparent funding and finance
model.
Implement a High Performance Programme for key staff.
Implement a Technology Roadmap.

13
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Performance Measures

a.

Balanced Scorecard

Activity

Target

Community Benefit

Host >1.6 million visits to our facilities.
Host >TBC events and activities.
Support >10 inclusivity & diversity initiatives.
Achieve a customer feedback rating >85%.

High Quality Facilities

11 April 2022

Weighting
50%

No preventable serious harm incidents in our
facilities.
No preventable unplanned facility closures.
Capital and renewals programme on time and
on budget.
A High Performing Organisation Achieve Budgeted EBITDA

20%

Strategic Objectives

10%

All FY23 Strategic Objectives are completed.

20%

14
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Financial

[Note: The FY23 budget will be finalised in May 2022 and included in the final SOI. The FY23, FY24
and FY25 budget numbers noted below are placeholders based on previous budgets. A full detailed
budget is currently being prepared but the initial assumption is a slow recovery from the pandemic in
FY23 with the business returning to a balanced EBITDA budget in FY24.]

Bay Venues Ltd
Profit & Loss
(000's)

Budget 21/22

Forecast 21/22

Draft Budget
22/23

Draft Budget
23/24

Draft Budget
24/25

Total

Total

Total

Total

Total

Revenue
21,416

15,355

19,194

21,113

2,916

3,256

3,448

3,651

3,867

Total Revenue

24,332

18,611

22,642

24,765

26,036

Les s Total expendi ture before i nteres t a nd
Depreci a tion

24,331

22,218

24,218

24,702

25,690

Us er Fees a nd Cha rges
TCC Communi ty Outcome Subs i dy

22,169

1

(3,607)

(1,576)

62

345

BVL Funded Depreci a tion

823

616

677

877

813

BVL funded Debt Servi ci ng

205

414

621

659

724

(1,027)

(4,637)

(2,873)

(1,474)

(1,192)

EBITDA Profit/(Loss)

Suplus/(Deficit) - after BVL capital costs
Add ba ck: Adjus tments for fundi ng
Renewa l s Gra nt

6,782

6,782

7,294

5,098

5,563

Debt Servi ci ng Gra nt

258

258

258

258

258

Debt Retirement Gra nt

194

194

344

344

344
6,883

Les s : Other Depn a nd debt s ervi ci ng
Depreci a tion

5,267

5,267

6,424

6,653

Debt Servi ci ng

380

380

380

380

380

Net Suplus/(Deficit)

561

(3,049)

(1,781)

(3,150)

(2,634)

c. Reporting
Bay Venues is committed to supporting TCC’s strategic priorities and objectives. Bay Venues will
endeavour to respond promptly and appropriately on issues raised by TCC.
Bay Venues will provide TCC with the following information:
i.Statement of Intent (SOI)
Provide TCC with a draft SOI by 1 March 2022 and a final SOI by 30 July 2022
ii.Annual Report
Provide an Annual Report to TCC within two months after the end of the financial year. This
will comply with section 68 of the Local Government Act 2002 and include the following:
a. Board report including summary of the financial results, a report of the
operations, a comparison of performance in relation to objectives and any
recommendation as to dividend;
b. Audited financial statements for the financial year in respect of the Company,
and;
15
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c. The Auditor’s report on:
i.Those financial statements; and
ii.The performance targets and other measures by which performance has
been judged in relation to the objectives.
d. The audited financial statements shall consist of:
i.Statement of Financial Position; and
ii.Statement of Comprehensive Income; and
iii.Statement of Movements in Equity; and
iv.Statement of Cashflows; and
v.Disclosure of Related Party Transactions; and
vi.Notes to the Financial Statements; and
vii.Such other statements as may be necessary to fairly reflect the financial
position of the Company and its subsidiaries, the resources available to the
Company and its subsidiaries and the financial results of the operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries.
The annual report is to be presented in the format prescribed by TCC to enable consolidation
into the Group.
iii.Quarterly Reports
As soon as practicable after the conclusion of each quarter, Bay Venues will provide TCC with
a report of performance against the SOI including:
a.
Summary of Financial Performance
b.
Summary of Financial Position
c.
Report on non-financial KPI’s year to date
d.
Commentary on performance for the preceding quarter
e.
Commentary on expected performance for the next quarter
iv.Quarterly Meetings
Members of the Board of Bay Venues will meet with the TCC Commissioners and/or their
appointed representative(s) quarterly in a confidential, informal workshop to discuss and
review issues of common interest.
v.Half Yearly Governance to Governance Meeting
The Board of BVL will meet with the full Council of Elected Members/Commissioners of TCC
every six months in a confidential, informal session to discuss and review any issues of
common interest.
vi.Half Yearly Mayor/CEO to Chair/CEO Meeting
The Commission Chair and CEO of TCC will meet with the Chair and CEO of Bay Venues every
six months, three months before or after the Governance-to-Governance meeting, to discuss
and review any issues of common interest.
vii.No Surprises
Notwithstanding the reporting requirements the Board will operate on a ‘no’ surprises’ basis
to ensure that TCC is appraised as soon as is practicable, of any event or the possibility of an
adverse effect of an economic, social or political nature.
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The Board’s Approach to the Governance of BVL

The Directors of Bay Venues are responsible for the stewardship and future well-being of the
organisation. Directors exercise leadership, enterprise, integrity and judgement in directing the
organisation so as to provide assurance of its continuing and lasting prosperity and effectiveness.
In discharging their responsibilities Directors have a duty to act in the best interest of Bay Venues as
a whole, irrespective of personal, professional, commercial or other interests, loyalties or
affiliations. Directors’ first duty and loyalty must be to the legal entity defined in the Bay Venues
Constitution consistent with 1.3.1 of the Companies Act.
More detailed obligations in relation to both the Directors obligations to Bay Venues and TCC’s
obligations to Bay Venues are outlined in the Enduring Statement of Expectations (ESE).

7.

Board Performance Reviews

A Board led bi-annual review will be undertaken in July 2022 by an independent entity, with results
reported to TCC. This review will be conducted within the Institute of Directors (IoD) “Better Boards”
programme providing comparative data to prior reviews by IoD.
The report will provide assessment on the Board’s performance within:
• Chair and Individual Director effectiveness.
• Board policies and procedures/effectiveness.
• Overall Board effectiveness, dynamics and connectivity to Stakeholder and
Community.

8.

Ratio of Consolidated Funds

In November 2014 TCC resolved that an appropriate starting debt equity ratio of 20:80 is appropriate
for Bay Venues, but the ratio may change up to 25:75. This ratio is calculated as: Debt to Equity Ratio
= Total Debt / Total Equity.

9.

Estimate of Commercial Value

The Board estimate that the commercial value of the TCC’s investment in Bay Venues is represented
by the net assets of Bay Venues. This value is calculated from total assets less liabilities.

10. Accounting Policies & Other Compliance
Financial statements will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice
(GAAP), NZ International Financial Reporting Standards, Companies Act 1993, Local Government Act
2002 and Financial Reporting Act 1993.

11. Dividend Policy
Any retained surpluses over $250,000 (nett after depreciation and interest) must be approved by
Council unless otherwise agreed or prevented due to legal requirements.
Council may decide to reinvest part or all the surplus into Bay Venues if Bay Venues establishes a
compelling investment proposal and/or using such option to retire debt
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In determining funds that are ‘surplus’, Council will consider the operating result against budget
including the accounting surplus, the underlying cash surplus, and surpluses generated from particular
activities.

12. Procedures for Acquisition of Other interests
Pursuant to the Constitution, Bay Venues will only invest in the shares of a new or existing company
or organisation with the prior approval of TCC. Where the Board consider the size of the acquisition
warrants it, they will have due diligence carried out prior to any binding agreement being made.

13. Other Matters Agreed as Between the Directorate
and the Shareholders
Bay Venues shall enter, where necessary, such agreements with TCC giving effect to any restrictions,
requirements and obligations required by TCC.
Due to the impact of Covid over the past year Bay Venues revenue and profitability has been
significantly negatively impacted. While existing loan arrangements with TCC are sufficient to cover
this in the short term, Bay Venues wishes to signal to TCC a need to review the funding and/or loan
arrangements to ensure that the business can continue to operate.

14. Transactions between Related Parties
Transactions between TCC and Bay Venues will be conducted on a commercial basis (fair and
reasonable) and if appropriate contestable basis.
Other related party transactions will be on a commercial basis and in accordance with Bay Venues
procurement policy.

15. Compensation from Local Authority
Compensation for any services provided to the TCC has been agreed as per the revised Enduring
Statement of Expectations and the Letter of Expectations.
Council provide Bay Venues with an operating grant of $3.448m, which increases annually with
CPI. TCC’s operating grant to Bay Venues helps deliver:
•
Business related outputs, which apply across all facilities
•
Community related outputs which apply only to the facilities and activities that are
considered to have a community focus.
The outputs expected of Bay Venues are detailed in section 4 of the ESE.
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Schedule 1 – Enduring Statement of Expectations
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Schedule 2 – Annual Letter of Expectation FY23
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Tauranga Art Gallery Trust
Draft Statement of Intent to
Tauranga City Council
2022-23, 2023-24, 2024-25

1
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1. Letter of Introduction
The Tauranga Art Gallery Trust Board has the pleasure of presenting this Draft Statement of
Intent (SOI) for the periods, 2022-23, 2023-24, 2024-25.
The SOI is informed by the expectations of the Tauranga City Council as outlined in the Enduring
Statement of Intent and the Letter of Expectation, dated 13 December 2021.
The purpose of the SOI is to:
1. State publicly the activities and intentions of a CCO for the year and the objectives to
which those activities will contribute;
2. Provide an opportunity for shareholders to influence the direction of the organisation;
and
3. Provide a basis for the accountability of the directors to their shareholders for the
performance of the organisation.
As COVID-19 continues to have an extraordinary impact in New Zealand and globally, our SOI
continues to present the most accurate picture we can create in these uncertain times, and on the
large part works on the assumption that no future lockdown period occurs. However, as we have
witnessed in the 2021-22 calendar year, while the brief closure under Level 4 and 3 resulted in
three-week suspension of all our activities, the impacts of COVID have been felt over a much longer
period. These impacts will continue for the foreseeable future and our priority is to continue to
ensure good governance, business continuity plans and agile risk response strategies are employed
during these times.
The Trust is also reviewing a range of social and economic challenges that the Gallery has faced
over a much longer period. We believe the Gallery is currently not able to deliver its full potential
and we are currently developing a more ambitious plan for achieving that vision. We plan to make
a submission to TCC in the Annual Plan 2022 which will be focused towards getting the organisation
onto a more secure financial footing (as indicated in our three-year budget forecasts). This includes
improving its business systems and acumen and addressing a gap between TAG’s baseline funding
and the costs of its core activities, which has widened noticeably over the past five years. This
planning also builds on our current work we are undertaking with Fresh Info, to better calculate the
social impact and value of Tauranga Art Gallery’s activities.
Our Toi Tū Tauranga ten-year– vision, reflects our aspiration to foster enduring lifelong relationships
between art and the community. Our Statement of Intent identifies synergies between our Vision
and TCC’s values, ensuring community objectives established through our visioning work guides our
activities.
A key change since our last SOI submission has been the emergence of the Civic Precinct. Tauranga
Art Gallery has a strong view of the value our organisation brings to this development, and the
exciting opportunity it affords for us to increase our capacity to deliver more in Tauranga through
expanded facilities and resources. We also remain committed to taking the Gallery to the next phase,
to be a leading destination in Aotearoa for local, national, and international exhibitions.
Tauranga Art Gallery is identified by Museums Aotearoa as one of nine key mid-sized public art
galleries across Aotearoa1. We are recognised for leading programmes of art, which regularly feature
mana whenua artists and reflect the stories and voices of our community. We take pride in the
industry-leading quality of our art experiences, and that our exhibitions are supported by active
1

See Picture No Galleries, published by Chartwell Trust, 2020, page 40
3

Item 11.2 - Attachment 2

Page 149

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

11 April 2022

education and public programmes, ensuring access to art for all.
The activities and operations laid out in this SOI are guided by our guiding objectives in the Tauranga
Art Gallery Trust Deed (4.1), to:
a) Provide the establishment and management of a sub-regional Public Art Gallery and ensure
that its assets and collections are managed to a high standard.
b) Provide Public Art Gallery facilities and art experiences which are relevant and accessible to
the Western Bay of Plenty, sub-regional communities, and visitors to the area.
c) Lead and promote activities to raise funds for the Gallery.
As Chair of a refreshed Board, we are unified and optimistic in our approach. We look forward to
updating you on our progress during the year.
Ngā mihi, nā
Rosemary Protheroe
Chair
Tauranga Art Gallery Trust

4
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2. Strategic Priorities and Alignment
Vision Statement
Toi Tū Tauranga
Enduring relationships with art
Creating life-long connections with art
TAGT
Strategic
objectives

TAG
Business
function
TCC Letter of
Expectation
alignment –
community
outcomes

TAGT
Priorities

He Tauranga Auaha
To be an anchor of
innovation and creativity

Exhibitions, events, and
education programmes

Mission Statement
He Tauranga Toi
To be an anchorage for art
To create exceptional art experiences that engage, inspire, and challenge

He Tauranga Matarau
To be an anchorage for diversity

Stakeholder
engagement

Marketing and
Communications

He Tauranga Whaihua
To be an anchor of
enduring success

Financial governance
and management

He Tauranga
Haukaha
To be an anchor of
great shelter

He Tauranga
Taiao
To be anchor in
environmental
sustainability

Infrastructure and facilities

He Tauranga
Haumaru
To be anchor in safe
development
People and
organisational culture

Our purpose – we’re here to make Tauranga better
We recognise we are an integral part of the wider Bay of Plenty region and upper North Island.

We are inclusive

Deliver a diverse
exhibition and events
programme.
Achieve a high level of
customer satisfaction
Deliver a range of
education programmes
and learning
opportunities that meets
the needs of our clients.

Enhance our marketing and
communications.
Partner with tangata whenua and
ensure strong engagement with Māori.
Partner with government agencies,
councils, and other organisations.

Accountability and
Transparency

Develop a greater
awareness of our
Social Return on
Investment (SROI).
Implement prudent
financial management
processes.
Ensure TAG has a clear
vision and purpose for the
next 3-5 years.

We have a well-planned city

Involvement in the
City Centre
redevelopment
project (Civic
Precinct) discussions.
Effective
management of
assets.

Gallery operates in
an environmentally
sustainable way.

Purpose and values.
Board professional
development.
COVID-19 – Health,
Safety and Wellbeing
Health, safety, and
well-being is a priority
Implement best
practice human
resource management
policies and processes
The board provides
best practice
governance.
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3. The Future: 2022-23 and beyond
The Tauranga Art Gallery Trust Vision 2021-2031 reaffirms TAGT’s commitment to delivering outcomes
in accordance with the Gallery’s specific objectives described above. The ongoing impacts of COVID19 continue to impact TAG’s visitation and income, and it is anticipated to take several months, if not
years, to rebuild previous levels of visitation, patronage, and revenues.
For many years Tauranga Art Gallery has acted as a beacon for culture in the city but has stood
somewhat alone without the support of an active thriving cultural hub. While the completed pedestrianonly Wharf Street area has significantly improved the outlook of our immediate surroundings,
connections between Tauranga Art Gallery and other cultural organisations has never felt unified or part
of a larger cultural strategy. With the new proposed Civic Precinct plans being developed at pace, we see
enormous potential for this to benefit Tauranga Art Gallery in the long term, creating a clear way
forward with both enabling the growth and expansion of our organisation, and increasing our capacity to
deliver more of our innovative programmes for Bay of Plenty audiences. We look forward to advancing
conversations with Tauranga City Council and broader stakeholders as we enter this new phase at pace.
Tauranga Art Gallery’s Vision 2021-2031 builds upon and refocuses our founding principles as defined in
the Trust Deed, creating a refreshed and renewed vision to meet the challenges of the future.

6
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4. Nature of Scope & Activities
The diagram below demonstrates the alignment between the LOE City Future Project’s focus areas and TAG’s objectives. Our objectives are further detailed in the
Performance Framework.

To be an anchor of innovation and creativity

We listen to our communities and make transparent,
evidence-based decisions.

To be an anchor of great shelter

Priority Rankings

We deliver value for our communities through prudent
financial management, ensuring we plan and provide
affordable fit-for-purpose services.

To be anchor in environmental sustainability

Performance Targets

Sustainability and resilience underpin our decision making and
service delivery, protecting the future of our city.

TAG Strategic Objectives

To be an anchor for diversity

We work in partnership with Tangata Whenua, our
communities, sub-regional stakeholders, and central
government.

TAG Vision

LOE City Future Project Focus Areas

We manage the balance between social, economic, cultural,
and environmental wellbeing of our communities.

To be an anchor in success
To be anchor in development

7
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5. Performance Framework – Financial & Non-financial
Exhibitions, Events and Education Programmes
He Tauranga Auaha
To be an anchor of
innovation and
creativity

TAGT Strategic
Objective
Deliver a diverse
exhibition and
events programme.

Performance Target

TAG is a destination for
both city visitors and
residents, providing the
opportunity for all to
learn about and
experience art

Achieve a high level of
customer satisfaction.

At least 30,000 visitors to the Gallery.

Deliver a range of
education
programmes and
learning opportunities
that meets the needs
of our clients.

Education programmes are linked to the exhibition programme and align with the Te Whāriki (ECE) and the NZ
Curriculum (primary secondary) curriculum focus areas and identified tertiary outcomes. Programmes are developed
to meet the needs of our participants, with te reo and te ao māori principles integrated within our programmes.

A high-quality programme with a minimum of 12 exhibitions and events is delivered that reflects the unique character
and needs of Tauranga, inspires the Tauranga community, includes international representation, and integrates key
objectives in the areas of innovation, diversity, community, environment.
80% “highly satisfied/ positive” rating via our visitor survey and feedback received from schools and other participants
of programmes and events.

A range of in-gallery, outreach and holiday programmes are delivered to a minimum of 7,500 students across
Tauranga and the larger WBOP region. Continue to identify opportunities to expand our reach of programmes to
schools/ kura.
Deliver a range of other learning opportunities for targeted groups and families / whanau.

Stakeholder Engagement / Marketing and Communications
He Tauranga Matarau
To be an anchor for
diversity
TAG is inclusive and
promotes partnerships
with tangata whenua,
values culture, and
diversity and where
people of all ages and
backgrounds are

TAGT Strategic
Objective
Enhance our
marketing and
communications

Performance Target

Partner with tangata
whenua, and ensure
strong engagement
with Māori

Implement an engagement strategy that reflects Tikanga Māori, enabling us to build stronger
relationships with tangata whenua and enabling wider engagement with Māori

A marketing and communications strategy is developed that effectively promotes the Gallery’s full range of
activities. It will include brand alignment and options to develop technology and digital platforms to provide
alternative art experiences to grow audiences and enabling greater access to the visual arts.

8

Item 11.2 - Attachment 2

Page 154

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

included, feel safe,
connected, and
healthy.

Partner with
government agencies,
councils, and other
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Staff, and where appropriate trustees, work in collaboration with relevant government agencies, groups, and
councils to share best practice and to align with other events held across the city, i.e., Tauranga Arts Festival, Jazz
Festival.

Financial Governance and Management
He Tauranga Whaihua
To be an anchor of
enduring success

TAGT Strategic
Objective
Develop a greater
awareness of our
Social Return on
Investment (SROI)

Performance Target

TAGT will pursue
opportunities to secure
funding and manage all
funds with prudence
and care with a
commitment towards
being financially
sustainable.

Implement prudent
financial management
processes.

Appropriate systems and controls are in place for the efficient financial management, planning, and decision making
across all areas of the organisation.

Ensure TAGT has a
clear vision and
purpose.

Our strategic plan is well communicated to our stakeholders and community, and all work activities are aligned to the
objectives which are prioritized with adequate resourcing allocated.

He Tauranga Haukaha
To be an anchor of
great shelter

TAGT Strategic
Objective
Involved in City Centre
redevelopment
project (Civic Precinct)
discussions.
Effective management
of assets.

Performance Target

Our Social Return on Investment (SROI) impact is integrated into messages with stakeholders and Gallery supporters,
leading to a better understand of our social and economic impact.
New measures and statistics are identified, in addition to ongoing visitor attendance and feedback surveys, to better
gauge awareness of TAG and its activities.

Our annual budget is monitored regularly, with current financial projections maintained to ensure gross revenue
targets and forecasted expenditure is within budget.
Evidence of an increase in revenue streams to support the Gallery’s activities from sources other than Council funds.

Infrastructure and Facilities

Evidence of collaboration with TCC management team on the development of the Civic Precinct.

An Asset Management Plan is developed that includes a well-planned repairs and maintenance programme,
renewals, and future CAPEX priorities that are included in future budgets.
9
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To be anchor in
environmental
sustainability

Gallery operates in an
environmentally
sustainable way.
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We have investigated ways of using resources better and reducing waste by recycling and/or reusing materials and
monitoring power consumption. ArtBus provides environmentally sustainable means for education students to attend
programmes.
TAGT continues to work towards gaining a sustainability accreditation.

People and Organisational Culture
He Tauranga
Haumaru
To be anchor for
development
TAGT will take all
practical steps to
ensure our people are
valued, supported
feel safe, connected,
and healthy.

TAGT Strategic
Objective
Health, safety, and
well-being is a priority.

Performance Target

Implement best
practice human
resource management
policies and processes

To improve the culture of the organisation, staff are engaged, increased in employee satisfaction, meeting
statutory obligations and reducing organisational risk.

The board is providing
best practice
governance.

The board provides governance for the TAG strategic direction. All Trustees have a clear understanding of their roles
and actively seek professional development opportunities.

All health, safety and well-being policies and procedures reviewed, and an internal review programme developed to
ensure they are regularly monitored to meet statutory requirements.

Annual staff survey completed, and staff satisfaction increases.

There is a strong and positive relationship between the Chair and the Director.

10
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6. Planning

TAGT will prepare and annually update a three-year Strategic Plan and Annual Business Plan with:
• Indicative rolling three-year forecasts of financial performance and position, separately
identifying any significant intended expenditure.
• Any likely requests for increased levels of funding from Council.
• Key actions or initiatives to deliver on the objectives of the Trust.
• Upcoming challenges, risks, and opportunities for the Trust.
TAGT will work collaboratively with TCC to review and as necessary update the ESE and the annual
LOE.

7. Reporting

TAGT will:
• Keep TCC informed of matters of substance affecting the Trust as outlined in ESE.
• Produce an annual report to TCC on both financial and non-financial performance.
• Appraise the performance of the Trust Board / Trustees at least every 2 years.
Annual Report
Within two months after the end of each financially year, TAGT shall deliver to the TCC a Draft
Annual Report, and within three months after the end of each financial year, audited financial
statements in respect of that financial year containing the following information:
• A trustees' report, including a summary of the financial results, a report of the
operations, and comparison of performance in relation to its objectives and
recommendations for further funding requirements or opportunities.
• Audited financial statements for that financial year; and
• The Auditor’s report on:
- Those financial statements; and
- The performance targets and other measures by which performance has been
judged in relation to the objectives.
The audited financial statements shall consist of
• Statement of Financial Position.
• Statement of Financial Performance.
• Statement of Cashflows.
• Statement of Performance against Financial and Non-Financial Performance Targets.
• Such other statements as may be necessary to fairly reflect the financial position of the
Trust, there sources available to the Trust and the financial results of the operations of the
Trust; and
• A statement of accounting policies and notes to the accounts.

11
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8. Financial Performance Targets

TAGT aims to operate in a financially sustainable manner. As a CCO delivering part of TCC’s
cultural responsibilities, long-term financial performance and position is sustainable where
planned long-term service standards are met without unplanned increases in TCC funding or cuts in
deliverables.
Indicative Financial Performance Targets:
• Gross revenue is consistent with the agreed budget.
• Expenditure is managed within the agreed budget.
• Working capital ratio of no less than 1 (excluding current portion of term debt).
• Interest cost as a percentage of total revenue should not exceed 10%.
• Consolidated funds (total equity) are not less than 90% of total assets (all current and
non-current assets).
• No debt is to be raised to finance operating expenses.
• TAGT achieves partial financial self-sufficiency in addition to TCC funding
• No distribution of income or capital to TCC.
Non-Financial Performance Targets
Indicative Non-Financial Performance Targets of planning and reporting requirements are met as
per performance framework above.

9. Accounting Policies

Financial statements will be prepared and applied consistently in accordance with NZGAAP. They
will comply with NZIFRS and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate to
public benefit entities that qualify for and apply differential reporting concessions.

10. Asset Management

TAGT will prepare and implement Asset Management Plans for the building and other assets.
Commercial Values of Assets
TAGT operates a public service and not a commercial activity. It is not practical to provide a
commercial value to assets. Fair value of land, building and artworks are determined by an
independent valuer every three years and changes reflected in the financial statements. Fair value
is reviewed annually. The next valuation is to be undertaken in the year ended 30 June 2024.

11. Transactions between related parties

Transactions between TCC and TAGT will be conducted on a wholly commercial basis.

12. Significant Decisions

TAGT will not undertake any activity of a significant nature or scope not provided for in the ESE or
the SOI without prior approval of TCC. In particular, the prior approval would be required for TAGT
to:
• Form any subsidiary entity.
• Purchase shares in any other entity.
• Dispose of any significant assets, e.g., land or buildings.
• Dispose of or deaccession any works within the TCC Civic Art Collection.
• Purchase any significant assets e.g., land or buildings.

12
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13. Investment from TCC

TCC will purchase services from the Trust as follows
2022-23
Management and operation of Tauranga Art Gallery $1,274,957
including Trustee fees of $45,000.
2023-24
Management and operation of Tauranga Art Gallery $1,296,631 (based on applying
an inflation adjustment of 1.7% including Trustee fees of $45,000.
2024-25
Management and operation of Tauranga Art Gallery $1,318,674 (based on applying
an inflation adjustment of 1.7% including of $45,000
Any increases of the Management & Operational funding and Trustee fees would be
subject to TCC approval as part of the internal submission via the Annual Plan
process.

14. Payment arrangements
•

Payment of the Tauranga Art Gallery management and operation will be made monthly
in advance as per the schedule above.

Compensation for any other services provided to or by the Council will be based on a service
delivery agreement entered into by both parties.

Signed by

Date

Rosemary Protheroe
Chair
Tauranga Art Gallery Trust

Stephen Cleland
Director
Tauranga Art Gallery

13
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14. Three Year Forecast

TAURANGA ART GALLERY
Indicative Three Year Operational Forecast

2022-23

3 Year Forecast
2023-24

2024-25

Income
Donations, fundraising and similar revenue
Revenue from providing goods or services
Interest, dividends & other investment revenue
TCC Operational (incl Collections)
WBOPDC

$255,000
$60,000
$7,000
$1,274,957
$40,000

$255,000
$60,000
$7,210
$1,296,631
$40,680

$255,000
$60,000
$7,426
$1,318,674
$41,372

Total Income

$1,636,957

$1,659,521

$1,682,471

Gross Profit

$1,636,957

$1,659,521

$1,682,471

$296,033
$342,496

$304,914
$352,771

$314,061
$363,354

5

$845,895
$87,000
$102,000

$871,272
$89,610
$238,260

$897,410
$92,298
$339,558

7

$1,673,423

$1,856,826

$2,006,681

-$36,466

-$197,305

-$324,209

$152,000

$152,000

$152,000

$152,000

$152,000

$152,000

-$188,466

-$349,305

-$476,209

$188,466
$0

$349,305
$0

$476,209
$0

Less Operating Expenses
Building
Expenses related to public fundraising
Volunteer & Employee related costs
Costs related to providing goods or services
Other expenses
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Profit
Non-operating Expenses
Depreciation
Total Non-operating Expenses
Net Profit
Income/ cost reductions to be identified

1
1
2
3
4

6

8
9

10

11

14
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Assumptions
1.

Revenue generation didn’t increase as much as previously projected over the past few years.
Due to the current financial environment, it will be a challenge to obtain revenue from the
business community and with delays in opening borders and the planned construction work in
the city adjacent to the Gallery, visitor numbers will be down so our revenue line is not expected
to increase over the next few years. There may be opportunities to obtain revenue to support
education programmes.

2.

Do not expect interest on investments to increase.

3.

Based on 2021 actual including the LTP increase of $150k (‘20-‘21) and includes 5.9% CPI
increase as per statistics NZ December report.

4.

WBOPDC 3-year partnership agreement has been renewed for next 3 years with annual CPI
increase and we are working towards increasing the base contract.

5.

Building as per 2021/22 actual plus CPI 5.9% costs for goods and an increase in building
maintenance included as per Beca report.

6.

Volume and quality of exhibitions increased. Offsite education programmes initiated. Working
with TBOP to promote events/ VH post COVID. Budget does not include NZME contra
sponsorship for Marketing and communications of $45k.

7.

Increased HR costs include a 3% CPI increase and new professional development budget of 2%
individual gross wages for all employees.

8.

Trustee fees, Director travel, meetings & professional services.

9.

Includes audit fees (75%), accounting, bank & EFTPOS service fees. Additional budget for
Business Improvements over the next 3 years, increasing each year $60k, $195k, $295k.

10. Depreciation projections is based on previous years calculations.
11. Addressing this shortfall will be part of TAG’s forthcoming application to TCC for an increase in
base funding through the Annual Plan 2022.
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In accordance with section 64 of the Local Government Act 2002 and the Local Government
Amendment Act 2019, this annual Statement of Intent (SOI) publicly states the activities and
intentions of the Western Bay of Plenty Tourism and Visitors Trust (Tourism Bay of Plenty) for the next
three years. This SOI sets out Tourism Bay of Plenty’s strategic framework, activities, and performance
measures, as the basis of organisational accountability.
Tourism Bay of Plenty (TBOP) acknowledges the Enduring Statement of Expectations (ESE) and Letter
of Expectation (LOE) from Tauranga City Council and Western Bay of Plenty District Council. These
articulate the focus areas for TBOP that will contribute to advancing the Western Bay of Plenty’s
economic prosperity.

TBOP is incorporated under the Charitable Trusts Act (1957) and is a not-for-profit entity established
to promote and manage the Western Bay of Plenty sub-region (WBOP) as a visitor and tourist
destination. TBOP is a Council Controlled Organisation (CCO) and is accountable to Tauranga City
Council (TCC), Western Bay of Plenty District Council (WBOPDC) and Whakatāne District Council
(WDC), the latter being by a separate Letter of Intent. This collective region is known as Te Moananui
ā Toi | the Coastal Bay of Plenty.
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TBOP’s purpose, as described in its Trust Deed, is to promote the economic welfare and development
of the Western Bay of Plenty region and its citizens through destination marketing, management and
any other activity which impacts on that region as a visitor destination. TBOP is also responsible for
providing visitor information services in the region.
TBOP’s role as a Destination Management Organisation (DMO) is to lead, advocate, and coordinate a
cohesive, collaborative, and balanced approach to the promotion and management of the region. This
is a partnership approach and requires valued engagement with the community, businesses, iwi, and
stakeholder councils in order to enhance the visitor experience.
Councils have encouraged TBOP to consider how best to contribute to achieving desired community
outcomes, as developed for Tauranga City Council’s Long-Term Plan 2021-2031. Accordingly, TBOP
will work with the Tauranga City Council Group to achieve these desired community outcomes. The
specific outcomes that TBOP has been asked to consider are:
▪

We value and protect our environment - Tauranga is a city that values its natural environment
and outdoor lifestyle, and actively works to protect and enhance it.

▪

We are inclusive – Tauranga is a city that recognises and promotes partnership with tangata
whenua, values culture and diversity, and where people of all ages and backgrounds are
included, and feel safe, connected and healthy.

▪

We recognise that we are an integral part of the wider Bay of Plenty region and upper North
Island – Tauranga is a well-connected city having a key role in making a significant contribution
to the social, economic, cultural, and environmental well-being of the region.

4
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TBOP takes the lead role in the sustainable growth of the visitor economy and destination
management of Te Moananui ā Toi | the Coastal Bay of Plenty. TBOP’s purpose is to ‘connect and
enrich people and place through tourism’. As such, our principal objectives are to:
1. Provide leadership for the recovery and restart of the Tauranga and Western Bay of Plenty
visitor economy to mitigate the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the local economy.
2. Help manage and promote Tauranga city’s and the region’s reputations nationally and
internationally, to increase attractiveness. This includes supporting TCC with the
development of a Tauranga city brand, as well as the implementation of the city events
strategy once it has been adopted.
3. Participate in conversations and subsequent workstreams with TCC regarding the
development of the City Vision and with TCC and WBOPDC as they set further strategic
direction for Tauranga City and the Western Bay of Plenty District.
4. Provide leadership, advocacy, and engagement across the visitor economy, including areas
such as events, cruise, conferencing, destination management, marketing, and storytelling.
5. Create, identify, and support opportunities for tourism to have positive economic, social,
cultural, and environmental outcomes for the region and residents.
6. Grow the capability of local operators through identifying areas of need and supporting the
provision, access to, and engagement of suitable training and upskilling opportunities.
7. Identify ongoing opportunities to assist in the development of walking and cycling
infrastructure planning and promotion across the region.
8. Ensure the TBOP business continuity plan is up-to-date and includes contingency strategies,
including any legislative responsibilities for keeping safe while providing services that
support the wellbeing of our community.

5
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TBOP will adhere to the ‘Council Group’ operating principles whereby:
▪ We deliver value for our communities through prudent financial management, ensuring we plan
and provide affordable fit-for-purpose services.
▪ Sustainability and resilience underpin our decision making and service delivery, protecting the
future of our city.
▪ We work in partnership with tangata whenua, our communities, sub-regional stakeholders and
central Government.
▪ We manage the balance between the social, economic, cultural and environmental wellbeing
of our communities.
▪ We listen to our communities and make transparent, evidence-based decisions.

TBOP staff will be guided by Tauranga City Council’s overarching purpose statement and values
when working with councils and our community:
▪

Purpose: We’re here to make Tauranga better

▪

Values:
o

Pono/Integrity – we do what we say we will do

o

Manaakitanga/Respect – we listen to all views and show we care

o

Whaia to tika/Service – we do the right thing for our community and for each other

o

Whanaungatanga/Collaboration – we work together and create connections.

6
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TBOP is a CCO of the Tauranga City and Western Bay of Plenty District Councils. The TBOP Board and
management are committed to ensuring the organisation meets recommended best practice
governance principles and maintains the highest ethical standards, as outlined in the ESE.
The TBOP Board of Trustees is appointed by the Councils to govern and direct TBOP’s activities. The
Board is accountable to the Councils for the financial and non-financial performance of TBOP. The
Board works collaboratively with the Councils to ensure a bilateral “no surprises” relationship.

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the direction of TBOP. In accordance with the ESE, this
responsibility includes:
▪ Acting in accordance with the Trust Deed.
▪ Developing and overseeing TBOP’s Visitor Economy Strategy 2018-2028 (VES).
▪ Advocating on behalf of TBOP with key stakeholders.
▪ Approving Annual Plans, budgets and the Statement of Intent (SOI).
▪ Maintaining Enterprise Risk and Health and Safety systems, policies and controls.
▪ Monitoring financial performance and achievement of key initiatives and SOI objectives.
▪ Appointing and monitoring the performance and remuneration of the General Manager (GM).
▪ Ensuring the integrity of management information systems and policies.
▪ Assessing business opportunities and business risks.
▪ Ensuring TBOP policies enable a healthy organisational culture and staff engagement.
▪ Complying with relevant law.
▪ Ensuring TBOP exhibits a sense of social and environmental responsibility.
▪ Reporting to the councils.
▪ Following the decision-making guidelines in the ESE and the TCC Appointment of Directors to
Council Organisations Policy and the Significance and Engagement Policies.
The Trustees operate under the TBOP Code of Conduct and the Tauranga City Council Code of Conduct
for Directors Appointed by Council-to-Council Organisations.
The Trustees delegate the day-to-day operation of TBOP to the General Manager (GM) of TBOP who
reports to the Board.

As of 28 February 2022, the TBOP Board comprises the following trustees:
▪ Laurissa Cooney (Chairperson)
▪ Russ Browne (Deputy Chairperson)
▪ Gwendoline Keel
▪ Jason Hill
▪ Clare Swallow

7

Item 11.2 - Attachment 3

Page 170

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

11 April 2022

The Chairperson, Board members and officers of TBOP will adhere to the following communication
protocols with the councils, in addition to the formal reporting requirements:
▪ Two-way dialogue and consideration of the councils’ strategic priorities and objectives.
▪ A bilateral ‘no-surprises’ approach to governance and management of the organisation.
▪ Consultation prior to external release of any significant changes and/or developments.
▪ Early notification and collaboration on key matters of risk or reputation.
▪ Appraise the performance of the TBOP Board of Trustees at a minimum of every two years,
alternating annually between a Board led review and a Council led review.
▪ Inform any substantive engagement with central Government and/or external agencies.
▪ Acknowledge our relationship with councils and use of logos where appropriate.

The draft SOI for the ensuing financial year will be provided by TBOP to the Councils by 1 March each
year. Feedback from the Councils will be considered by 1 May and the final SOI will be provided by 30
June each year.
The draft SOI provides a three-year view which is consistent with the ESE and identifies:
▪ Indicative rolling three-year forecast of performance and position.
▪ Identification of any significant intended expenditure.
▪ Any likely requests for increased levels of funding from councils.
▪ Key actions or initiatives to deliver on the objectives of TBOP.
▪ Upcoming challenges, risks, and opportunities for TBOP.
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TBOP’s growing role as a Destination Management Organisation requires it to lead, advocate and
coordinate the visitor economy, while considering environmental, social, and cultural interests. We
also need to ensure we preserve the region’s unique identity and that our visitor-related development
is cognisant of the interests of local residents and iwi.

Lead
•Lead the sustainable
growth of the tourism
sector, for the benefit of
our community.

Advocate
•Manage, develop and
plan growth, taking into
consideration social,
environmental and
cultural interests.

Coordinate
•Work with public, private
and Iwi led organisations
as a key collaborator in
order to make the region
a more regenerative,
compelling and attractive
visitor destination.

Destination management is an ongoing process that requires destinations to plan for the future. It
brings together different stakeholders in a collaborative manner to achieve the common goal to which
they are all committed, developing a well-managed, sustainable destination for locals and visitors
alike. This requires inclusive and coordinated leadership. Destination management needs to engage
residents, tourism enterprises, businesses, Māori/iwi/hapū, Regional Tourism Organisations,
Economic Development Organisations, Tourism New Zealand, and local/regional and central
government as appropriate. In order to be successful, we require the support of our local councils.
To ensure effective planning for population and urban growth, councils can provide opportunities for
TBOP to actively contribute their expertise and knowledge of the tourism industry and economic
development. This will help to ensure effective destination management of the region going forward.

In 2022 – 2023 TBOP will be focused on delivery and putting our Destination Management Plan into
action. As a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the tourism sector remains in survival mode,
and our aim is to transition into revival mode as our international borders gradually start reopening.
Accordingly, TBOP’s 2022 - 2023 work programme will be a balance between surviving (i.e., enabling,
supporting, and building operator capability and opportunities), and reviving (i.e., continuing to
advocate and work with key sectors, iwi, associations, and local and central government) in order to
ensure the destination is best positioned to move at pace once the operating environment allows.
This dual focus is reflected in the targets and supporting activities outlined in the Section 8
Performance Targets, with the ultimate goal being the return of a thriving and sustainable visitor
economy across Te Moananui ā Toi | the Coastal Bay of Plenty.

9
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If the Trust is wound up everything reverts to the Councils (to be held in trust for similar purposes).
TBOP intends to keep the equity ratio equal to or above 0.5:1.0. The ratio is calculated as: equity
divided by total assets.

Financial statements will be prepared in accordance with Tier 2 Public Benefit Entity Accounting
Standards. The accounting policies that have been adopted are detailed in the Tourism Bay of Plenty
Annual Report.

TBOP will prepare and implement Asset Management Plans for all assets where relevant.

Transactions between the councils and TBOP will be conducted on a wholly commercial basis.

11
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Baseline measures will be updated to reflect the latest data at time of finalising the Statement of Intent 2022-23.

[To be updated to June 2022 for final
version]

ECONOMIC
Wellbeing

SOCIAL
Wellbeing

Growing the
economic value of
the tourism industry.

Trends in visitor spending via
electronic card transactions.

Enhancing the value
tourism brings to the
community
(according to the
community).

Resident’s sentiment towards
tourism. This is measured by
the percentage of residents
who agree that tourism has a
positive impact on the
community. Residents provide
a rating of 1 to 10, where 1 is
strongly disagree and 10 is
strongly agree.

CULTURAL
Wellbeing

Improving the
cultural wellbeing of
the community
through tourism.

Participation in developing
cultural storytelling and
wayfinding platforms.

ENVIRONMENTAL
Wellbeing

Improving the
environmental
wellbeing of the
region through
environmental
sustainability and
regeneration
projects.

Number of industry focused
environmental sustainability
and regeneration initiatives
facilitate or enabled by TBOP.

TBOP
ORGANISATION
Wellbeing

Enhance TBOP’s
ability to achieve its
goals through high
staff engagement.

TBOP staff engagement.

Direct
Partnered
Indirect

Marketview Tourism
Dashboard May
change to MBIE visitor
spend data, depending
on the best sources
available at the time.

In the year ending January 2022,
total visitor spending in Te
Moananui ā Toi | the Coastal
Bay of Plenty was up 13%
compared to the year ending
January 2021.
Tauranga City Council: 68%
agree.
Jul-Dec 2021
Representing scores of 7 to 10

Direct
Partnered
Indirect

Residents’ satisfaction
surveys conducted by
the respective Council.

Western Bay of Plenty District
Council: 62% agree.
YE Dec 2021
Representing scores of 6 to
10Whakatāne District Council:

69% agree.

Monitor and report on
changes in visitor spend and
use the information to set
new goals for future years.

Implement actions identified
from TBOP’s community
perceptions survey to help
enhance the perceived value
of tourism to the community.
Measured by 65% or more
residents agreeing that
tourism has a positive impact
on the community.

Increased visitor spending in
Te Moananui ā Toi | the
Coastal Bay of Plenty.

Increased visitor spending in
Te Moananui ā Toi | the
Coastal Bay of Plenty.

67% or more residents agree
that tourism has a positive
impact on the community.

70% or more residents agree
that tourism has a positive
impact on the community.

Incorporate storytelling
components into TBOP’s
marketing campaigns and
collateral as appropriate.

YE Dec 2021
Representing scores of 6 to 10

TBOP Six-Month and
Annual Reports.

Discussed opportunity to work
with Tauranga City Council and
TECT on developing signage.

Work with iwi, hapū, councils
and other stakeholders on the
development of storytelling
and wayfinding platforms in
Tauranga.

Expand development of
storytelling and wayfinding by
continuing to work with iwi,
hapū, councils and other
stakeholders in Western Bay
of Plenty. And share these via
TBOP’s marketing campaigns.

Direct
Partnered

Programme reports.

Developed The Green Room
programme (aimed at helping
operators reduce their carbon
and waste footprints) and ran
the first course.

A total of 40 tourism or
hospitality businesses to
complete The Green Room
programme during the year.

Work with Department of
Conservation on a
regenerative tourism focused
initiative in the region.

Engage with wider
stakeholders to identify
opportunities to work on
projects focused on climate
change mitigation and
adaptation.

Direct

Employee
engagement survey
(via Employment
Hero).

Employee Engagement score:
76%.
April 2021

Employee Engagement score
of 75% or higher.

Employee Engagement score
of 77% or higher.

Employee Engagement score
of 80% or higher.

Direct
Partnered
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[To be updated to June 2022 for final
version]

DESTINATION
MANAGEMENT

Elevate the region’s
cycling offering

Develop and share
promotional and informative
material on cycle trails and
help to facilitate the
development of a cycle trail
network.

Direct
Partnered

Build operator
capability to
enhance the quality
of the region’s
tourism offering

Provide opportunities for
operators to train or upskill in
key areas and gain Qualmark
certification.

Coordinate
opportunities to
bring business
events to the region

Facilitate leads and bids for
business events in the region.

Elevate the region’s
food story and
proposition

DESTINATION
MARKETING

Promote the
destination to our
target markets
(outdoor
adventurers, surf &
beach lovers,
cultural explorers,
and eco-travellers)

Promote and facilitate the
delivery of the Coastal Bay of
Plenty region Flavours of
Plenty Festival to draw visitors
to the region.

Develop and deliver marketing
campaigns that incorporating
all four DNA™ elements and
reach the destination’s target
markets.

Council’s feedback.

First iteration of Western Bay of
Plenty cycle trails map
produced.

Combined Western Bay of
Plenty and Tauranga cycle
trails map and storytelling
produced and shared via
TBOP’s channels.

Expand cycle trails offering
through connecting a
Tauranga i-SITE becomes the
minimum of three experiences regional hub of cycling
and services with the cycle
information.
trails.

Direct
Partnered
Indirect

Capability programme
report.

Scoped key areas of training
need and developed digital
marketing health check and
training modules.

Provide 1-on-1 digital
marketing training to 10
tourism businesses.

A minimum of five additional
operators are endorsed with
Qualmark certification.

A minimum of five additional
operators are endorsed with
Qualmark certification.

Direct
Partnered

TBOP Six-Month and
Annual Reports.

Identified key partner agency
that delivered one lead within a
week of engaging with them.

Facilitated 15 leads or bids for
business events in the region.

Facilitated 18 leads or bids for
business events in the region
and won two.

Facilitated 20 leads or bids for
business events in the region
and won five.

Promoted and facilitated the
delivery of the Flavours of
Plenty Festival in April 2022.

Promote the Flavours of
Plenty festival to visitor
Promote the Flavours of
markets to help grow the
Plenty Festival to help sell 80% number of attendees from out
of festival event tickets.
of region by at least 5%
compared to the previous
year.

Support the Flavours of Plenty
Festival to transition to an
independent entity (similar to
Wellington on a Plate).

Delivered the refreshed
domestic ‘Sure to Make you
Smile’ campaign.

Identify effective channels for
marketing to international and
domestic audiences to ensure
value for money.

Achieve 5% growth in the
proportion of domestic
visitors to the region who
associate with one or more of
the destination’s target
markets.

Achieve 5% growth in the
proportion of domestic and
international visitors to the
region who associate with one
or more of the destination’s
target markets.

Direct
Partnered

Direct
Partnered

Festival delivery.

Campaign collateral.
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TBOP is not expected to make profits; any surplus funds remaining from the annual operations of
TBOP shall be carried forward to the ensuing year to continue to meet the primary objectives of TBOP.

▪ Gross revenue is consistent with the agreed budget.
▪ Expenditure is managed within the agreed budget.
▪ Working capital ratio of no less than 1 (excluding current portion of term debt).
▪ Equity to assets ratio is reported on (equity divided by total assets).
▪ No debt is to be raised to finance operating expenses.

TBOP has adopted 30 June as its balance date.

By 28 February each year, the Trustees shall deliver to the councils an unaudited report containing the
following information in respect of the six months under review:
▪ Statement of Financial Performance, disclosing revenue and expenditure and comparative prior
period and budget figures.
▪ Statement of Financial Position.
▪ Progress towards Non-Financial Performance Targets.
▪ A commentary on the financial and non-financial results for the first six months and a forecast
of these results for the full year.

By 31 August each year, the Trustees shall deliver to the councils a draft Annual Report, and by 30
September a final version of the Annual Report which will include audited financial statements
(dependent on Audit New Zealand timeframes), in respect to the previous financial year, and
containing the following information:
▪ Chairperson’s and GM’s reports.
▪ Audited financial statements for that financial year including Statement of Financial
Performance, Statement of Financial Position and Changes in Equity.
▪ Notes to the financial statements including accounting policies.
▪ Service Delivery Report summarising TBOP’s performance against the SOI strategic priorities.
▪ Independent Auditor’s report on the financial statements and non-financial performance
measures.

14
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There are six high-level funding principles:
▪ As a general principle, TCC and WBOPDC will provide ongoing funding to TBOP as a contribution
towards operational expenses.
▪ The role of the councils is to hold TBOP accountable for the use of funds provided by
TCC/WBOPDC, which will ideally be consistent with the councils’ strategies.
▪ TBOP is encouraged to seek funding opportunities from the private sector and central
government in order to maximise the best outcomes for the organisation and the region.
▪ The TBOP Board must be empowered with sufficient flexibility to determine the best use and
allocation of funding to meet required levels of service to the community and visitors.
▪ TBOP is expected to meet the approved annual budget.
▪ Any net surpluses are to be disclosed through Six Month and Annual Reports.

TBOP receives an operating grant from both councils for the purpose of marketing and managing the
destination. The operating grant is set through the Long-Term Plan (LTP) process, with the
contribution from each council updated annually in line with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) when
TBOP creates its budgets for the coming year.
Council funding for additional operating grants and ad hoc new capital projects is to be assessed on a
case-by-case basis through the LTP or the Annual Plan process.
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Item 11.2 - Attachment 3

Page 178

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

11 April 2022

TCC and WBOPDC intends to purchase services from TBOP over the long term and agrees to the level
of funding on a rolling three-year basis aligned to the three-year Business Plan of TBOP.
The services for the next three years are currently forecast as per the table below.
Funder

2022-2023

2023-2024

2024-2025

TCC*

$2,410,663

$2,480,477

$2,552,398

$235,480

$239,012

$242,597

$2,646,143

$2,719,489

$2,794,995

WBOPDC
Total

*TCC’s figures include funding for Visitor Information Centres.

The payments will be made quarterly in advance on receipt of a GST invoice, with payments one and
two each being 30% of the annual sum, and payments three and four each being 20% of the annual
sum.
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The TBOP Board estimate that the commercial value of the shareholders’ investment in TBOP is
represented by the net assets of TBOP. This value is calculated from total assets less liabilities.

In accordance with the TCC Significance and Engagement Policy, TBOP will not undertake any activity
of a nature or scope not provided for in this SOI without prior approval of the Councils. Specifically,
prior approval would be required for TBOP to:
▪ form any subsidiary entity.
▪ purchase shares in any other entity.
▪ dispose of any significant assets e.g. land or buildings.
▪ purchase any significant assets e.g. land or buildings.
▪ seek partnering solutions that involve the dilution of assets or the commitment of councils.

If any party wishes to terminate this three-year rolling arrangement due to non-performance or any
other substantive reason within the control of either of the parties:
▪ the party may give written notice to the other party specifying the issue and if possible requiring
remedy within twenty-eight (28) days, and/or
▪ mediation is set to investigate any remedy of the issue, and/or
▪ if the issue is unable to be remedied to the party’s satisfaction, the party must give written
notice of its intention to terminate this arrangement from a date being not less than one year
commencing the forthcoming 1 July (that is, the secondary party must have at least one full
financial year’s notice commencing on 1 July and ending on 30 June).

Chairperson
Laurissa Cooney
Tourism Bay of Plenty

General Manager
Oscar Nathan
Tourism Bay of Plenty
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CCO

Council Controlled Organisation

CE

Chief Executive

COVID-19

Coronavirus disease

CPI

Consumer Price Index

ESE

Enduring Statement of Expectations

GDP

Gross Domestic Product

GM

General Manager

GST

Goods and Services Tax

LOE

Letter of Expectations

MBIE

Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment

MOU

Memorandum of Understanding

P&L

Profit and loss

SOI

Statement of Intent

TBOP

Tourism Bay of Plenty

TCC

Tauranga City Council

TIA

Tourism Industry Aotearoa

VES

Tourism Bay of Plenty’s Visitor Economy Strategy 2018-2028

VIC

Visitor Information Centre

WBOP

Western Bay of Plenty sub-region

WBOPDC

Western Bay of Plenty District Council

WDC

Whakatāne District Council

YE

Year end

11 April 2022
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STATEMENT OF
INTENT FOR
2022-2025

June 2022

“COUNCILS PARTNERING FOR VALUE AND SERVICE”
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Introduction
This Statement of Intent (SOI), developed under Schedule 8 of the Local Government
Act 2002:

2.



Declares a public statement of the activities and intentions of BOPLASS Ltd and
the objectives to which those activities will contribute.



Provides an opportunity for the shareholders to influence the direction of
BOPLASS Ltd, and



Provides a basis for the accountability of the Directors to the Shareholders for the
performance of BOPLASS Ltd.



Covers BOPLASS Ltd and any subsidiary company established in pursuance of the
objectives herein.

Background
The councils that operate within the Bay of Plenty and Gisborne Regions have formed
a Council Controlled Organisation (CCO) to investigate, develop and deliver Joint
Procurement and Shared Services projects where delivery is more effective for any
combination of some or all of the councils.
Benefits that can be achieved through collaboration are:


improved levels and quality of service;



a co-ordinated and consistent approach to the provision of services;



reductions in the cost of support and administrative services;



opportunities to develop new initiatives;



economies of scale resulting from a single entity representing many councils in
procurement.

These benefits and opportunities can apply to all councils irrespective of location or
size.
Business processes, information architectures and functional tools differ in each
council to varying degrees. The BOPLASS strategies facilitate a journey of progressive
development using the approach identified in the BOPLASS Strategy and Action Plan
to:


enhance the capability to collaborate;



encourage the elimination of barriers to collaborative action; and



identify services that deliver viable business cases.

2
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A generic sequence or stages of collaboration between multiple councils is followed
to develop Shared Services, as shown in Figure 1.

Team Working

Standardisation

Joint Procurement

Shared Resources

Shared Information
Shared Services

Many of the BOPLASS Joint Procurement projects have supported the development
of standard products, services or solutions across the councils. These standards assist
in creating a foundation for the delivery of collaboration within the councils.
Examples of Joint Procurement and collaborative projects are:


Infrastructure Insurance



Health and Safety Inter-Council Audits



Collective Training



Asbestos Protocols



Aerial Imagery and LiDAR



Sustainable Public Procurement



Provincial Growth Fund Co-funding for
LiDAR Capture



Health and Safety Benchmarking



Video Conferencing Services



Standardised Community Engagement
App



Council Library and Cloud Services



Lone Worker Field Solutions



Inter-Council Network (ICN) Review,
Redesign and Renegotiation



Robotic Process Automation



Debt Collections



Accounts Payable Automation Software



Collaboration Portal



Print Media Licencing





Insurance Valuations

Capital Construction and Civil Works
Projects



Contractor Online Inductions



Fortigate Firewall Services



Health and Safety Management Software



Wireless WAN



Radio Telephony (RT) Strategy



Inter-LASS Collaboration



Solid Waste Management





Insurance Forums

Human Resources Information
Systems

3
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Our Vision
“COUNCILS PARTNERING FOR VALUE AND SERVICE”

4.

Objectives of BOPLASS Ltd
Working together with the full support and involvement of staff, we will provide
benefit to councils and their stakeholders through improved levels of service, reduced
costs, improved efficiency and/or increased value through innovation.
These will be achieved primarily through:
Joint Procurement
Being the procurement of services or products by two or more councils from an
external provider regardless of whether the service is paid for through BOPLASS or
individually by participating councils.
Shared Services
Being the participation of two or more councils in the provision of a common service
which may be jointly or severally hosted.

5.

Nature and Scope of Activities
The principle nature and scope of the activities of BOPLASS Ltd is to:


Use Joint Procurement to add value to goods and services sourced for its
constituent councils.



Establish the underlying technology, framework, platform and policies to enable
and support collaboration.



Facilitate initiatives that benefit councils and their stakeholders through improved
levels of service, reduced costs, improved efficiency, innovation and/or increased
value.



Pursue best practice in the management of all activities to obtain best value and
minimise risk.



Demonstrate fiduciary responsibility by ensuring that its activities are adequately
funded from savings achieved, levies, council contributions, or Government
funding where available.



Allow other councils or organisations to participate in its activities where this will
benefit its constituent councils directly or indirectly.



Actively monitor and engage with Shared Service developments across the public
sector to identify opportunities for further development and establishing best
practice.



Represent the collective views of its Shareholders in matters with which it is
associated.
4
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Governance
BOPLASS Ltd will conduct itself in accordance with its Constitution, its annual
Statement of Intent, and the provisions of the Companies Act 1993 and the Local
Government Act 2002.
The Company is governed by its Directors. To ensure total synergy between the
Company’s activities and its council shareholders’ activities, nine Directors are also the
current Chief Executives of their respective shareholding councils. The dual roles
recognise the interdependence of BOPLASS and its councils in the undertaking of its
activities.
The Board also includes an independent Chair, appointed with specific skills and
knowledge to add incremental value. This appointment brings experience and
specialist skills that are complementary to those held by the other Directors.
Shareholder

Appointed Director

Bay of Plenty Regional Council

Fiona McTavish

Gisborne District Council

Nedine Thatcher Swann

Kawerau District Council

Russell George

Opotiki District Council

Aileen Lawrie

Rotorua Lakes Council

Geoff Williams

Taupo District Council

Gareth Green

Tauranga City Council

Marty Grenfell

Western Bay of Plenty District Council

John Holyoake

Whakatane District Council

Stephanie O’Sullivan

Independent Director and Chair

Craig O’Connell

A sub-committee of council delegates has been established by the Directors as an
Operations Committee to manage responsibility for regular monitoring and
governance of operational aspects of BOPLASS projects, allowing the Board to
primarily focus on supporting the strategic development of the organisation.
Each activity or project is managed by an Advisory Group, nominated by the
shareholding councils in that particular service. The Board retains the right to approve
nominations to the Advisory Groups and all of their material decisions – there is only
one Board of Directors and that remains at the umbrella or holding company level.
The Board has established a principle that participation in each initiative is decided by
individual councils on an ‘opt in’ basis.
Services delivered are subject to a formal service level agreement between BOPLASS
Ltd and the participating councils, outlining the services and activities provided,
where, when and how; and reflecting the capital and operational costs being met by
each service shareholder.

5
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Joint Procurement initiatives consistent with their nominated role may be undertaken
by any advisory group or as approved by the Operations Committee. In considering
Joint Procurement initiatives, the Company will take into account the opportunities
available through All of Government (AoG) purchasing arrangements and, where there
is demonstrated benefit to the Company or its constituent councils, support such
initiatives. In assessing the benefits of a Joint Procurement initiative, opportunities for
integration shall be considered. The Board has recognised that the availability of All
of Government Procurement options has the potential to impact on BOPLASS’ ability
to provide procurement options in some categories.
Subject to the approval of shareholders in accordance with the shareholder
agreement the Directors may decide that a particular activity is best managed as a
subsidiary company and proceed accordingly. Any subsidiary company whose
objectives are in accordance with the objectives set out in this Statement of Intent
shall not be required to have a separate Statement of Intent.

7.

Future Developments
The company recognises the importance of remaining adaptive in what is a complex
and changing working environment. BOPLASS continues to look at new opportunities
or alternative approaches to progressing projects that benefit our shareholding
councils.
The Board recognise that the drive for change and/or collaboration in some key areas
of council business will often be led by other groups, e.g. three waters reform, RMA
changes. Although BOPLASS may not be leading these specific projects, the
organisation may be considered as one of the vehicles available to assist with
managing collective regional outputs from these projects.
BOPLASS Joint Procurement opportunities will continue to be actively pursued to
ensure maximum savings and benefits are delivered to the participating councils
through existing and new contracts.
Joint Procurement initiatives will be considered by the Board and/or its advisory
groups where there is demonstrated support from two or more member councils, with
councils participating on an opt-in basis.
BOPLASS also recognises the importance of social procurement and will continue to
consider the broader social, cultural and environmental outcomes as part of its
procurement process.
BOPLASS will explore opportunities for councils to develop ICT solutions using
middleware and cloud technologies that allow for future sharing and the development
of Shared Services without the wholesale replacement of IT systems.
The Board will be looking for commitment from councils to participate in collaborative
services and to provide a lead in the identification and management of opportunities
and projects.

6

Item 11.2 - Attachment 4

Page 187

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

8.

11 April 2022

Inter-Regional Collaboration
The board recognise the benefits of BOPLASS proactively partnering with other local
authorities and Shared Services organisations where they are either developing or
considering developing cost effective services or Joint Procurement initiatives that are
of value to the BOPLASS councils. The Board is looking to expand on this activity and
the range of opportunities for inter-regional partnering. BOPLASS will work towards
providing improved visibility of projects being undertaken in other regions that may
provide for multiple councils to participate in.
Where it is practicable, BOPLASS will work with other LASS or councils to leverage off,
or participate in, services established by other collective local government groups.
The Collaboration Portal, established by BOPLASS for the sharing of information on
Shared Services or Joint Procurement opportunities, has been made available to the
wider local government community to provide better visibility of common projects
and to encourage further cross-regional collaboration. BOPLASS will continue to
market the benefits of inter-region collaboration and assist other councils through
providing support and access to the Collaboration Portal.
BOPLASS has provided substantial savings to its shareholding councils through joint
procurement and the Board has tasked BOPLASS with leading further inter-regional
joint procurement initiatives that will provide benefit to all parties through an
aggregated approach.
Significant benefits and savings have been achieved in the placement of councils’
insurance through working in conjunction with other LASS. BOPLASS is considered a
key contributor to the development of the interLASS insurance collective.
Unfortunately, cost-effective placements and coverage are becoming more
challenging to achieve as a result of the hardening of global insurance markets.
Opportunities for the LASS groups to share a specialised internal resource to ensure
we maintain our favourable position within the insurance industry will be investigated.

9.

Stakeholder Engagement
BOPLASS recognises the ambitious plans our constituent councils have for their
communities and endeavours to support these aspirations through:







Regular engagement at project, management and governance level;
Including councils’ short, medium and long-term goals within BOPLASS planning;
Using quality information from councils to guide our decision-making;
Identifying and developing services that directly benefit councils and/or their
communities;
Monitoring councils’ future plans and remaining agile to change to include these
aspirations in our own planning;
Ensuring Operation Committee members include regular communication about
individual council LTP developments to assist BOPLASS with aligning with
councils’ strategic direction;

7
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Regularly communicating to ensure stakeholders are aware of what we are doing
and why we are doing it;
Involving councils in our decision-making and planning.

10. Performance Targets
To ensure the Company continues to operate effectively in both governance and
management terms over the next three years the targets are to:
Target

How

Measure

Ensure supplier agreements
are proactively managed to
maximise benefits for BOPLASS
councils.

Manage and/or renegotiate
existing contracts.

Contracts reviewed annually to
test for market competitiveness.
New suppliers are awarded
contracts through a competitive
procurement process involving
two or more vendors where
applicable.

Investigate new Joint
Procurement initiatives for
goods and services for
BOPLASS councils.

Procure from sources offering
best value, service, continuity
of supply and/or continued
opportunities for integration.
(Current identified projects are
listed in Appendix B.)

A minimum of four new
procurement initiatives
investigated. Initiatives provide
financial savings of greater than
5% and/or improved service
levels to the participating
councils.

Identify opportunities to
collaborate with other LASS in
Procurement or Shared Service
projects where alliance
provides benefits to all parties.

BOPLASS to regularly engage
with other LASS to identify and
explore opportunities for
further inter-regional
collaboration.

Quarterly reporting on
engagement and a minimum of
one new collaborative initiative
undertaken annually.

Further develop and extend
the Collaboration Portal for
access to, and sharing of,
project information and
opportunities from other
councils and the greater Local
Government community to
increase breadth of BOPLASS
collaboration.

Increase usage of the
Collaboration Portal by
providing support and training
material for new and existing
users.
Proactively market the benefits
to councils.

Number of listed projects to
increase by 5% per year.
Number of active users to
increase by 5% per year.

Communicate with each
shareholding council at
appropriate levels.

Meeting with members of
Executive Leadership Team.

At least one meeting per year.

Ensure current funding model
is appropriate.

Review BOPLASS expenditure
and income and review council
contributions and other
sources of funding.

Performance against budgets
reviewed quarterly. Company
remains financially viable.

8
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11. Balance Sheet Ratios
The Local Government Act 2002 Schedule 8 (9) requires the SOI to include the
projected ratio of shareholders’ funds to total assets within the Forecast Statement of
Financial Position. As at 30 June 2021 the consolidated Shareholder funds comprised
$45,826 and the total assets were $1,492,395. The resulting ratio is 3.07%.
As asset owning Shared Services are approved, the Board will, if appropriate, provide
a mechanism for the recognition of each council’s contribution.

12. Accounting Policies
12.1

Statement of Accounting Principles
The Company will adopt accounting practices that comply with NZ IFRS, the
requirements of the LGA and the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

12.2

IPSAS Accounting Standards
As a Public Sector Public Benefit Entity (PS PBE), the Company has elected to
report using International Public Sector Accounting Standards for Public
Benefit Entities under Tier 3 PBE standards.

12.3

Measurement Basis
The Company will follow generally accepted international accounting
principles for reporting of earnings and financial position.

12.4

Specific Accounting Principles
The following are principles which will have a significant effect on the
measurement of financial position:


Accounts Receivable are stated at their expected realisable value after
writing off any known bad debts and providing for doubtful debts.



Investments are valued at the prevailing market value.



Fixed assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation.



Any liability for overseas funding of equipment, systems or services is
based on the prevailing exchange rate as at balance date.



Where intangible assets are purchased, such as intellectual property,
these are capitalised and written off on a straight line basis over their
expected life, but no greater than four years.



All assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives. Depreciation
is provided on a diminishing value basis over the estimated useful life,
at the same rate as is allowed by the Income Tax Act 1994.

9
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It is not envisaged that the Company will hold inventories, other than
those that might relate to providing information services to a number of
parties. They will be valued at net realisable value.



Taxation will be provided as required in line with relevant legislation.



In accordance with the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Local Government
Act 2002, the office of the Auditor General will be responsible for the
audit of the Company’s financial statements.

13. Distributions to Shareholders
The Company is not expected to make profits that would ordinarily be distributed by
way of dividends. Any surplus funds (after tax) remaining from an activity or the
annual operations of the Company shall be carried forward to the ensuing year and
may be used to reduce service costs, invest in further developing other services,
and/or as the Directors may decide.

14. Information to be Provided to Shareholders
The Company will deliver the following statements to shareholders:


On a three monthly basis the Financial Position and Cashflow.



Within two months of the end of the first half of the financial year: Financial
Performance and Financial Position.



Within three months of the end of the financial year the following audited
statements: Financial Position, Movements in Equity, Cashflows, Service
Performance plus a summary of how the Company has tracked against its
objectives and prospects for the next financial year, and a report on the
Company’s medium to long term plans.



Six monthly summaries of project activities included in Half Yearly and Annual
Reports.

15. Procedures for the Purchase and Acquisition of Shares
The Board will give approval before BOPLASS Ltd subscribes for, purchases or
otherwise acquires shares in any company or other organisation, which is external to
the group.

16. Activities for Which the Board Seeks Compensation
The ongoing activities to identify, develop, procure Shared Services will be budgeted
for in advance, subject to a business case and either funded by individual councils
without BOPLASS Ltd involvement, or agreed by the Board to be funded by BOPLASS
Ltd with consequent recovery from participating councils.

10
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Shareholding councils will make a contribution to the operational costs of the
Company on an annually agreed basis.
The Company will also seek contributions by way of a levy or administration charges
on services provided or administered. In determining an appropriate charge, the
Directors may take into account the cost of running the Company, its future
operational requirements, the nature and cost of the service provided, benefits
achieved and councils’ ability to pay.
The Company may provide services (at a cost recovery or a cost plus basis) to other
non-shareholding councils within or beyond the region. Any surplus from such
activity will be used to either reduce service costs and/or invest in further developing
of that or other services, as agreed by the Advisory Group and by the Board.

17. Value of Shareholder’s Investment
The Directors estimate that, at this stage, BOPLASS Ltd has limited commercial value.
As each shareholder’s investment in BOPLASS Ltd is less than $20,000, the Board
believe that fairly represents the value of their investment. The Directors will reassess
the value of this shareholding on or about the 1st of March each year.

18. Financial Forecasts
The Forecast Financial Statements for the years 2022-2025 are included (Appendix A).
The Aerial Photography revenue/expenses reflects the flying programme determined
by the participating councils which includes interim flying programmes and extensive
region-wide flying programmes over the next five years.
A continued increase in Recoveries has been forecast to reflect the direct recovery of
purchases made on behalf of councils through Joint Procurement projects.
It is the company’s intention to always fully recover costs incurred on behalf of
participating councils.

11
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Appendix A
SOI Forecast 2021/24

Budget
2021/22

Forecast
2022/2023

Forecast
2023/2024

Forecast
2024/2025

REVENUE
Revenue - Core

306,339

313,992

321,837

200

200

200

200

306,139

313,792

321,637

329,678

1,199,000

1,301,600

1,211,100

1,421,200

300,000

400,000

300,000

500,000

6,000

4,100

4,100

4,200

Collaboration Portal

45,000

50,000

55,000

55,000

Lease Income - ICN

135,000

130,000

125,000

125,000

30,500

15,000

15,000

15,000

2,500

2,500

2,000

2,000

680,000

700,000

710,000

720,000

1,505,339

1,615,592

1,532,937

1,751,078

374,950

384,570

396,453

404,999

800

850

900

950

2,000

2,100

2,200

2,200

Accounting & Audit

20,700

21,300

22,000

22,800

Administration

17,300

17,500

18,000

18,500

5,000

7,700

8,700

9,400

200

200

200

200

2,000

2,100

2,200

2,200

Bank Interest Received
Council Contribution
Revenue - Projects
Aerial Photography Income
Bank Interest Received

Lease Income - Video Confer.
Rebates
Recoveries
Total Operating Revenue

329,878

EXPENSES
Expenditure - Core
ACC
Accommodation & Travel

Amortisation
Bank Fees
Conferences
Depreciation

650

650

650

650

21,000

21,000

23,000

24,000

Fringe Benefit Tax

3,500

3,500

4,000

4,500

General & Catering

2,000

2,200

2,400

2,400

Health and Safety

1,000

1,000

1,000

1,000

Insurance

9,500

10,500

12,000

13,000

Directors costs

Interest Paid - TCC Loan

500

500

500

500

2,000

2,000

2,000

2,500

Salaries

278,000

282,170

286,403

290,699

Salaries - C'Portal Opex

-16,500

-16,500

-17,000

-18,000

Staff Support Costs

17,000

17,500

18,500

18,500

Staff Training Costs

2,000

2,000

2,500

2,500

Subscriptions

1,000

1,000

1,000

1,000

Tax Advice

5,300

5,300

5,300

5,500

1,130,389

1,231,022

1,136,484

1,346,079

300,000

400,000

300,000

500,000

26,119

27,122

27,884

27,979

129,600

124,800

120,000

120,000

Legal

Expenditure - Projects
Aerial Photography Expense
Collaboration Portal Opex
Lease Expense - ICN
Lease Expense - Video Confer.
Projects - Recoveries
Total Operating Expenditure
Operational Surplus/ (Deficit) before Tax

28,670

14,100

14,100

14,100

646,000

665,000

674,500

684,000

1,505,339

1,615,592

1,532,937

1,751,078

0

0

0

0

12

Item 11.2 - Attachment 4

Page 193

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

11 April 2022

Appendix B
Completed Joint Procurement Projects
Requiring ongoing management for performance, renewal or replacement:
 Collective Geospatial training

 Risk management

 Aerial Imagery

 N3/GSB

 Provincial Growth Fund co-funding for
LiDAR Capture

 GIS software

 Antenno community engagement app

 Security services

 Insurance Valuations

 Antivirus software

 Contractor online inductions

 Video conferencing

 Eastern BOP Electricity

 Above ground asset insurance

 Health and Safety Management Software

 GPS vehicle tracking

 Solid Waste Management

 Archaeological services

 Insurance Forums

 Telephony – voice, data, mobile

 Asbestos protocols

 Reprographic – printers/copiers

 Sustainable Public Procurement

 Media monitoring services

 Health and Safety Benchmarking

 EFTPOS services

 Council Library and cloud services

 Historical imagery digitisation

 Inter-Council Network (ICN) review,
redesign and renegotiation

 Online services

 Debt Collections
 Collaboration Portal
 Capital Construction and Civil Works
Projects
 Inter-LASS collaboration
 Spark Fortigate Firewall Services
 Evolution Networks Wireless WAN
 Office supplies
 Banking
 Postal services
 Courier services
 Fuel
 Advertising services
 Travel and accommodation services
 Air travel
 Insurance brokerage

 Health insurance

 Internal audit services
 Health and safety training services
 Risk management workshops
 Infrastructure Insurance
 Collective H&S training
 EMA membership
 Environmental insurance
 Print Media Copyright Services
 Health and Safety software
 Tender Facilitation
 Regional LiDAR Capture
 Standards NZ
 Accounts Payable Automation
Software
 FME Server
 Human Resources Information
Systems

13
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Appendix B
Identified Joint Procurement Projects
 Civil works contracts

 Recruitment/candidate management

 Civil works materials

 Surveys and research

 Infrastructure valuation services

 Media distribution services

 High volume print

 CD emergency notifications

 Electronic document management

 Fleet purchasing

 Archives

 Push wireless

 Document storage

 Fleet management

 Document scanning

 Community communication systems

 Agenda management software

 Lone worker field solutions

 ICT security policies

 LiDAR acquisition – PGF

 Business continuity

 Drug & alcohol testing

 IT applications
 Property valuation services

 Electronic agenda and minute
management

 Telephony platform

 Occupational health

 Chemicals

 Health & Safety training

 Digital signatures

Collaborative Projects
Managed by BOPLASS or by one or more constituent councils:
 IT hosting / IaaS

 Video conferencing

 Shared datacentre

 GIS imagery data storage

 Internal audit services

 Historic aerial imagery

 GIS web services

 Sustainable procurement

 Shared licence server
 Contractor H&S prequalification

 Diversion of putrescible waste from
landfill

 Radio telephony strategy

 Civil works projects marketing

 Collaboration Portal

 Robotics processing automation

 After hours call management

 Civil Defence Emergency Management

 Archive service

 Insurance Valuations

 Debt management

 Inter-LASS collaboration

 Health and safety auditing

 Regional waste operator licensing and
data collection

 Inter-council network (ICN)
 Smart cities

 Zoom licencing and group plan

 Section 17A reviews

14
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Appendix B
Projects for Consideration
 Rates Collection

 Infrastructure development codes

 Geospatial services
 Joint software support

 Solid waste regional facilities
strategy

 Asset Management

 Building consents

 Web services

 Regional Civil Defence

 Payroll

 Document digitisation

 Consents Processing

 Capital Expenditure projects

 CCTV monitoring

 Project management office

 Information Services

 Windscreen replacement

 HR Information Systems

 Driver training

 Electronic Document and Records
Management System

 Staff engagement survey systems

 Business continuity planning

 Centralised insurance resource

 Contractor online inductions
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1. Introduction
This Statement of Intent (SOI) sets out the nature and scope of the activities, objectives and performance targets for
the New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA) for the three-year period 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2025.
LGFA is enabled under the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011 and is a council-controlled organisation (CCO) for the
purposes of the Local Government Act 2002.
The SOI is prepared in accordance with section 64(1) of the Local Government Act 2002.

2. Nature and scope of activities
LGFA raises debt funding for the purpose of providing debt financing to New Zealand local authorities and CCOs
(participating borrowers).
LGFA may raise debt funding either domestically and/or offshore in either NZ dollars or foreign currency.
LGFA only lends to participating borrowers that have entered into required relevant legal and operational
arrangements and comply with the LGFA’s lending policies.
In addition, LGFA may undertake any other activities considered by the LGFA Board to be reasonably related,
incidentally to, or in connection with, that business.

3. Our purpose Ta tatou kaupapa
Benefiting local communities through delivering efficient financing for
local government.
Ka whiwhi painga ngā hapori mā te whakarato pūtea tōtika ki ngā kaunihera.

4. Our values Ō mātau uara
We act with
integrity
E pono ana
mātau

We are honest,
transparent and are
committed to doing
what is best for our
customers and our
company

We are
customer
focused
E arotahi ana
mātau ki te
kiritaki
Our customers
are our council
borrowers, investors,
and all other
organisations that
we deal with. We
listen to them and
act in their best
interests to deliver
results that make a
positive difference

Statement of Intent // 2022 – 2025 // Draft
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We strive for
excellence

We provide
leadership

We are
innovative

E whakapau
kaha mātau kia
hiranga te mahi

He kaiārahi
mātau

He auaha
mātau

We strive to excel
by delivering
financial products
and services that
are highly valued
at least cost while
seeking continuous
improvement in
everything we do.

We are here for
our stakeholders in
being strategically
minded, providing
resilience and
executing our
strategy. We
embrace a highperformance culture
and can be relied
upon to deliver
results.

To meet our everchanging customer
requirements, we
will encourage
innovation and
provide a diverse
range of financial
products and
services.
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5. Foundation objectives
The Shareholders’ Agreement is a foundation document and states that, in accordance with the Local Government
Act, in carrying on its business the objectives of the Company will be to:
(a) 	achieve the objectives of the Shareholders (both commercial and non-commercial) as specified in the Statement of
Intent. The Shareholders agree that the Company shall carry on its business with a view to making a profit sufficient
to pay a dividend in accordance with the Dividend Policy, but that the primary objective of the Shareholders with
respect to the Company is that it optimises the terms and conditions of the debt funding it provides to Participating
Local Authorities;
(b) 	be a good employer;
(c) 	exhibit a sense of social and environmental responsibility by having regard to the interests of the community in
which it operates and by endeavouring to accommodate or encourage these when able to do so; and
(d) 	conduct its affairs in accordance with sound business practice.
This Statement of Intent sets out the company’s strategic priorities, together with associated objectives and
performance targets, which align with the foundation objectives and have been agreed with shareholders.

6. Strategic priorities
The following five strategic priorities encompass the foundation objectives and guide the LGFA Board and
management in determining our strategy, objectives and associated performance targets.

Governance, capability and business practice
LGFA is committed demonstrating best practice corporate governance underpinned by sound business practice
to ensure its long-term sustainability and success.

Optimising financing services for local government
LGFA’s primary objective is to optimise the terms and conditions of the debt funding it provides to participating
borrowers. Amongst other things, LGFA will achieve this by delivering operational best practice and efficiency across
our lending products and services.

Environmental and social responsibility
LGFA recognises the risks inherent in climate change for councils and supports New Zealand’s shift to a low-carbon
economy. LGFA will exhibit a sense of social and environmental responsibility by having regard to the interests of the
community in which it operates and by endeavouring to accommodate or encourage these when able to do so.

Effective management of loans
LGFA will ensure its loan book remains at a high standard by ensuring it understands each participating borrower’s
financial position and managing assets within an appropriate risk management framework to ensure shareholder
value is not compromised.

Industry leadership and engagement
LGFA will take a proactive role to enhance the financial strength and depth of the local government debt market
and will work with key central government and local government stakeholders on sector issues.

7. Objectives and performance targets
This section sets out LGFA’s objectives and performance targets for SOI 2022-2025.
The financial performance targets are focused on the 2022-2023 year and, as applicable, are based on the financial
forecasts outlined in section 8.
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Governance, capability and business practice
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Demonstrate best practice
corporate governance.

The Annual Report outlines our compliance with the eight core principles
underpinning the NZX Corporate Governance Best Practice Code.

Set and model high standards
of ethical behaviour.

LGFA has adopted a formal Code of Ethics, incorporating its Conflicts of
Interest and Code of Conduct policies, which sets out the standards and
values that directors and employees are expected to follow.

Achieve the shareholder-agreed
objectives and performance targets
specified in this Statement of Intent.

LGFA reports performance against objectives quarterly to shareholders
and in our Annual Report.

Ensure products and services offered
to participating borrowers are
delivered in a cost-effective manner.

LGFA prepares annual operating budgets and monitors progress against
these monthly. Financial performance is reported quarterly to shareholders
and in our Annual Report.

Be a good employer by providing
safe working conditions, training and
development and equal opportunities
for staff.

The Annual Report reports on our health and safety and wellbeing practices
and policies, including Covid-related safety processes, compliance with the
Health and Safety at Work Act, diversity and inclusion and capability and
development.

Performance targets

2022-2023 target

Comply with the Shareholder Foundation Polices and the Board-approved Treasury Policy
at all times.

No breaches

Maintain LGFA’s credit rating equal to the New Zealand Government sovereign rating
where both entities are rated by the same Rating Agency.

LGFA credit ratings
equivalent to NZ
Sovereign.

LGFA’s total operating income for the period to 30 June 2023.

> $18.3 million

LGFA’s total operating expenses for the period to 30 June 2023.

< $8.3 million

Optimising financing services for local government
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Provide interest cost savings relative
to alternative sources of financing.

Measure LGFA issuance spreads against other high grade issuers in the
New Zealand domestic capital markets.

Offer flexible short and long-term
lending products that meet the
borrowing requirements for borrowers.

Measure LGFA’s share of overall council borrowing.

Deliver operational best practice and
efficiency for lending services.

Monitor settlements errors for new trades and cashflows.

Ensure certainty of access to debt
markets, subject always to operating
in accordance with sound business
practice.

Maintain a vibrant primary and secondary market in LGFA bonds. Monitor
participation by investors at our tenders through bid-coverage ratios
and successful issuance yield ranges.
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2022-2023 target

Share of aggregate long-term debt funding to the Local Government sector.

> 80%

Total lending to Participating Borrowers.

> $14,558 million

Conduct an annual survey of Participating Borrowers who borrow from LGFA as to the
value added by LGFA to the borrowing activities.

> 85% satisfaction score

Successfully refinance existing loans to councils and LGFA bond maturities as they fall
due.

100%

Meet all lending requests from Participating Borrowers, where those requests meet LGFA
operational and covenant requirements.

100%

Environmental and social responsibility
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Assist the local government sector
in achieving their sustainability and
climate change objectives.

LGFA is committed to assist borrowers financing of projects that promote
environmental and social wellbeing in New Zealand. Green, Social & Sustainability
(GSS) loan applications from councils are appraised by the LGFA Sustainability
Committee, with approved loans monitored for ongoing compliance.

Improve sustainability outcomes
within LGFA.

LGFA is committed to reducing our carbon emissions and formalised
processes to measure our greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, as well as
management plans to reduce our company’s emissions.

Performance targets

2022-2023 target

Comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015

No breaches

Maintain Toitū Carbon Zero certification

Carbon-zero
certification maintained.

Meet reduction targets outlined in our carbon reduction management plan.

Reduction targets met.

Increase our GSS lending book

Two new participating
borrowers enter into GSS
loans.

Ensure Annual Report is prepared in compliance with applicable GRI Standards.

100%

Meet all mandatory climate reporting standards.

100%

Effective management of loans
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Proactively monitor and review each
Participating Borrower’s financial
position, including its financial
headroom under LGFA policies.
Analyse finances at the Council group
level where appropriate and report to
shareholders.
Endeavour to meet each participating
borrower annually, including meeting
with elected officials as required, or if
requested.
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Performance targets

2022-2023 target

Review each Participating Borrower’s financial position, its headroom under LGFA policies.

100%

Arrange to meet each Participating Borrower at least annually, including meeting with
elected officials as required, or if requested.

100%

7. Industry leadership and engagement
Objectives

How we measure our performance

LGFA will:
Take a proactive role to enhance the financial strength
and depth of the local government debt market and
work with key central government and local government
stakeholders on sector and individual council issues.

Report on actions undertaken and progress made on
sector issues.

Assist the local government sector with significant
matters such as COVID -19 response and the proposed
Three Waters Reform Programme.
Support councils and CCOs in the development of
reporting disclosures of the impacts of sector activity on
climate change.

8. Financial forecasts
LGFA’s financial forecasts for the three years to 30 June 2025 are:

Comprehensive income $m
Net Interest income
Other operating income
Total operating income

Jun 23

Jun 24

Jun 25

16.8

18.4

17.2

1.5

1.5

1.5

18.3

19.9

18.7

Approved Issuer Levy

0.8

0.3

0.3

Issuance & onlending costs

2.9

3.0

3.1

Operating overhead

4.7

4.9

5.2

Issuance and operating expenses

8.4

8.3

8.6

Net profit

9.9

11.7

10.0

Jun 23

Jun 24

Jun 25

Financial position (nominals) $m
Liquid assets portfolio
Loans to local government
Other assets

1,912

2,033

2,230

14,558

15,567

16,270

-

-

-

Total assets

16,470

17,599

18,500

Bonds on issue (ex Treasury stock)

15,335

16,407

17,258

Bills on issue

500

500

500

Borrower notes

303

339

369

Other liabilities

-

-

-

Total liabilities

16,138

17,246

18,127

Capital

25

25

25

Retained earnings

92

103

113

Shareholder equity

117

128

138
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Jun 23

Jun 24

Jun 25

12.2%

12.1%

12.7%

Liquid assets / total assets

11.6%

11.6%

12.1%

Net interest margin

0.12%

0.12%

0.11%

Cost to income ratio

45.9%

41.5%

46.3%

Return on average assets

0.06%

0.07%

0.05%

Shareholder equity/total assets

0.7%

0.7%

0.7%

Shareholder equity + BN/total assets

2.5%

2.7%

2.7%

Asset growth

6.5%

6.9%

5.1%

Loan growth

8.5%

6.9%

4.5%

Return on equity

9.3%

10.0%

7.8%

Capital ratio

12.7%

13.3%

13.7%

Note there is a level of uncertainty regarding the June 2024 and June 2025 financial years forecasts due to the
uncertainty relating to the Three Waters Reform and the impact on councils.
Councils prepared their 2021-31 Long Term Plans (and borrowing forecasts) on the assumption that Three Water Reform
was not progressing and we have made the same assumption with our forecasts. LGFA projects it could have between
$4 to $5 billion of loans to councils in June 2024 that are related to Three Waters. There have been no decisions made to
date regarding the transfer of assets and liabilities from councils to the proposed Three Water entities.

9. Dividend policy
LGFA primary objective is to maximise benefits to participating borrowers rather than shareholders. Consequently,
it is intended to pay a limited dividend to shareholders.
The Board’s policy is to pay a dividend that provides an annual rate of return to shareholders equal to LGFA fixed rate
bond cost of funds plus 2.00% over the medium term.
At all times payment of any dividend will be discretionary and subject to the Board’s legal obligations and views
on appropriate capital structure.

10. Governance
Board
The Board is responsible for the strategic direction and control of LGFA’s activities. The Board guides and monitors the
business and affairs of LGFA, in accordance with the Companies Act 1993, the Local Government Act 2002, the Local
Government Borrowing Act 2011, the Company’s Constitution, the Shareholders’ Agreement for LGFA and this SOI.
The Board comprises six directors with five being independent directors and one being a non-independent director.
The Board’s approach to governance is to adopt best practice with respect to:
•	The operation of the Board.
• The performance of the Board.
• Managing the relationship with the Company’s Chief Executive.
• Being accountable to all Shareholders.
All directors are required to comply with a formal Charter.
The Board will meet on a regular basis and no fewer than six times each year.

Shareholders’ Council
The Shareholders’ Council is made up of between five and ten appointees of the Shareholders (including an appointee
from the Crown). The role of the Shareholders’ Council is to:
Review the performance of LGFA and the Board, and report to Shareholders on that performance on a periodic basis.
•	
•	Make recommendations to Shareholders as to the appointment, removal, replacement and remuneration
of directors.
Statement of Intent // 2022 – 2025 // Draft
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•	Make recommendations to Shareholders as to any changes to policies, or the SOI, requiring their approval.
Ensure all Shareholders are fully informed on LGFA matters and to coordinate Shareholders on governance decisions.
•	

11. Information to be provided to Shareholders
The Board aims to ensure that Shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting LGFA’s state of affairs,
while at the same time recognising both LGFA’s obligations under NZX Listing Rules and that commercial sensitivity
may preclude certain information from being made public.

Annual Report
The LGFA’s balance date is 30 June.
By 30 September each year, the Company will produce an Annual Report complying with Sections 67, 68 and 69 of the
Local Government Act 2002, the Companies Act 1993 and Financial Reporting Act 2013. The Annual Report will contain
the information necessary to enable an informed assessment of the operations of the company, and will include
the following information:
•	Directors’ Report.
Financial Statements incorporating a Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Movements in Equity,
•	
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cashflows, Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts.
•	Comparison of the LGFA’s performance regarding the objectives and performance targets set out in the SOI,
with an explanation of any material variances.
•	Auditor’s Report on the financial statements and the performance targets.
•	Any other information that the directors consider appropriate.

Half Yearly Report
By 28 February each year, the Company will produce a Half Yearly Report complying with Section 66 of the Local
Government Act 2002. The Half Yearly Report will include the following information:
•	Directors’ commentary on operations for the relevant six-month period.
•	Un-audited half-yearly Financial Statements incorporating a Statement of Financial Performance, Statement
of Movements in Equity, Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cashflows.

Quarterly Report
By 31 January, 30 April, 31 July, and 31 October each year, the Company will produce a Quarterly Report.
The Quarterly Report will include the following information:
•	Commentary on operations for the relevant quarter, including a summary of borrowing margins charged
to Participating Borrower’s (in credit rating bands).
•	Comparison of LGFA’s performance regarding the objectives and performance targets set out in the SOI,
with an explanation of any material variances.
•	Analysis of the weighted average maturity of LGFA bonds outstanding.
•	In the December Quarterly Report only, commentary on the Net Debt/Total Revenue percentage for each
Participating Local Authority that has borrowed from LGFA (as at the end of the preceding financial year).
•	To the extent known by LGFA, details of all events of review in respect of any Participating Borrower that occurred
during the relevant quarter (including steps taken, or proposed to be taken, by LGFA in relation thereto).
•	Details of any lending to CCOs during the quarter and the amount of CCO loans outstanding.
•	Commentary on sustainability initiatives.

Statement of Intent
By 1 March in each year the Company will deliver to the Shareholders its draft SOI for the following year in the form
required by Clause 9(1) of Schedule 8 and Section 64(1) of the Local Government Act 2002.
Having considered any comments from the Shareholders received by 30 April, the Board will deliver the completed SOI
to the Shareholders on or before 30 June each year.
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Shareholder Meetings
The Board will hold an Annual General Meeting between 30 September and 30 November each year to present the
Annual Report to all Shareholders.
The Company will hold a meeting with the Shareholders’ Council approximately every six months – prior to the Annual
General Meeting and after the Half Yearly Report has been submitted. Other meetings may be held by agreement
between the Board and the Shareholders’ Council.

12. Acquisition/divestment policy
LGFA will invest in securities in the ordinary course of business. It is expected that these securities will be debt securities.
These investments will be governed by LGFA’s lending and/or investment policies as approved by the Board and/or
Shareholders.
Any subscription, purchase or acquisition by LGFA of shares in a company or organisation will, if not within those
investment policies, require Shareholder approval other than as concerns the formation of wholly-owned subsidiaries
and the subscription of shares in such wholly-owned subsidiaries.

13. Activities for which compensation is sought from Shareholders
At the request of Shareholders, LGFA may (at its discretion) undertake activities that are not consistent with its normal
commercial objectives. Specific financial arrangements will be entered into to meet the full cost of providing such
activities.
Currently there are no activities for which compensation will be sought from Shareholders.

14. Commercial value of Shareholder’s investment
LGFA will seek to maximise benefits to Participating Local Authorities as Borrowers rather than Shareholders.
Subject to the Board’s views on the appropriate capital structure for LGFA, the Board’s intention will be to pay a
dividend that provides an annual rate of return to Principal Shareholders equal to LGFA fixed rate bond cost of funds
plus 2.00% over the medium term.
As the Shareholders will have invested in the LGFA on the basis of this limited dividend, the Board considered that at
establishment the commercial value of LGFA was equal to the face value of the Shareholders’ paid up Principal Shares
- $25 million.
In the absence of any subsequent share transfers to the observed share transfers on 30 November 2012, the Board
considers the current commercial value of LGFA is at least equal to the face value of the Shareholders’ paid up
Principal Shares of $25 million. This equates to a value per share of $1.00.

15. Accounting policies
LGFA has adopted accounting policies that are in accordance with the New Zealand International Financial Reporting
Standards and generally accepted accounting practice. A Statement of accounting policies is attached to this SOI.
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Statement of accounting policies
1. Reporting entity
The New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA) is a company registered under the Companies Act
1993 and is subject to the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002.
LGFA is a council-controlled organisation as defined under section 6 of the Local Government Act 2002. LGFA is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand.
The primary objective of LGFA is to optimise the debt funding terms and conditions for participating borrowers.
The registered address of LGFA is Level 8, City Chambers, 142 Featherston Street, Wellington Central, Wellington 6011.
The financial statements are as at and for the year ended 30 June 2021.
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 30 August 2021.

2. Statement of compliance
LGFA is an FMC reporting entity under the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 (FMCA). These financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with that Act and the Financial Reporting Act 2013. LGFA’s bonds are quoted on the NZX
Debt Market.
LGFA is a profit orientated entity as defined under the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards (NZ IFRS).
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (NZ GAAP) and they comply with NZ IFRS and other applicable Financial Reporting Standard, as appropriate
for Tier 1 for-profit entities. The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

3. Basis of preparation
Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis modified by the revaluation of certain assets
and liabilities.
The financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis.
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars rounded to the nearest thousand, unless separately
identified. The functional currency of LGFA is New Zealand dollars.
Foreign currency conversions
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into New Zealand dollars using exchange rates applied
on the trade date of the transaction.
Changes in accounting policies
LGFA does not consider any standards or interpretations on issue but not yet effective to have a significant impact on
its financial statements.
Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets, other than derivatives, are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand; cash in transit and bank accounts and deposits with an original
maturity of no more than three months.
Purchases and sales of all financial assets are accounted for at trade date.
At each balance date, an expected credit loss assessment is performed for all financial assets and is calculated as
either:
•	Credit losses that may arise from default events that are possible within the next 12 months, where no significant
increase in credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the asset, or
•	Credit losses that may arise from default events that are possible over the expected life of the financial asset, where
a significant increase in credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the asset.
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Impairment losses on financial assets will ordinarily be recognised on initial recognition as a 12-month expected loss
allowance and move to a lifetime expected loss allowance if there is a significant deterioration in credit risk since
acquisition.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities, other than derivatives, are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are recognised both initially and subsequently at fair value. They are reported as either
assets or liabilities depending on whether the derivative is in a net gain or net loss position respectively.
Fair value hedge
Where a derivative qualifies as a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of an asset or liability (fair value
hedge) any gain or loss on the derivative is recognised in profit and loss together with any changes in the fair value of
the hedged asset or liability.
The carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted by the fair value gain or loss on the hedged item in respect of the
risk being hedged. Effective parts of the hedge are recognised in the same area of profit and loss as the hedged item.
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of an item of
property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual value, over its remaining useful life.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise software and project costs incurred for the implementation of the treasury management
system. Capitalised computer software costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
software (three to seven years). Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as expenses.
Other liabilities
Employee entitlements
Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, annual leave and other similar benefits are recognised in the profit and
loss when they accrue to employees.
Revenue
Interest income
Interest income is accrued using the effective interest rate method.
The effective interest rate exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. The method applies this rate to the principal outstanding to determine
interest income each period.
Expenses
Expenses are recognised in the period to which they relate.
Interest expense
Interest expense is accrued using the effective interest rate method.
The effective interest rate exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial
liability to that liability’s net carrying amount. The method applies this rate to the principal outstanding to determine
interest expense each period.
Income tax
LGFA is exempt from income tax under Section 14 of the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011.
Goods and services tax
All items in the financial statements are presented exclusive of goods and service tax (GST), except for receivables
and payables, which are presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, then it is
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.
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The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD is included as part of receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is
classified as a net operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.
Segment reporting
LGFA operates in one segment being funding of participating borrowers in New Zealand.
Judgements and estimations
The preparation of these financial statements requires judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts. For example, the fair value of financial instruments depends critically on
judgements regarding future cash flows, including inflation assumptions and the risk-free discount rate.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates and these
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Where these judgements significantly affect
the amounts recognised in the financial statements they are described in the following notes.
The financial statements as at 30 June 2021 include estimates and judgements of the potential impact of COVID-19 and
the Three Waters Reform Programme on LGFA’s financial position and performance. Whilst there has been no material
impact on the estimates and judgements at the date these financial statements are authorised, it is noted that there is
significant uncertainty with regards to the medium and long-term effects of COVID-19, as well as the outcome of Three
Waters Reform Programme on the local government sector.
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13 December 2021
Simon Clarke
Chair, Bay Venues Limited
Trustpower Baypark
81 Truman Lane
Mount Maungaunui 3152
By email: simon@matuagovernance.com

Tēnā koe Simon
Letter of Expectation from Tauranga City Council to Bay Venues Limited for 2022-2023
We acknowledge that the past 12 months have once again been a challenging time f or Bay Venues
Limited (BVL), with the ongoing uncertainty of COVID. Council recognises the dif f iculties this creates,
particularly in the sport, recreation and events industry, and we would like to commend you, your
Board and the BVL team f or the huge ef f ort and dedication that you have all shown this year.
We have had good dialogue over the past f ive months and while the BVL Board is still relatively new,
we are heartened by the Board’s commitment to building strong relationships and aligning the
organisation more closely to Council’s expectations. We would like to see a continuation of the
Board’s commitment to implementing all of the recommendations of the recent strategic review of
BVL, which were outlined in my letter of 29 April 2021, providing shareholder f eedback to your
previous draf t Statement of Intent (attached).
As Tauranga’s Commissioners, we are privileged to hear f rom our community. The biggest part of our
work programme to date has been the adoption of Tauranga’s Long -Term Plan f or 2021-2031, where
we listened to iwi, business, community leaders and residents expressing their aspirations f or the
f uture of Tauranga Moana. We expect that BVL will continue to be part of these conversations as we
develop our City Vision and f urther strategic direction f or Tauranga city.
The decisions adopted af fect the social, cultural, environmental and economic well-beings of
Tauranga – now and in the f uture. An overwhelming sentiment was f or council to deliver more
investment into the community, and the commitment we made is to “put the community at the heart of
everything we do”.
Community outcomes
Council’s community outcomes are the starting point f or our Long -term Plan and guide our decision
making. We have chosen three specif ic outcomes f or BVL to include in the development of your
Statement of Intent (SOI):
•

We have a well-planned city – Tauranga is a city that is well-planned, with a variety of
successf ul and thriving compact centres, resilient inf rastructure, and community amenities. More
specif ically, we need your input into the review of our community halls and community centres, as
well as the development of masterplans f or Blake Park, Baypark and the proposed Tauranga
Domain stadium.

•

We are inclusive – Tauranga is a city that recognises and promotes partnership with tangata
whenua, and values culture and diversity, and where people of all ages and backgrounds are
included, f eel saf e, connected and healthy. It’s pleasing that the boards of our council -controlled
organisations are keen to embrace the oppo rtunity f or mana whenua representation at the board
table. We look f orward to working together on these appointments in January 2022.
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We value and protect our environment – Tauranga is a city that values our natural environment
and outdoor lif estyle, and actively works to protect and enhance it. We are delighted that you are
already working with TCC to identif y energy saving projects as part of our collaboration
agreement with EECA to reduce our energy consumption by 2GWh by September 2023. In
addition, in 2022/23 we would like you to work alongside TCC to measure, monitor and mitigate
your greenhouse gas emissions as part of the Toitu CarbonReduce certif ication, which includes a
target to reduce total GHG emissions by 15% by 2024, on a 2018-19 baseline. The importance of
this being included in your Statement of Intent centres around the risks that not addressing
climate change exposes both our organisations to - increased energy prices, lack of mitigation
leading to greater adaptation requirements and costs , and increased exposure to potential
regulatory changes in the f uture, such as carbon prices.

Accountability and Transparency
Council is required to provide accountability f or the public f unds that it provides across the business,
and f or not-f or-profit organisations. This requires a high level of transparency and is particularly
important f or those entities that have a mix of commercial and publicly f unded activities. Transparency
requires visibility of funding to ensure that it has been used f or intended public -good outcomes. In
particular, we would like to see the Board work towards having more public oversight.
We understand the work around restructuring BVL’s f inance and f unding model , so that it is more
transparent, simple and easy to understand , has already commenced and we expect that this, along
with the living wage, can be implemented across 2022-2023. We understand that the BVL Executive
is already working on identif ying opportunities to deliver operational ef f iciencies through shared
service delivery models with Council, and we look f orward to seeing the results of this in the coming
year.
Purpose and values
In addition, Tauranga City Council has an overarching purpose statement and values that we expect
our staf f to observe, which should also guide how staf f of our council-controlled organisations are
expected to work with Council and f or the community, and should be incorporated into your
accountability documents:
Our purpose – we’re here to make Tauranga better
Our values:
•
•
•
•

pono/integrity – we do what we say we will do
manaakitanga/respect – we listen to all views and show we care
whaia te tika/service – we do the right thing for our community and each other
whanaungatanga/collaboration – we work together and create connections .

Through our governance-to-governance meetings we have begun the mahi of building strong
relationships and can expect to continue this in the coming year. The Pedersen Review (2020)
recommended “that the concept of the Council and its council-controlled organisations being part of a
‘Tauranga City Council Group’ that has common desired community outcomes, be the overarching
principle of accountability documents and interactions between the respective organisations.”
We have included a Statement of Intent template with this year’s Letter of Expectation, to provide
clearer guidance to our council-controlled organisations, and to ensure greater group consistency.
We expect this to include working to position your organisation, and the public perception of your
organisation, as an integral part of Council’s business -as-usual operations. We also expect that you
will work with us and our other council-controlled organisations on the development of a Tauranga city
brand, as well as the implementation of our city events strategy once it has been adopted.
In the meantime, Council expects all council-controlled organisations to actively seek opportunities to
utilise the Tauranga City Council logo and seek to promote us as the main contributors to operating
costs.
Board professional development
Council has a role in providing training including the induction f or new board members. Other training
which has more recently been of f ered includes Te Kete ā Rohe: Cultural Connections and we are
delighted that many of BVL’s directors have already taken up this enriching opportunity.
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Tauranga City Council will provide additional training in 2022, including Openness and Transparenc y
(Office of the Ombudsman) and Managing Risk, Improving Trust and Confidence (Office of the Auditor
General). These half -day sessions are tailored around council-controlled organisations and offer
examples f rom around the country.
COVID-19 - Health, Safety and Wellbeing
The Commissioners take heart in the work that our council-controlled organisations have delivered
under the strain of the COVID-19 global pandemic. It is essential that our business continuity plans are
updated to include contingency strategies, including the legislative responsibilities f or keeping people
saf e while providing services that deliver to the social wellbeing of our community.
Statement of Intent
Council expects that the strategic priorities contained in this Letter of Expectation will be ref lected in
BVL’s Statement of Intent and supported by perf ormance indicators measures where appropriate. In
particular, we would like to see BVL begin work on developing a measure f or the social and cultural
wellbeing impact of each f acility, programme and service on our communities .
There are still challenges ahead but the Commissioners believe that by working collaborat ively, with a
shared approach, goals and culture, the Tauranga City Council whānau can deliver best value f or
money, high-quality and cost-ef f ective outcomes, and services f or our community.
Thank you again f or your contribution to this process. We look f orward to receiving your draf t
Statement of Intent by 1 March 2022, and to working together next year, and beyond.
Ngā mihi

Anne Tolley
COMMISSION CHAIR
Cc: Chad Hooker, CEO Bay Venues Limited - chad.hooker@bayvenues.co.nz

Item 11.2 - Attachment 6

Page 211

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

11 April 2022

13 December 2021
Rosemary Protheroe
Chair, Tauranga Art Gallery Trust
108 Willow Street
Tauranga
By email: rosemary.protheroe@gmail.com

Tēnā koe Rosemary
Letter of Expectation from Tauranga City Council to Tauranga Art Gallery Trust for 2022-2023
We acknowledge that the past 12 months have once again been a challenging time f or the Tauranga
Art Gallery, with the ongoing uncertainty of COVID. Council recognises the dif f iculties this creates,
particularly in the arts and culture sector, and we would like to commend you, your Board and the Art
Gallery team f or the huge ef f ort and dedication that you have all shown this year.
We have had good dialogue over the past ten months and, while some of the Tauranga Art Gallery
Trustees are still relatively new, we are heartened by the Board’s commitment to building strong
relationships and aligning the organisation more closely to Council’s expectations.
As Tauranga’s Commissioners we are privileged to hear f rom our community. The biggest part of our
work programme to date has been the adoption of Tauranga’s Long-Term Plan f or 2021-2031, where
we listened to iwi, business, community leaders and residents expressing their aspirations f or the
f uture of Tauranga Moana. We expect that Tauranga Art Gallery Trust (TAGT) will continue to be part
of these conversations as we develop our City Vision and f urther strategic direction f or Tauranga city.
The decisions adopted af fect the social, cultural, environmental and economic well -beings of
Tauranga – now and in the f uture. An overwhelming sentiment was f or council to deliver more
investment into the community, and the commitment we made is to “put the community at the heart of
everything we do”.
Community outcomes
Council’s community outcomes are the starting point f or our Long -term Plan and guide our decisionmaking. We have chosen three specif ic outcomes f or TAGT to include in the development of your
Statement of Intent (SOI):
•

We have a well-planned city – Tauranga is a city that is well-planned, with a variety of
successf ul and thriving compact centres, resilient inf rastructure, and community amenities. More
specif ically, our expectation is that TAGT continues to be f ully engaged in and contribute to the
development of the civic precinct masterplan, which will have a signif icant and positive impact on
our city centre. This will become especially important as we move towards seeking public support
and, most importantly, f unding f or this project.

•

We are inclusive – Tauranga is a city that recognises and promotes partnership with tangata
whenua, and values culture and diversity, and where people of all ages and backgrounds are
included, f eel saf e, connected and healthy. It’s pleasing that the boards of our council-controlled
organisations are keen to embrace the opportunity f or mana whenua representation at the board
table. We look f orward to working together on these appointments in January 2022.

•

We recognise we are an integral part of the wider Bay of Plenty region and upper North
Island – Tauranga is a well-connected city having a key role in making a signif icant contribution
to the social, economic, cultural and environmental well-being of the region.
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Accountability and Transparency
Council is required to provide accountability f or the public f unds that it provides across the business ,
and f or not-f or-profit organisations. This requires a high level of transparency and is particularly
important f or those entities that have a mix of commercial and publicly f unded activities. Transparency
requires visibility of funding to ensure that it has been used f or intended public -good outcomes. In
particular, we would like to see the Board work towards having more public oversight.
We understand that the TAGT Board has already commenced work on the development of
sponsorship and f undraising strategies, with a new Business Development Manager role f unded by
Council through the recent Long-term Plan 2021-2031 process. We expect that this, along with the
living wage, will be implemented across 2022-2023.
We would also like to see TAGT identif y opportunities to deliver operational ef f iciencies through
shared service delivery models with Council and look f orward to seeing the results of this in the
coming year.
Purpose and values
In addition, Tauranga City Council has an overarching purpose statement and values that we expect
our staf f to observe, which should also guide how staf f of our council-controlled organisations are
expected to work with Council and f or the community, and should be incorporated into your
accountability documents:
Our purpose – we’re here to make Tauranga better
Our values:
• pono/integrity – we do what we say we will do
•

manaakitanga/respect – we listen to all views and show we care

•

whaia te tika/service – we do the right thing for our community and each other

•

whanaungatanga/collaboration – we work together and create connections .

Through our governance-to-governance meetings we have begun the mahi of building strong
relationships and can expect to continue this in the coming year. The Pedersen Review (2020)
recommended “that the concept of the Council and its council-controlled organisations being part of a
‘Tauranga City Council Group’ that has common desired community outcomes, be the overarching
principle of accountability documents and interactions between the respective organisations.”
We have included a Statement of Intent template with this year’s Letter of Expectation, to provide clearer
guidance to our council-controlled organisations, and to ensure greater group consistency.
We also expect that you will work with us and our other council-controlled organisations on the
development of a Tauranga city brand, as well as the implementation of our city events strategy once
it has been adopted.
In the meantime, Council expects all council-controlled organisations to actively seek opportunities to
utilise the Tauranga City Council logo and seek to promote them as the main contributors to operating
costs.
Board professional development
Council has a role in providing training including the induction f or new board members. Other training
which has more recently been of fered includes Te Kete ā Rohe: Cultural Connections and we are
delighted that many of TAGT’s trustees have taken up this enriching opportunity.
Tauranga City Council will provide additional training in 2022, including Openness and Transparenc y
(Office of the Ombudsman) and Managing Risk, Improving Trust and Confidence (Office of the Auditor
General). These half -day sessions are tailored around council-controlled organisations and of fer
examples f rom around the country.
COVID-19 - Health, Safety and Wellbeing
The Commissioners take heart in the work that our council-controlled organisations have delivered
under the strain of the COVID-19 global pandemic. It is essential that our business continuity plans are
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updated to include contingency strategies, including the legislative responsibilities f or keeping people
saf e while providing services that deliver to the social wellbeing of our community.
Statement of Intent
Council expects that the strategic priorities contained in this Letter of Expectation will be ref lected in
TAGT’s Statement of Intent and supported by perf ormance indicators measures where appropriate. In
particular, we would like to see TAGT begin work on developing a measure f or the social and cultural
wellbeing impact of your programmes and services on our communities. The Commissioners are keen
to see how TAGT will use these measures to tell the story of that value back to Council and the
community, through their Statement of Intent and reporting documents.
There are still challenges ahead but the Commissioners believe that by working collaboratively, with a
shared approach, goals and culture, the Tauranga City Council whānau can deliver best value f or
money, high-quality and cost-ef f ective outcomes, and services f or our community.
Thank you again f or your contribution to this process. We look f orward to receiving your draf t S tatement
of Intent by 1 March 2022 and to working together next year and beyond.
Ngā mihi

Anne Tolley
COMMISSION CHAIR
Cc: Stephen Cleland, Tauranga Art Gallery Director - director@artgallery.org.nz
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13 December 2021
Laurissa Cooney
Chair, Tourism Bay of Plenty
8 Wharf Street
Tauranga 3110
By email: laurissa@laurissacooney.com

Tēnā koe Laurissa
Letter of Expectation from Tauranga City Council and Western Bay of Plenty District Council to
Tourism Bay of Plenty for 2022-2023
We acknowledge that the past 12 months have once again been a challenging time f or Tourism Bay of
Plenty (TBOP), with the ongoing uncertainty of COVID. The Councils recognises the dif f iculties this
creates, particularly in the tourism industry, and we would like to commend you, your Board and the
TBOP team f or the huge ef f ort and dedication that you have all shown this year.
We have had good dialogue over the past ten months, and we are heartened by the Board’s
commitment to building strong relationships and aligning the organisation more closely to the Councils’
expectations.
As Commissioners and Elected Members, we are privileged to hear f rom our community. The biggest
part of our work programme to date has been the adoption of our Long-Term Plans f or 2021-2031,
where we listened to iwi, business, community leaders and residents expressing their aspirations f or the
f uture of Tauranga Moana and the wider Western Bay of Plenty. We expect that TBOP will continue to
be part of these conversations as we develop our City Vision and f urther strategic direction f or
Tauranga city and the Western Bay of Plenty District.
The decisions adopted af fect the social, cultural, environmental and economic well -beings of our region
– now and in the f uture. An overwhelming sentiment was f or the councils to deliver more investment
into the community, and the commitment we made is to “put the community at the heart of everything
we do”.
Community outcomes
Council’s community outcomes are the starting point f or our Long-term Plan and guide our decisionmaking. We have chosen three specif ic outcomes f or TBOP to consider during the development of your
Statement of Intent:
•

We value and protect our environment - Tauranga is a city that values our natural environment
and outdoor lif estyle, and actively works to protect and enhance it. While we recognise that TBOP is
seen as leading the way nationally in terms of its regenerative tourism strategy, we would like t o see
more clarity in terms of how the extra investment f rom TCC has benef itted the ratepayers of our city.
A specif ic request f rom Western Bay of Plenty District Council is f or a f ocus, within their District,
towards walking and cycling.

•

We are inclusive – Tauranga is a city that recognises and promotes partnership with tangata
whenua, and values culture and diversity, and where people of all ages and backgrounds are
included, f eel saf e, connected and healthy. It’s pleasing that the boards of our council-controlled
organisations are keen to embrace the opportunity f or mana whenua representation at the board
table. We look f orward to working together on these appointments in January 2022.

•

We recognise we are an integral part of the wider Bay of Plenty region and upper North Island
– Tauranga is a well-connected city having a key role in making a signif icant contribution to the social,
economic, cultural and environmental well-being of the region. A specif ic request f rom Western Bay
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of Plenty District Council is that TBOP maintains training and upskilling tourism providers across the
region. In addition, the Commissioners would like to see a strong f ocus f rom TBOP on the rebuild of
the tourism industry f ollowing the impacts of the COVID pandemic.
Accountability and Transparency
The councils are required to provide accountability f or the public f unds that it provides across the
business, and f or not-f or-profit organisations. We would also like to see TBOP identif y opportunities to
deliver operational ef f iciencies through shared service delivery models with Council and look f orward to
seeing the results of this in the coming year.
Transparency requires visibility of funding to ensure that it has been used f or intended public -good
outcomes. In particular, we would like to see the Board work towards having more public oversight.
Purpose and values
In addition, Tauranga City Council has an overarching purpose statement and values that we expect
our staf f to observe, which should also guide how staf f of our council-controlled organisations are
expected to work with the Councils and the community, and be incorporated into your accountability
documents:
Our purpose – we’re here to make Tauranga better
Our values:
• pono/integrity – we do what we say we will do
•

manaakitanga/respect – we listen to all views and show we care

•

whaia te tika/service – we do the right thing for our community and each other

•

whanaungatanga/collaboration – we work together and create connections .

Through our governance-to-governance meetings we have begun the mahi of building strong
relationships and can expect to continue this in the coming year. The Pedersen Review (2020)
recommended “that the concept of the Council and its council-controlled organisations being part of a
‘Tauranga City Council Group’ that has common desired community outcomes, be the overarching
principle of accountability documents and interactions between the respective organisations.”
We have included a Statement of Intent template with this year’s Letter of Expectation, to provide clearer
guidance to our council-controlled organisations, and to ensure greater group consistency.
We also expect that you will work with us and our other council-controlled organisations on the
promotion of Tauranga and the Western Bay of Plenty as a destination, including supporting TCC with
the development of a Tauranga city brand, as well as the implementation of our city events strategy
once it has been adopted.
In addition, the Councils expect all council-controlled organisations to actively seek opportunities to utilise
the Tauranga City Council and Western Bay of Plenty District Council logos and seek to promote them
as the main contributors to operating costs.
Governance and Board professional development
The Councils have a role in providing training including the induction f or new board members. Other
training which has more recently been of f ered includes Te Kete ā Rohe: Cultural Connections and we
are delighted that many of TBOP’s trustees have taken up this enriching opportunity.
Tauranga City Council will provide additional training in 2022, including Openness and Transparenc y
(Office of the Ombudsman) and Managing Risk, Improving Trust and Confidence (Office of the Auditor
General). These half -day sessions are tailored around council-controlled organisations and offer
examples f rom around the country. Further inf ormation will be provided once the details are conf irmed.
COVID-19 - Health, Safety and Wellbeing
We take heart in the work that our council-controlled organisations have delivered under the strain of the
COVID-19 global pandemic. It is essential that our business continuity plans are updated to include
contingency strategies, including the legislative responsibilities f or keeping people saf e while providing
services that deliver to the social wellbeing of our community.
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Statement of Intent
The Councils expect that the strategic priorities contained in this Letter of Expectation will be ref lected in
TBOP’s Statement of Intent and supported by perf ormance indicators measures where appropriate - with
signif icantly less (i.e. no more than ten in total) key perf ormance indicators than previously in TBOP’s
Statement of Intent f or 2021-2022 - and with a greater f ocus on those measures that can clearly
demonstrate the value that TBOP brings to the region. There are still challenges ahead but we believe
that by working collaboratively, with a shared approach, goals and culture, the Councils and their councilcontrolled organisations can deliver best value f or money, high-quality and cost-ef fective outcomes, and
services f or our community.
Thank you again f or your contribution to this process. We look f orward to receiving your draf t Statement
of Intent by 1 March 2022 and to working together next year, and beyond.
Ngā mihi

Anne Tolley

Garry Webber

COMMISSION CHAIR
TAURANGA CITY COUNCIL

MAYOR
WESTERN BAY OF PLENTY DISTRICT

Cc: Oscar Nathan, General Manager: Tourism Bay of Plenty – oscar@bayofplentynz.com
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The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton
Study team options development and progress report
April 2022
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Introduction
April 2022
Tauranga City Council has been leading a study to
look at the future use of Crown-owned reserve land
and identify opportunities that will support wellbeing
and liveability as the city continues to grow. This
study has been supported by Kāinga Ora –
Homes and Communities as part of their broader
partnership with Council to support quality urban
development within our growing city for people and
whānau to live, work, learn and play.
This land includes the Tauranga Racecourse and
Golf Course and the total area of reserve land is
85ha (which is about the size of 100 rugby fields).
At the moment the bulk of the reserve land is
leased by the Tauranga Racing Club (34ha) and the
Tauranga Golf Club (45ha). The Golf Club has an
additional lease outside the Crown reserve land and
adjoining Kopurererua Valley of approximately 6.7ha
The Tauranga Equestrian Sports Association
and a range of other sporting and community
organisations also have access to and use the land
and facilities at various times.

An independent consulting team - SGL and BOON
Ltd, were appointed in October 2021 to undertake
the study and report back to Tauranga City Council
and Kāinga Ora.

02
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The significance of Maarawaewae
Tauranga Moana hapū established vegetable
gardens in Greerton that contributed to feeding
their tupuna/ancestors during the Battles of
Pukehinahina/Gate Pā and Te Ranga. They were
also used to provide kai/food for the koroneihana the annual celebration commemorating the Maōri
King - in Ngāruawāhia.
‘Maara’ relates to the gardens that were established
in and around Poike, Waimapu and Maungatapu
and ‘waewae’ relates to the picking and digging of
the food that grew here.

The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton
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Engagement
A key focus of the study was investment in bringing
together a wide range of community views including those from existing users – to inform the
decision-making on the future of the reserve land.
The other inputs included seeking direction
from mana whenua, technical and geological
assessments of the site and acknowledgement of
any wider context and city needs.
The engagement took place from November 2021
to early March 2022. Overall, the team received
around 1500 individual pieces of information/
input/feedback via online forms, emails, letters,
community days, social media and focus groups.
The key engagement outcomes included:
•

extremely strong support for creating a multipurpose destination green space for the city with
improved access to Kopurererua Valley

•

very strong support for creating active
recreational spaces and for other community
amenities – including telling the cultural story
of the whenua and providing a multi-cultural
community centre

•

some support for relocating the racecourse (if a
suitable location can be secured)

•

some support for relocating equestrian (if a
suitable location can be found)

•

not much support for relocating the golf course

•

limited support for housing on this reserve land

•

some support for a public health precinct /
future hospital facility (more when the possibility
of housing on the existing hospital site is
factored in).

A full engagement report is available
www.tauranga.govt.nz/greertonmaarawaewae
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Where the reserve
land sits relative to
our growing city
The Te Papa peninsula (where this reserve land sits)
has been identified by the Council and the wider
SmartGrowth partnership as one of the priority areas
to support future growth needs of the city and wider
Western Bay. These growth needs require long term
planning to identify potential areas that can be used for
housing, recreation, sports, infrastructure and green
spaces and for community facilities and amenities.
Over the next 30 years, 15,000 more people will be living
on the Te Papa peninsula.
That means we need to start work now to transform the
peninsula into a place where more people can live, work,
play and move around by walking, cycling or catching a
bus.
Tauranga is looking ahead to the next 30 years to
transform the city with:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

more connected neighbourhoods with great public
amenity
greater housing choices and more homes within our
existing footprint
people-friendly streets and more opportunities for
walking and cycling and public transport
a thriving economy
opportunities to celebrate our unique culture and
history
a more sustainable and greener urban footprint
connection to a vibrant city centre.

Growth areas for the city are planned to the north,
east, west and south of this location and the Greerton
Maarawaewae reserve land has for some time been the
subject of consideration about its potential to support
that growth. Getting clarity through this current process
will enable other aspects of city planning to progress as
well as providing certainty to existing users.
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1.
Stay the way it is now
(status quo)

• Racecourse
• Golf course
• Equestrian
• Some community use
• No walking or cycling access to Kopurererua Valley
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Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Tauranga Golf Club, taurangagolf.co.nz, Rafael Toledano, unsplash.com, Tauranga Race Course Reserve, TCC supplied, Mikayla Storms, unsplash.com, Courtney Cook, unsplash.com, Tauranga Race Course
Reserve, TCC supplied, Tauranga Race Course Reserve, TCC Supplied
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2.
Enhanced community
activity combined with
racecourse, golf course
& equestrian use

• Racecourse
• Golf course
• Sportsfields/artificial turfs within the Racecourse area
• Possible community centre with multipurpose
bookable rooms
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing a link for cyclists, walkers
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Reduced equestrian space
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Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Mahitahi Kainga, Toa Architects, Mikayla Storms, unsplash.com, Tauranga Race Course Reserve, TCC supplied, Omar Ram, unsplash.com, Courtney Cook, unsplash.com, Kopurererua Valley, Quin O-Connell,
Kopurererua Valley, TCC Supplied
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3.
Community spaces
& active recreation
combined with golf
& equestrian

• Golf course
• Equestrian enhanced
• A destination recreation park with outdoor courts,
sports fields, artificial turfs and play space
• Community centre with multipurpose bookable rooms
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing a link for cyclists, walkers
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Racecourse relocated

10

Item 11.4 - Attachment 2

The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton

Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Mara Hupara, Boffa Miskell, Mahitahi Kainga, Toa Architects, Courtney Cook, unsplash.com, Mikayla Storms, unsplash.com, Waimakariri Sports Facility, Warren and Mahoney, Kaikohe Basketball Court,
Debbie Beadle nzherald.co.nz
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4.
Community spaces
& active recreation
destination park
combined with
equestrian

• Equestrian enhanced
• A destination parkland with active fitness trails, cycleways, pump track, barbecue areas, playground and
community gardens
• Sports pavilion and outdoor sports fields, artificial
turfs, netball, tennis, 3x3 basketball courts etc
• Community centre with multipurpose bookable rooms
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing a link for cyclists, walkers
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Racecourse relocated
• Golf course relocated

12
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The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton

Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Ōtara Mara Kai community garden, otarakaivillage.co.nz, Mikayla Storms, unsplash.com, Community Barbecue, aucklanddesignmanual.co.nz, War Memorial Park splash pad, littlerock.gov, Kopurererua Valley,
TCC Supplied, Waimakariri Sports Facility, Warren and Mahoney, Napier Bike Pump Track, napier.govt.nz
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5.
Golf course, new
homes & potentially
a new school

• Golf course
• 700 to 1000 new homes with a range of different
housing types
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing a link for cyclists, walkers and other green
space users
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Option for new school
• Option for new community centre
• Racecourse relocated
• Equestrian relocated

14
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The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton

Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Hinaki Eel bridge Auckland, dcstructuresstudio.com, Mahitahi Kainga, Toa Architects, Kopurererua Valley, Quin O-Connell, Kopurererua Valley, TCC Supplied, Lakewood Townhouses Cambridge,
lakewoodcambridge.co.nz, Hobsonville Land Company, stuff.co.nz, Courtney Cook, unsplash.com
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6.
Destination park, new
homes & potentially a
new school

• A destination parkland with active fitness trails, cycleways, pump track, barbecue areas, playground and
community gardens
• 1000 to 1500 new homes with a range of different
housing types
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing a link for cyclists, walkers and other green
space users
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Option for new school
• Option for new community centre
• Racecourse relocated
• Equestrian relocated
• Golf course relocated

16
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The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton

Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Napier bike pump track, napier.govt.nz, Lakewood Townhouses Cambridge, lakewoodcambridge.co.nz, The Grounds Mangere, Kainga Ora & Pedal Thorpe, Hawthorne Forest School, suffolktimes.timesreview.
com, Community Barbecue, aucklanddesignmanual.co.nz, Te Parapara Garden, hamiltongardens.co.nz, Markam Road Development Victoria, Architectus, War Memorial Park splash pad, littlerock.gov
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7.
Enhanced community
spaces, golf course,
active recreation
& potential health
services

• Golf course
• Active recreation
• Potential health services
• Community centre with multipurpose bookable rooms
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing a link for cyclists, walkers and other green
space users
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Racecourse relocated
• Equestrian relocated

18
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The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton

Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Hinaki Eel bridge Auckland, dcstructuresstudio.com, Mikayla Storms, unsplash.com, Soma Health Hub, dailytelegraph.com.au, Kopurererua Valley, TCC Supplied, Courtney Cook, unsplash.com, Omar Ram,
unsplash.com
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3plus
Central park

• Golf course
• A destination recreation park with outdoor courts,
sports fields, artificial turfs, mini golf and active
fitness trails
• Multi-cultural and community centre with
multipurpose bookable rooms
• Open air events space, community gardens and
nature play space
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing links for cyclists, walkers and other green
space users
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Racecourse relocated
• Equestrian relocated

20
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The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton

Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Mara Hupara, Boffa Miskell, Mahitahi Kainga, Toa Architects, Courtney Cook, unsplash.com, outdoor cinema fireflyevents.com, Omar Ram, unsplash.com, Te Parapara Garden, hamiltongardens.co.nz,
Waimakariri Sports Facility, Warren and Mahoney
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6plus
Homes and community
park

• A destination parkland with active fitness trails,
cycle-ways, pump track, barbecue areas, destination
playground and community gardens
• 900 to 1300 new homes with a range of different
housing types
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing a link for cyclists, walkers and other green
space users
• Park hub, function and events centre, open air events
space
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Option for new school
• Option for new multi-cultural and community centre
• Racecourse relocated
• Equestrian relocated
• Golf course relocated

22
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The Greerton Maarawaewae study
Securing a future for the racecourse and golf club reserve land in Greerton

Photo Credits
(clockwise starting from top left) Napier bike pump track, napier.govt.nz, Lakewood Townhouses Cambridge, lakewoodcambridge.co.nz, The Grounds Mangere, Kainga Ora & Pedal Thorpe, Hawthorne Forest School, suffolktimes.timesreview.
com, Community Barbecue, aucklanddesignmanual.co.nz, Te Parapara Garden, hamiltongardens.co.nz, Markam Road Development Victoria, Architectus, War Memorial Park splash pad, littlerock.gov
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7plus
Health and recreation

• Golf course
• Active recreation
• Potential health services
• Multi-cultural and community centre with
multipurpose bookable rooms
• Option for open air events space, community gardens
and destination playground
• Enhanced connections to Kopurererua Valley
- providing a link for cyclists, walkers and other green
space users
• Mana whenua cultural values and narratives
integrated for reserve and surrounding area
• Racecourse relocated
• Equestrian relocated
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The process from here...

11 April 2022
Consultant findings reported to Commissioners – not for
decision-making at this stage
April/May 2022
Continued hui with mana whenua and existing users as they
consider the consultant report
13 June 2022
Tauranga City Council reports to Commissioners for decision on
future use of reserve land

If you want to register your interest and be added to our database,
email us at:

greertonmaarawaewae@tauranga.govt.nz
For more information, including answers to some of the most common
questions being asked, go to the website:

www.tauranga.govt.nz/greertonmaarawaewae
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greertonmaarawaewae@tauranga.govt.nz
www.tauranga.govt.nz/greertonmaarawaewae
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Greerton Maarawaewae Study –
Engagement Report
Prepared by SGL/BOON Consultant Team

For Tauranga City Council
March 2022
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Executive Summary
The Greerton Maarawaewae Study team (SGL and BOON Ltd) were asked to bring
forward recommendations on the future use for the racecourse and golf course
reserve land, to support wellbeing and liveability as the city continues to grow,
and to provide certainty for existing users and the wider community.
A key focus of the Study was investment in bringing together a wide range of
community views - including those from existing users – to inform the decisionmaking on the future of the reserve land.
This engagement forms one of the primary inputs for the Commissioners’
decision. The other inputs will be direction from mana whenua, technical and
geological assessments of the site and the wider context of city needs.
The engagement took place from November 2021 to early March 2022. Overall,
the team received around 1500 individual pieces of information/input/feedback.
The overall engagement outcomes are summarised as follows.
• extremely strong support for creating a multi-purpose destination green
space for the city with improved access to Kopurererua Valley
• very strong support for creating active recreational spaces and for other
community amenities – including telling the cultural story of the whenua
and providing a multi-cultural community centre
• some support for relocating the racecourse (if a suitable location can be
secured)
• some support for relocating equestrian (if a suitable location can be found)
• not much support for relocating the golf course
• limited support for housing on this reserve land
• some support for a public health precinct / future hospital facility (more
when the possibility of housing on the existing hospital site is factored in).
Raw data and summaries of each phase of the community engagement input and
feedback is available on the Greerton Maarawaewae webpage
https://www.tauranga.govt.nz/our-future/enabling-growth/the-greertonmaarawaewae-study
2
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Introduction
Community engagement on the Greerton Maarawaewae study began in
November 2021.
Our plan was to engage the community in a four-month conversation to get input
in the future of this significant and iconic piece of land.
The objectives of our process were to ensure that:
• existing users would have plenty of opportunity to be heard
• we would try and hear from as wide a representation of Tauranga people as
we could
• outcomes would not be ‘a numbers game’ but would instead be
deliberately focused on enabling the community to influence the study as it
evolved
• the wider context of city needs must also be explained and considered
• the study team would keep an open mind (ie no preconceived ideas).
We chose a process that would be as open, inclusive and as responsive as possible
and therefore deliberately did not make this a vote for ‘likes/dislikes’ but rather
provided an open-ended process for people to have their say.
The key question we asked in November was:
• what would be the BEST use of this reserve
land in the future?
The key question we asked in December/January
was:
• which of these seven options do you prefer
and why?

This report is a summary of the engagement process and outcomes for the
consideration of Council.
3
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Process
The engagement was in two phases – Phase 1 in November/December 2021 and
Phase 2 in January February 2022.
Phase 1 - gathering ideas for possible future uses of reserve land (including
status quo)
Phase 2 - sharing the seven options and getting feedback (including status
quo)
In Phase 1 engagement the project team sought ideas and input from mana
whenua (see page 5), existing users of the reserve land and the wider community.
Over 650 ideas and inputs were received via online forms, emails, letters, hard
copy forms, Facebook, focus groups and community drop-in sessions.
Almost all our questions and engagements were via open-ended questions.
Key outcomes from the feedback in Phase 1 were:
• a significant number of participants said they loved the green, open space
provided by the racecourse and golf club (this was particularly recognised
during the lock downs) as this was a great place to walk, exercise and take
the dog. They appreciate it is one of the only open green spaces left in the
city and want to keep it that way
• 71% of people who filled in the online survey said they felt that one of the
top five uses of this land should be for a parkland and gardens, accessible
for everyone to use and enjoy with another 68% supporting walkways and
cycleways to other parts of the city and 64% supporting playgrounds and
recreation spaces
• 68% of people who responded said they would use this reserve land more
frequently if there were additional recreational and sports activities
available
• the majority of people submitting ideas did not want housing of any sort on
this land with only 13% of the online submitters agreeing this should be one
of the ‘top five’ future uses of the land
• the biggest challenge being thrown up for consideration if changes were to
be made at the site was traffic and costs of infrastructure
4
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• there were concerns about loss of livelihood for those who work at the
racecourse and golf club and the lack of any suitable places for relocation if
these and equestrian
• there were many who felt that the character of Greerton would be
undermined by the addition of ‘housing’.
Note: additional details and numbers are contained in Appendix 1.

The engagement process was specifically designed to enable the
widest possible range of ideas and feedback be received and
considered.
The intention of the process meant every comment or interaction
provided the opportunity for the study team to harvest views. The
process followed also meant that this was not a counting exercise but
a listening one.
Note: where feedback is reported as a percentage: this is only
reporting the online feedback.
The raw data collected from this and the other various ways people
had to contribute are available on the Greerton Maarawaewae
webpage - https://www.tauranga.govt.nz/our-future/enablinggrowth/the-greerton-maarawaewae-study
– as well as the summaries of each phase.

5
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Commissioners Tolley and Rolleston viewing some of the community ideas for
Greerton Maarawaewae with Darren Toy – Regional Director, Kāinga Ora

The project team
used these inputs,
and considered a
range of contextual
and technical
information, to
develop seven
options to go out for
consideration in
phase two
engagement.

Wider context of city needs (now and into the future)
that are also being considered alongside the
engagement outcomes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

history
growth
location
geography
housing
green spaces (including sports fields)
community facilities
accessibility and walking/cycling
continuity/connectivity
stormwater
DHB/hospital
potential sites for relocation if needed
current lease arrangements
6
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The seven options went out just prior to Christmas 2021 with feedback being
sought through January and February.
In Phase 2 we received 783 additional comments, feedback and submissions via
online forms, email, letters, hard copy forms, Facebook, focus groups and
community drop-in sessions.
Throughout the process we sent out regular updates and reminded people of the
importance of getting involved.
There were also ongoing meetings and discussions throughout both phases with
existing users: Racing Tauranga, the Tauranga Golf Club and TESA.
Note: details and numbers are contained in Appendix 1.

Attendees at one of the focus group sessions

7
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Members of the public providing feedback at one of the community days

Feedback from mana whenua
Mana whenua have expressed a strong desire to keep the use as recreation space
and will be discussing ownership if the existing land use changes.
Specifically, Ngai Tamarawaho has advised that they support the ongoing
recreation reserve status of the land and would seek to have land ownership
discussions should an alternative or revised use be proposed.
As outlined in their correspondence to the Crown, the Ngai Tamarawaho korero is
that the return of the reserve lands and indeed all lands within its rohe used for
public or community purposes was not pursued as part of its historic Treaty claim.
Ngai Tamarawaho are happy for the land to continue to be used for community
recreational purposes and would support use of the land for a wider range of
recreational uses such as walking and biking pathways through the racecourse
and golf course lands.
The Crown and Tauranga City Council will continue to engage directly with mana
whenua on these matters.
8
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Feedback from existing users
Racing Tauranga
Racing Tauranga supports options 1 and 2 and do not support options 3-7. They
request an extension to the current lease term.
If, however, one of the options 3-7 were to eventuate, Racing Tauranga would like
assurance that there is appropriate land and funding available to achieve this.
Racing Tauranga supports greater community use of the reserve while
maintaining its present user activities into the future. The current set up is a
significant “green space” for community and recreational use in Tauranga.
Tauranga Golf Club
Tauranga Golf Club believe they can work with the Council on any of options 1, 2,
3, and 7. They do not support option 4.
Their primary objective is to retain an 18-hole championship golf course with
security of longterm tenure.
Tauranga Golf Club supports greater cycle and pedestrian access to Kopurererua
Valley, are open to the clubhouse being more of a community asset, and
realignment of golf holes to mitigate any health and safety risks of increased
public activity on their boundary.
Tauranga Golf Club also suggests enhancement of their existing offering to include
a driving range, mini putt and short course to widen the appeal of the Club to
families, non-golfers etc.
Tauranga Equestrian Sports Association (TESA)
TESA strongly support the retention and/or expansion of the current equestrian
offering at the Tauranga Racecourse reserve location.
The group has been involved in ongoing discussions with the Study Team to
expand on their specific needs.
TESA represents the following groups:
9
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Tauranga Pony Club
Dressage
Western Riding
Adult Riding Club
Greerton Pony Club
Extreme Cowboy
Tauranga Show Jumping Group
Show Hunter Group

Feedback from interested parties (in addition to community)
Bay of Plenty District Health Board
The present facility will need to approximately double in scale by 2050 to serve
the Western Bay of Plenty subregion.
The existing hospital site is approximately 12.5 ha in area and is constrained by
the geotechnical conditions along the escarpment, the “two level” nature of the
land, the need to provide off-site parking and services and the existing
development of the site which constrains future development.
A ‘greenfield’ site for Health Services at Maarawaewae (option 7) is supported.
This would allow for the development of a hospital facility to be planned for
expansion over the next 30 years without disrupting the existing operations of the
hospital, or its future operations in the new location once the day-to-day
operation and administrative functions have been transferred.
The site is ideally located to continue to serve the growing population of the
Western Bay of Plenty subregion with the potential for direct access to the State
Highway and the arterial road network.
They also submit that the golf course should remain and that the racecourse and
equestrian sports facilities could be better located in a new, purpose-built facility
more central to its user and support base.

10
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The Greerton Maarawaewae location is ideally suited to future public transport
routes along Cameron Road and could incorporate a transport hub.
The existing hospital site could be released for development (which may include
the provision of private health services) as well as the provision of medium to
high density residential development - in particular on the 3ha RSA site south of
Twentieth Ave.
Powerco
Powerco has a number of strategic underground assets through the racecourse
and golf club reserve land – adjacent to both the northern and southern
boundaries. These assets are protected by registered easements.
While Powerco had no comments on the options being considered, it noted that
certain options may result in planting, pathways, parking areas or buildings
possibly being located over these easement areas / assets.
Transpower
Transpower requests that the National Grid is recognised and identified as part of
the Greerton Maarawaewae Study and that any future areas of development
appropriately address the National Grid.
Development under and near the National Grid presents risks and needs to be
managed carefully.
No comments on the options.
Ministry of Education
The Ministry is “neutral on the seven options outlined in the study” and
acknowledged that Council has incorporated its earlier feedback on the preferred
locations for a potential school site for options 5 and 6.
However, the Ministry is not committing to providing a school at these potential
locations nor within the development area as they would need to undertake
further investigations to determine both the need for a new school and the
suitability of the site.
11
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The NZ Motor Caravan Association (NZMCA)
The NZMCA sees some value in developing and operating a site for up to 50
motorhomes and caravans to park overnight. The value in such a venture exists
not just for their members but for Tauranga Racing and local businesses which
benefit from the spending of visitors.
The NZMCA notes that such a land use is not a long-term prospect for the land
covered by the Greerton-Maarawaewae study and that it is not particularly
relevant to any of the future options being considered as part of this study. They
believe however that it is worth considering as a short to medium term activity
and have asked Council to consider adding this into the mix of potential
components in the immediate future for the area.
Kāinga Tupu
Overall, the Kāinga Tupu Taskforce supports the need to develop this land into
housing but also to create a dynamic, connected and accessible neighbourhood to
enable all aspects of the community to really thrive.
To have a positive impact on the current housing crisis in Tauranga Kāinga Tupu
says the City is going to need a lot more social and affordable housing options
including affordable rentals, progressive home ownership as well as other models.
They recommend that this land be developed to include at least 40 percent of
both affordable and social housing.
Kāinga Tupu says ensuring that there is inclusionary zoning will be hugely
important to enable provision for both affordable and social housing. Different
housing opportunities to be considered include: emergency housing, youth
transitional housing facilities, rent to own and papakāinga (enabling Māori to live
on ancestral lands).
Good quality, sustainable designs should be essential for any housing
development, with access to good amenities and green space. Kāinga Tupu
supports community gardens – planting of fruit trees and vegetables, good
landscaping, BBQ areas and the creation of good infrastructure that attracts
business and enables people to work remotely.
12
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Kāinga Tupu Taskforce consists of:
- Accessible Properties NZ Ltd
- Bay of Plenty District Health Board
- BayTrust
- Department of Corrections
- EmpowermentNZ
- Kāinga Ora: Homes and Communities
- Member of Parliament (Labour)
- Ministry of Housing and Urban Development
- Ministry of Social Development
- New Zealand Police
- Ngāti Ranginui Iwi Society
- Tauranga City Council
- Te Pūni Kōkiri
- Under the Stars.
Note: Tauranga City Council and Kāinga Ora did not form an official view on the
feedback submitted by Kainga Tapu about housing on the site

Feedback from the wider community on the options
Options 1 and 2
The majority of submissions in favour of Options 1 and 2 were largely similar –
people who want to keep things the way they are with possibly some
enhancements.
Common themes around wanting the reserve land to remain as is included:
• people who want it to stay the same because they don’t want housing
there (often with no context – simply: “no to housing”)
• people who want it to stay the same because they enjoy the activities
already there: golf, racing, equestrian activity or ‘walking the dog’, and
some that mentioned the great economic benefit to the city from racing,
golf and/or equestrian
13
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• historical reasons such as the land being ‘gifted’ as a reserve specifically for
racing and golf or that the land was stolen and should be given back
• many people who consider the status quo to be existing green space that
the public already enjoys. Regular comments included: “don’t take away
our green space” and “keep it green for everyone to enjoy”, “lots of people
enjoy this green space already”.
Stay the way it is now – we need the greenbelt to break
suburbia
Number 2 option looks the best – no housing – keep it
green space for the future. Once it’s gone it’s gone forever
It’s already green space – the vital lungs of our city

With regard to option 2 a comment that summed up people’s views was: “a good
option that preserves the integrity of keeping this a valued green belt area while
increasing the avenues for more recreational use for people living in Tauranga”.
People who did not support options 1 and 2 were concerned about the limited
numbers of users currently able to access the reserve and the idea that in the
future this will be in the middle of the city – and therefore probably has better
alternative uses.

The reserve is underused by the wider community and
not accessible to most
This is a poor use of strategically valuable land

14
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Options 3 and 4
The majority of feedback on options 3 and 4 was in support of these options
because people liked the idea of enhanced public use, stating that they meet the
needs of the widest range of people.
Both these options were consistent with the views of the majority – ie they
want to see the reserve kept as green space and used for public recreation.
There was significant support (through these and the feedback on options 1 and
2) for creating a multi-purpose destination for the city and for future
generations.

This should be like everyone’s backyard
The City's Mount equivalent... a place where I can walk
each day
We should think about this as having our own Central
Park
Keep it as our own Hagley Park, beautify it and let the
people of Tauranga be proud of it

People also felt that these options stayed true to the original intent of
maintaining this as a reserve [public land].
The main negatives for options 3 and 4 were the cost involved (either for
redevelopment and/or relocation of existing facilities) and that maybe equestrian
is not a good mix with other sporting activity.

15
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Options 5 and 6
Option 6 was viewed much more favorably than option 5 in the feedback. People
(especially younger people and ethnic groups) were the ones mostly in favour of
housing. There was plenty of references in the feedback to Tauranga needing
more homes for people to live in and that this it would be ideal for multi-unit
dwellings. But also many references that this was unlikely to be “affordable
housing” as the location and outlook (onto a golf course or recreational park)
would mean the houses would be very expensive.
Many people expressed the idea that this was an excellent location because of its
centrality.
Along the same lines regarding location, there was strong support for the
provision of a multi-cultural community centre that would be accessible to the
many different cultures that live, work, and play in Tauranga.

Housing and a park will benefit the whole
community as these meet the future needs of a
growing city
The city desperately needs more houses
I think having housing and sports fields is important
for the future of Tauranga

The second most common negative comment throughout the entire phase 2
feedback (after “no to housing”) pointed to current traffic and infrastructure
issues. People expressed concern that, with the addition of
housing/recreation/community facilities/schools, “things will just get worse”.
There was also concern that having housing on this land would not be in keeping
with the current reserve status of the land.

16
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There were also a lot of people who believed the city should be building out (into
the countryside) for more houses instead of intensifying the city.
Option 7
In November the Bay of Plenty District Health Board proposed including a precinct
for “potential health services” within this green field site (see notes from their
submission page 7).
The main challenge with this option for people providing feedback was lack of
clarity about what “potential health services” would entail. Therefore, the
amount of specific feedback on this option was lower than the others. As the
process moved forward, it became clear that the intention was for the
development of a future hospital facility.
The most support for this option was recorded in the focus groups and
community days when people had the opportunity to ask questions and the
above point could be clarified. The main reason people gave for supporting this
option was the potential for freeing up the current hospital site for housing –
which would be even closer to the city centre – and therefore seen as a “winwin”.
People also referenced the need to consider the future growth in the city and that
a new site (at the apex of all major transport routes) would enable a more
cohesive health precinct to be established.
There was also perceived synergy between a health precinct, sportsfields and
recreational spaces.
The main opposition to this option included current traffic issues and that it
would be wrong to use this land for any purpose other than recreation.

The current hospital can be replaced by houses and a
hospital and park would be better in this area
A park in the central area is important for mental
health and for families
17

Item 11.4 - Attachment 3

Page 263

Ordinary Council meeting Attachments

11 April 2022

Other comments
1. Access to Kopurererua Valley
There was almost unanimous support for creating enhanced walking and
cycling access to Kopurererua Valley – including from those who supported
the status quo.
2. Relocation of the racecourse, golf course, equestrian
The scope of the Study did not include finding alternative locations for the
racecourse, golf course and/or equestrian should they need to be relocated
one day. It was agreed at the outset that coming to a decision on the ‘best
future use of this land’ would be the first step. Then, following that, should
‘the best future use of this land’ require potential relocation or change of
status, then there would need to be follow-up investigations in partnership
with mana whenua and leaseholders.
The reason this has been mentioned here, is that many people commented
that they did not want to provide feedback on options that mentioned
potential relocation (in the absence of knowing what the alternative might
be) and therefore preferred options 1 and 2.
There was also a strong sense that the current activities there are not the
best use of this land in the future – noting that golf course remaining in situ
had much more support than either the racecourse or equestrian activity.
There was some comment that if racing is relocated then it would be good
to build a purpose-built equestrian facility adjacent to the new location as
many people arrive and depart from horsey activities with horse floats.
Many of those who supported the racecourse, golf and/or equestrian being
relocated, talked about these being activities that limited the numbers of
people who could currently enjoy the green space. By relocating them, the
space would be available for a much wider (and more diverse) range of
people to enjoy.
18
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3. Traffic
A lot of comments came in about the traffic and how bad it is currently.
Not surprisingly people found it challenging to imagine a future where
traffic (individuals in cars) will be less of an issue – specifically around the
multi-modal shift, improvements to Cameron Road and the improved
accessibility for cyclists to get to the city centre (taking cars off the road).
4. Equestrian
With regard to the equestrian space, there did seem to be some support
for this if this land was expanded into a purpose-built facility.
However, there was also an equal amount of commentary about how the
equestrian area would not necessarily sit well with other activities in the
reserve (horses and ball sports, horses and children in playgrounds, or
horses and walking/cycling trails) and that this type of facility would be
better located elsewhere.
5. A multi-cultural community centre
The Tauranga ethnic groups who were well represented in the focus groups
and community days, made strong representations for the creation of not
just a “community centre” but to expand this to become more of a multicultural facility. This would be recognised as a space that all cultures could
access for meetings and events and is considered much needed in the City.
6. Alternative housing options
Many people, in both phases one and two, raised the point about alterative
housing sites in Greerton. Specifically, they thought the light industrial area
to the north of the reserve (bounded by Chadwick Road) and the older
housing area around the pool would be excellent locations for new multiplex dwellings and apartments.
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Appendix one – engagement summary
The study team now has 848 people on the Greerton Maarawaewae database.

By the numbers…
Phase 1 we received a total of 650 pieces of feedback – breaking that down
• 250 online – form, email
• 300 - Facebook
• 100 in person - two community days and four focus groups.
Phase 2 we received a total of 783 pieces of feedback – breaking that down
•
•
•
•

452 – online form
94 – email, phone and post
100 – Facebook
137 in person from four community days and six focus groups including a
focus on young people, ethnic and multi-cultural community leaders, pacific
business leaders as well as general interest parties

Website statistics
October 22 – February 28
Main page
The page was viewed a total of 4,921 times by 3,076 individual people. The
average time spent on the page was 3min 18 seconds.
The day with the highest number of page views was December 16, 2021, with 292
page views.
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Age and gender stats for the main page (age groups listed in order from most
views to least) note: google can only gather this data from people who allow it so
not everyone is included in these numbers – it does give a representation of
users, though.
65+

225 female

163 male

45–54 193 female

105 male

55–64 167 female

91 male

35–44 140 female

70 male

25–34 85 female

77 male

18–24 41 female

27 male

‘What is the Greerton Maarawaewae Study for’ page
This page was viewed a total of 348 times by 286 individuals.
Greerton Maarawaewae Study FAQs page
This page was viewed a total of 244 times by 184 individuals.
Phase 1 – engagement your ideas page
This page was viewed a total of 154 times by 133 individuals.

Documents:
The Greerton FAQs have been viewed 73 times
The Greerton options introduction document has been viewed 217 times
The Greerton options 1-4 document has been viewed 577 times
The Greerton options 5-7 document has been viewed 402 times
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Facebook - Phase 1…
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Phase 2…
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Facebook (snapshot) 4-17 February

Summary reports (including raw data on all the engagement activities) is
available on the Greerton Maarawaewae web page.
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Greerton Maarawaewae Study Multi-Criteria Analysis of Options
Prepared by SGL/BOON Consultant Team

For Tauranga City Council
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1. Overall multi-criteria analysis approach and process
1.1

What is a multi-criteria analysis

Multi-criteria analysis (MCA) is a tool that can be used to compare reform and investment proposals. When applied consistently and
transparently, it is a suitable approach for filtering options before applying more detailed quantitative analysis, or to compare options where
impacts are not easily quantifiable.
There are a range of ways to apply MCA, but in all cases the analysis should be robust, transparent and defensible. MCA uses objectives,
criteria, measures, weightings and scoring approaches to rank and compare options.
It is important to test the robustness of the analysis results by understanding how options perform under different conditions. Sensitivity testing
and scenario testing are relevant approaches for testing results.
The MCA process and outputs should be appropriately documented, to clearly demonstrate the development and application of the tool, the
option performance, and the rationale for selecting options.
1.2

Developing the MCA for the Greerton Maarawaewae Study

The key challenge for this project was to develop an MCA process which genuinely took into account community engagement responses
for each option as well as independently assessed the needs for Tauranga City at this site.
Consequently, a matrix approach was used to assess each option, with horizontal and vertical criteria developed and relative weightings
applied.
As far as possible, the consultant team sought to remove subjectivity from the assessment process.
The horizontal criteria determined were:
•
•
•
•

need for a health site
provision of green space for ‘broad’ public benefit plus active recreation and community facilities
city housing needs
current site stakeholder requirements (Tauranga Racing, Tauranga Golf Club and Tauranga Equestrian Sports Association - TESA).

The vertical criteria (which were matched with each of the horizontal criteria) determined were:
•
•

community engagement support
need to occur on this site (ready choice of alternate options and/or challenge of relocation)
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importance of public transport corridor and urban spatial plan on this site
overall importance to the city (with the following weightings assigned: health site 20%, green/active recreation – 25% or 30%, housing
30% or 25%, and existing stakeholders 10%).

The green/active recreation (passive and active green and community facilities) scoring by option is included in Appendix 2.
Net cost was also considered (as one of the horizontal criteria), with a relative weighting of 15% or 20%. Net costs by option are summarised in
Appendix 3.

Please note, although the consultant team met with mana whenua representatives during the engagement and assessment process and have
incorporated their feedback into the options development, this assessment process does not include the views of mana whenua. As a Treaty
Partner with the Crown (the landowner), and recognising the partnership relationship between mana whenua and Tauranga City Council (TCC),
TCC Commissioners and staff have separately discussed the options with mana whenua representatives and their views will be considered
separately.

4
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2. Overview of Options
A full outline of the options is contained within the “Study team options development and progress report” dated April 2022.
The table below provides a summary of the key elements that each option includes, across all the options assessed as part of this MCA.
GREERTON MAARAWAEWAE OPTIONS DESCRIPTION
Provision Description

Commentary

Options

.1 Options incorporate updated
stormwater information; 'plus'
options include pulbic feedback
re amenity improvements

1

2

3

3plus

4

5.1

6.1

6plus

7.1

7plus

Health Site

Y/N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

Y

Y

Green Space for 'Broad' Public Benefit
& of Recreation and Community
Facilities (Passive & Active)

Separately scored

N

N

N

N

N

Y

Y

Y

Y (at Health
Site)

Y (at Health
Site)

0

0

0

0

0

729

1,117

1,117

1,000 (at
Health Site)

1,000 (at
Health Site)

Y/N
City Housing Needs
Additional dwellings #
Current Site Stakeholder
Requirements:
*Racing

Y/N

Y

Y

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

*Golf

Y/N

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

Y

N

N

Y

Y

*Equestrian

Y/N
Enhance 1, Maintain 0.75,
Reduce 0.5, Out 0

Y

Y

Y

N

Y

N

N

N

N

N

Maintain

Reduce

Reduce

N

Enhance

N

N

N

N

N
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3. Marking the MCA Scenarios
To assist in analysing the robustness of the MCA process, three ‘scenarios’ were trialled and marked, with different weightings assigned to
vertical criterion, ‘overall importance to the city’, for the provision of green space and active recreation/community facilities, housing, and for net
cost.
All options developed throughout the study have been included within the assessment. However, from a ranking perspective, only one option for
each number was considered ie. the options considered were options 1, 2, 3plus, 4, 5.1, 6plus and 7plus.
For each marking scenario each option was marked without, and then with a net cost weighting applied.
Notes: option 5.1 is adjusted based on updated stormwater information. All the ‘plus’ options are the original options updated to incorporate
feedback from the community engagement process and 6plus and 7plus also include adjustments based on updated stormwater information.
Option 3plus does not now include equestrian whereas option 3 does.
3.1

Scoring from the three different scenarios

The scoring from three different scenarios is shown below. In all cases the maximum potential score is 1.
For all scenarios, for the ‘overall importance to the city’ criterion, the need for a health site was marked as 20% and the requirements of existing
stakeholders as 10%.
Green refers to the provision of green space for broad public benefit plus also to the provision of active recreation and community facilities.

For Scenario 1 the weightings applied were green 30%, housing 25%, and net cost 15%.
For Scenario 2 the weightings for green and housing were reversed, with green 25%, housing 30% and net cost 15%.
For Scenario 3 the weightings applied were both green and housing at 25% and net cost at 20%.
From the table below you will see that option 7.1 scores higher because although 7plus has more amenity, 7.1 has more sports fields (which is
given a higher relative weighting than amenity variety) and also option 7.1 is a slightly lower cost.

6
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SCORING SUMMARY FOR DIFFERENT SCENARIOS
Scenario
One

Green

Housing

Scoring without Cost

30%

25%

Scoring with Cost

30%

25%

Scenario

Net Cost
15%

3plus

3

2

1

Green

Housing

Scoring without Cost

25%

30%

Scoring with Cost

25%

30%

Scenario
Green

Housing

Scoring without Cost

25%

25%

Scoring with Cost

25%

25%

7plus

7.1

1st

2nd

0.25

0.34

0.39

0.46

0.29

0.43

0.47

0.64

0.62

7plus

6plus

4

0.31

0.41

0.45

0.50

0.46

0.44

0.52

0.55

0.77

0.74

7plus

6plus

3plus

Ranking

Options

Net Cost

3plus

3

2

1

15%

6plus

6.1

5.1

4

7plus

7.1

1st

2nd

20%

3rd

0.13

0.23

0.30

0.34

0.40

0.29

0.42

0.45

0.64

0.62

7plus

6plus

4

0.31

0.38

0.41

0.45

0.40

0.44

0.51

0.54

0.77

0.75

7plus

6plus

3plus

Ranking

Options

Net Cost

3rd

0.13

Weightings Applied

Three

6plus

6.1

5.1

4

Weightings Applied

Two

Ranking

Options

Weightings Applied

3plus

3

2

1

6plus

6.1

5.1

4

7plus

7.1

1st

2nd

3rd

0.13

0.24

0.32

0.36

0.42

0.29

0.41

0.45

0.65

0.63

7plus

6plus

4

0.38

0.45

0.47

0.51

0.42

0.49

0.54

0.57

0.82

0.80

7plus

6plus

3plus

Appendix 1 outlines in further detail the approach to the scoring system.
3.2

Ranking of options based on the three scenarios

With the weighting variances applied as per section 3.1, in all scenarios the rankings were the same. The rankings are summarised in the table
below.
OVERALL RANKING FOR OPTIONS, WITHOUT AND WITH COSTS APPLIED
Ranking

Without Costs

With Costs

1

Option 7plus: Health and recreation

Option 7plus: Health and recreation

2

Option 6plus: Homes and community park

Option 6plus: Homes and community park

3

Option 4: Community spaces & active recreation destination park
combined with equestrian

Option 3plus: Central park

4

Option 3plus: Central park

Option 4: Community spaces & active recreation destination park
combined with equestrian
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4. The Criterion
This section outlines the horizontal and vertical criterion, including background information and weighting basis.
4.1

The horizontal criterion

The criteria that were scored horizontally were:
•
•
•
•
•

need for a health site
provision of green space for ‘broad’ public benefit plus active recreation and community facilities
city housing needs
current site stakeholder requirements (i.e., Racing Tauranga, Tauranga Golf Club and TESA)
net cost.

Below is summary discussion regarding the key information informing each horizontal criterion and consequently informing scoring against
vertical criteria.
For the current site stakeholder requirements, the vertical criterion, the ‘need (to be located) on this site’ is also presented here.
Criteria

Background Information

Weighting Basis

Need for a
health site

During the options community engagement process before Christmas,
the BOPDHB expressed potential interest in a new health site at this
location. The consultant team was originally advised a 14ha site was
needed although this area requirement has subsequently been revised
down to 12 ha. Essential site criteria for a health services site are
understood to be centrally located and stable flat land, with very good
transport connectivity. Hence option 7 showing a health services site
was included as part of the engagement process.

From wider discussions and understanding, there are limited
if any similarly centrally located flat sites on current and
future transport corridors that could accommodate a 12ha
health services site. Hence for the vertical criterion, ‘overall
importance to the city’, a relatively high importance weighting
of 20% was assigned.

Greerton Maarawaewae - Potential as a Community and Recreational
Hub

Given the need and strong public support for a centrally
located park which can provide a mix of passive and active
recreation outcomes; the obvious advantage of co-location

Provision of
green space for
‘broad’ public

Please see section 2 for the Greerton Maarawaewae
Options Description, to see which options included a health
site by a simple Y (yes) or N (no) marking. In the score sheet
if N, then the option scored 0; if Y (which was only options
7.1 and 7plus) then scored 1, and the latter was then
multiplied by the end percentage assigned to this horizontal
criterion – see Appendix 1.

8
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Criteria

Background Information

Weighting Basis

benefit plus
active recreation
and community
facilities

A thorough background paper regarding active recreation and
community facilities was prepared for the Greerton Maarawaewae
project by Tauranga City Council’s Spaces and Places team (8 February
2022). The key summary paragraph was:

with the ecological and cycling/walking opportunities of the
Kopurererua Valley to enable the creation of Tauranga’s own
unique blend of passive, active, and wetland reserves plus
community facilities; and the central location servicing the
southern part of Te Papa, the growth in the Western Corridor
and the City West, again the highest relative weighting
together with housing were assigned to this criterion for
‘overall importance to the city’, with scenarios trialled with
both 25% and 30% weightings.

“The Maarawaewae site provides an excellent potential location for a
community hub, with a focus on active living opportunities, including
sports fields, indoor courts, hardcourts and a suite of outdoor play and
leisure opportunities. It could also provide a suitable space for a ‘hub’
community centre. The catchment for these facilities would be the
southern part of Te Papa, the Western Corridor, and a wider City West
arc from Bethlehem through to Ohauiti. Alternative locations for
recreational spaces are very limited in the Western Corridor and are
increasingly expensive due to demand for land for housing. It is strongly
recommended that an option that includes these facilities be taken
forward to the next phase of planning.” Please note this summary
provided a cumulative summary of a large body of previous work
reinforcing the challenges to be able to provide sufficient accessible
reserve areas to meet future community needs.

Please see Appendix 2 for the separate and detailed
marking applied to the individual option scoring for this
horizontal criterion which again were multiplied by the end
percentage assigned to this horizontal criterion – see
Appendix 1.

Value of green space
See community engagement report for repeated and consistent
feedback that reinforced the lack of a ‘Hagley Park’ for Tauranga and the
strong public support for the retention of Greerton Maarawaewae as a
passive and active reserve.
City housing
needs

Tauranga City and the wider Western Bay of Plenty areas have a welldocumented housing shortage and face supply challenges in addressing
current and projected shortfalls. According to recent SmartGrowth
projections (July 2020) there is a projected undersupply of new dwellings
in the order of 6,000 dwellings over the next 10 years. There is a
projected supply requirement of 35,000 homes over the next 30 years.
In the immediate area in which the site is located the Te Papa Peninsula
(TPP), of which the site forms a part, is identified as Priority
Development Area (PDA) under the SmartGrowth strategy. TPP is

Given Tauranga’s and Ta Papa’s well documented housing
needs, the highest relative weighting together with ‘Green’
were assigned to this criterion for ‘overall importance to the
city’, with scenarios trialled with both 25% and 30%
weightings.
Please see section 2 Greerton Maarawaewae Options
Description, to see which options included housing and
estimated indicative dwelling numbers – options with Y only
which were options 5.1, 6.1 and 6plus. N (no) options scored

9
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Background Information

Weighting Basis

forecast to provide circa 9,000 dwellings over the next 30 years. It is
reasonable to assume that TPP might deliver say an average of 200
new dwellings per year for the next 10 to 15 years as it takes time to
ramp up a pipeline of planning and re-development activities – this
would provide for 2,000-3,000 new dwellings to be delivered in that
period.

0 for this criterion; Y options scored the number of estimated
dwellings/ 2,000, again multiplied by the end percentage
assigned to this horizontal criterion – see Appendix 1.

The study site, in particular the largely flat area occupied by the
Tauranga Racing Club, is an option to make a meaningful contribution to
this supply challenge. The site is/will also be well served by high
frequency bus rapid transit along the Cameron Road corridor connecting
to the Tauranga City Centre, as well as proposed walking and cycling
infrastructure.
For the proposed options with housing – options 5.1, 6.1 and 6plus, a
gross yield range of 30 to 50 dwellings per gross hectare (applied to
gross land area) was adopted as well as an average lot size of 175 m2 to
250 m2 applied to the superlot areas. For option 5.1 the average yield
was estimated to be 729 dwellings; for option 6.1 and 6 plus an average
yield of 1,117 dwellings; and for options 7.1 and 7 plus (on the
assumption over time that the existing hospital site land could be
released for medium to higher density housing).
Current site
stakeholder
requirements General

The three current site stakeholders are Tauranga Racing, Tauranga Golf
Club, and Tauranga Equestrian Sports Association (TESA)

Requiring change of location for any stakeholder should
never be proposed lightly, and consequently a weighting of
half the ‘need for the health site’, and about 40% of the
weighting applied to the overall city’s needs for green and
housing, was applied ie a total of 10%.
Given the different land area of each activity (respective
current land areas for Racing/Golf/TESA about 45/35/15 ha;
and relative participant reach, after one considers that some
Racing users could potentially participate at alternate venues
in the future; and given quite different community
engagement feedback and levels of support for each activity;
on balance assigned this collective 10% for Racing, Golf and

10
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Weighting Basis
TESA on a 2:2:1 ratio – in summary a weighting of 4% to
Racing, 4% to Golf and 2% to TESA, %, which again was
multiplied by the end percentage assigned to this horizontal
criterion – see Appendix 1.

Current site
stakeholder
requirements Racing
Tauranga

Further to the Messara report, New Zealand Thoroughbred Racing
(NZTR) currently has an updated directions paper out for consultation
with Racing Clubs. Specific directions for each region have been
proposed. For the Bay of Plenty, the paper states:
“Bay of Plenty
NZTR has met with Racing Rotorua and Racing Tauranga and
encouraged them to work together on what the future of racing will be for
the Bay of Plenty region. While acknowledging the Bay of Plenty is a
population growth hub, NZTR is of the view that thoroughbred racing in
the region may be best sustained in the long-term if there is only one
venue for racing in the region.”
Racing Tauranga has historically held about 11-13 race meetings per
annum and about 20 -25 horses train at the course daily. Based on
information from Racing Tauranga (Nov 2021), estimated annual race
day attendances is about 26,000; and about 92,000 people use the
Tauranga Racecourse Event Centre annually (excluding race days) – in
summary, the estimated venue is about 118,000 visits per year with
racing accounting for about 22% of this total use.

The racing industry is currently consolidating nationally and
NZTR has proposed racing may be best sustained in the
region by one venue.
With industry consolidation, the possibility of developing a
joint solution with Racing Rotorua supported by NZTR; some
likely NBS challenges with existing buildings; and one could
argue some if not many of the existing non-racing users
could be accommodated by some of the community facility
options being proposed medium term on site or elsewhere;
consequently the assigned score for vertical criterion, ‘need
to occur on this site’, was 2 out of a maximum of 5 - Note
when considering the ‘need on this site’ criterion, part of the
consideration is the choice of alternate options - see
Appendix 1.
Note in the net cost summary – see Appendix 3 – a total
$50m racing relocation cost has been assigned but at this
time it is assumed half of this cost can be met/shared with
Rotorua and/or other parties.

Racing Tauranga’s lease is for 35 hectares until June 2039 with no right
of renewal. No recent structural assessment has been undertaken for
the Public Stand and Members Stand, which the Club is currently
undertaking. However, given the building age and types there are some
NBS concerns.
Current site
stakeholder
requirements -

The Tauranga Golf Club has about 984 members (Nov 2021) and
catered for about 46,000 total rounds in the 2021 year.
Tauranga Golf Club’s main lease is for 45 hectares until 30 June 2039,
with no right of renewal. The Club also has a lease for 6.65 hectares

From review there is not an oversupply of golf courses, so if
golf were to be discontinued on the site, to achieve a new
18-hole golf course within relative proximity to the city will be
a high cost (a rough order estimate potentially about $70m,
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Criteria

Background Information

Weighting Basis

Tauranga Golf
Club

within the adjacent Kopurererua Valley Reserve area, which can be
terminated with limited notice - this additional lease area assists the Club
to address some of its irrigation requirements.

based on a possible land cost of $50m and hole
development and amenity of about $20m). Furthermore, the
Club has been receptive to considering how future and
broader public use could be achieved and accommodated

At an early stage the consultant team sought to understand whether
there was an undersupply or oversupply of golf courses in the Western
Bay of Plenty.
As a rough order estimation only (noting from several discussions there
didn’t seem to be clearly established benchmarking): There are currently
five 18-hole courses and three 9-hole courses in the Western Bay of
Plenty. Summerhills 9-hole course data was not available, but the
combined membership of the other seven clubs (or for this indicative
exercise, the equivalent of six equivalent 18-hole courses) was 5,349
members (Nov 2021), an average of about 900 members per ‘equivalent
18-hole’ course; and about a combined 240,000 total rounds for the
2021 year.

Consequently, the assigned score for vertical criterion, ‘need
on this site’, was 4 out of a maximum of 5 - Note when
considering the ‘need to occur on this site’ criterion, part of
the consideration is the choice (or lack of choice) of alternate
options.

The total Western BOP population in 2021 is about (WBOPDC 58,100 +
TCC 155,200 =) 213,300. The current ratio of annual rounds/total
population therefore = 1.125 rounds per person per year. Based on this
data only, if 18-hole golf course average realistic maximum is about
50,000 rounds per year, and participation rates remain similar, the local
network potentially could cater for 300,000 rounds per year, and if the
TCC population is projected to grow to about 209,000 in 2048 (and say
WBOP in total to about 290,000 – say 209k/155k x 213k), based on this
indicative analysis there is not sufficient supply to lose one 18-hole
course. In short, if Tauranga Golf Club was to discontinue at the current
site then it would realistically need to be replaced, and if seeking to
achieve a new 18-hole golf course within relative proximity to the city
land costs will be very high.
The other key discussion and approach is how to optimise expanded
and broader public use of a golf course – not just golf but increasingly
going forward to consider a golf course as a ‘programmable area’,
including safe walking/cycling routes, say some holes regularly

12
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Weighting Basis

programmed for frisbee golf, a school cross country venue, golf-related
activities such as min-golf and driving range which attract different
markets, etc; and last but not least as a multi-clubrooms/destination cafe
for all users of the site and Kopurererua Valley.
The Golf Club has indicated a willingness to consider expanded use.
During the study process the Club also demonstrated total flexibility in
considering the potential relocation of some holes to assist the
accommodation of other future activities on the site. It is also noted there
are a large level of mature trees and great views from the course that
any future directions should value and optimise.
TESA

TESA is an umbrella organisation for nine different groups currently
based on the area inside Tauranga Racecourse. These groups are show
jumping, dressage, Western Riding Club, A & P Association, Adult
Riding Club, Tauranga Pony Club, Greerton Pony Club, Tauranga Show
Hunter Group, and the Extreme Cowboy Association. There are about
two and sometime up to four separate TESA activities each weekend,
and currently TESA groups can use up to the whole infield area.
From early review there was no equestrian strategy for the Bay of Plenty
nor WBOP. It is clear the current infield site is fulfilling a valuable need
for multiple equestrian groups. The development of bridle trails within
Kopurererua Valley was also strongly supported.
If to stay on site TESA realistically requires a similar area – an indoor
arena potentially allows use of a more compact site but an indoor arena
would potentially have about a $7m build cost. Furthermore, one should
probably not develop an indoor arena on a constrained site as future
event potential would be limited by a lack of supporting area and
facilities.
Furthermore, neither TECT All Terrain Park nor McLaren Falls were
regarded as acceptable alternate locations – both are too distant, and
the TECT Terrain Park is also too steep and McLaren Falls presents
major traffic access challenges and safety concerns with horse floats.

If future directions require relocation, then indicative costs to
relocate at say Merrick’s Farm could be approximately $7m
(about $5m site works based on previous Aurecon work) and
base facilities of about $2m to $3m. However, to meet future
sub-regional and some regional event needs would require
some infrastructure within a future racecourse site or similar.
Therefore, in total at this time, if relocation is required, about
a $10m cost is likely to be required. This study has also
highlighted the need for an equestrian strategy/solution to
properly cater for these groups’ needs.
If the future Maarawaewae site is likely to have a much
greater active recreation focus and/or be a health services
site, co-location of horses is less compatible and relocation
would probably be required. However, on a relative cost
basis to the requirements for relocating a golf course, it is a
much lower cost.
Consequently, the assigned score for vertical criterion, ‘need
to occur on this site’, was 1 out of a maximum of 5.
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Weighting Basis

From discussion, there are two needs – a venue say within about 10 km
of the current site that can meet equestrian needs for the City West, and
also the need for a venue able to cater for sub-regional and regional
events (which can work well within a racecourse site as it currently does)
– note hosting events assists the financial sustainability of the groups.
Given the need for horse trailers, safe site access is also needed.
At a preliminary level only, possible alternate site options and in
particular the potential for Merrick’s Farm to provide an equestrian venue
for the City West have been considered.
Net cost

To inform the net cost for each option, Rawlinsons QS have provided
cost estimates at different stages of the process as more information has
come to hand and as options were refined. Similarly, land costs and
housing information were provided, that informed revenue estimates for
the sale of super lots for options 5.1, 6.1 and 6plus; sale of land for
public purpose for options 7.1 and 7plus; and also land opportunity costs
due to the need, for some options on an equitable basis, to potentially
have to provide alternate venues to meet active recreation needs.

For any major project, one needs to be able to fund and so
net cost is always a factor. If one starts to weight above 25%
then net cost will dominate, however for this scale of
development and on a relative basis to other criteria it
realistically needs to be no lower than 15% and potentially as
high as 20%. Hence for the vertical criterion, ‘overall
importance to the city’, scenarios were trialled with net cost
at both 15% and also 20%.

For options some judgement and adjustment was made to how much
community amenity needed to be provided at an early stage with some
reductions of 5% to up to 20% applied to the upfront capital cost of some
options. When relocation of an existing stakeholder is required, costs
have been assigned.

The net cost of for each option and the basis for calculation
is detailed on Appendix 3. However, the score is calculated
by the following equation:

External revenue assumptions from other public funders (based on
benchmarking) was also applied for community facility developments.

[Specific Option Net Cost – Maximum Net Cost Option]/
[Maximum Net Cost Option – Least Net Cost Option], which
again is multiplied by the end percentage applied to net cost.
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The vertical criterion

The vertical criteria which were matched with each of the horizontal criteria, were:
•
•
•
•

community engagement support
need to occur on this site (ready choice of alternate options and/or challenge of relocation)
importance of public transport corridor and urban spatial plan on this site
overall importance to the city (with the following weightings assigned: health site 20%, green/active recreation – 25% or 30%, housing
30% or 25%, and existing stakeholders 10%).

Criteria

Background Information

Weighting Basis

Community engagement
support

Informed by the comprehensive community
engagement process which has run from
November 2021 to March 2022

Scored out of a maximum of 10. Scores provided by community
engagement personnel.

Need to occur on this site

As discussed in the horizontal criterion section, there are limited/no other
understood suitable 12 ha health sites. Consequently, the health site
scored 4.5 out of a maximum of 5.
There is greater flexibility how green and housing solutions could be
addressed but the demand and supply pressure on each is high, hence
each scored 3.5 out of maximum of 5.
Existing site stakeholders of racing, golf, and equestrian were discussed
as part of the horizontal criterion section and scored 2, 4, and 1
respectively.

Importance of public
transport corridor and urban
spatial plan for each service
at racecourse location

The site is/will be well served by high
frequency bus rapid transit along the Cameron
Road corridor connecting to the Tauranga City
Centre, as well as proposed walking and
cycling infrastructure.

A health site, major community and recreation hub and ‘central park’, and
medium/high density residential all need transport connectivity. These
services and housing provision are also important elements of the urban
spatial plan and hence each scored a maximum of 5.
The passenger transport corridor assists access for race day attendees
but neither racing, golf nor equestrian must be located on a passenger
transport corridor nor are service/infrastructure elements of the urban
spatial plan, so hence each scored 1 out of maximum of 5.
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Background Information

Need to occur on this site

Weighting Basis
As discussed in the horizontal criterion section, there are limited/no other
understood suitable 12 ha health sites. Consequently, the health site
scored 4.5 out of a maximum of 5.
There is greater flexibility how green and housing solutions could be
addressed but the demand and supply pressure on each is high, hence
each scored 3.5 out of maximum of 5.
Existing site stakeholders of racing, golf, and equestrian were discussed
as part of the horizontal criterion section and scored 2, 4, and 1
respectively.

Importance of public
transport corridor and urban
spatial plan for each service
at racecourse location

The site is/will be well served by high
frequency bus rapid transit along the Cameron
Road corridor connecting to the Tauranga City
Centre, as well as proposed walking and
cycling infrastructure.

A health site, major community and recreation hub and ‘central park’, and
medium/high density residential all need transport connectivity. These
services and housing provision are also important elements of the urban
spatial plan and hence each scored a maximum of 5.
The passenger transport corridor assists access for race day attendees
but neither racing, golf nor equestrian must be located on a passenger
transport corridor nor are service/infrastructure elements of the urban
spatial plan, so hence each scored 1 out of maximum of 5.
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Appendix 1: Further explanation on how the scoring system works
This section steps through the scoring system uses to achieve the score in section 3.1 above. The tables included are examples taken from
scenario 3 (without costs).
Phase 1 – refer page 19 Example A
1. The scores have been applied for the vertical criteria of ‘need to occur on this site’, ‘importance of public transport corridor and urban spatial
plan on this site’ and ‘community engagement support’.
2. These three criteria are then summed to give a score out of a maximum score of 20 (column E), which is then shown as a percentage
(column F).
3. The next column G assigns the percentage applicable to the vertical criteria ‘overall importance to the city’, as has already been discussed.
4. You will note the sheet shown is for scenario 3 based on green at 25%, housing 25%, and the scoring with cost based on net cost at 20%.
5. Column E, the score out of 20, is then multiplied by column G, the weighting for the overall importance to the city, to give the maximum
score for each horizontal criterion.
6. The maximum scores in this column H are then added, and then for example the maximal score for the ‘need for a health site’ of 2.70 is
then divided by the total of all maximum scores, in this case 11.27, to give a percentage out of 100% in column I.
7. So, because of the impact of the scores or the vertical criteria in columns B, C and D and in this case in particular the very high community
engagement support for green, instead of the green criteria being 25% as per the weighting out of 100% for the ‘overall importance to the
city’, the weighting is much higher at 41%.
Phase 2 – refer page 20 example
Then the marking for each option is treated as follows:
8. For option 1, for the horizontal criteria ‘need for a health site’, in the first column of option 1 (the column, how well does this option achieve
this outcome) scores either 0 if the option doesn’t include a health site or 1 if it includes a health site, as per the instruction in column J.
Option 1 doesn’t include a health site so scores 0. If it had scored 1 then to get the score one would multiply ‘1’ by Column I (maximum
expressed as a %)
9. To try the next row for option 1: for green horizontal criteria, the score for how well does this option achieve this outcome is 0.15 – note this
score is coming through from the separate green marking for option 1 (see Appendix 2), to then be multiplied by the percentage in column I,
to give the score i.e., 41% x 0.15 = 0.06
10. And as one final example for option 1: for equestrian, option 1 is a maintain option with a 0.75 score as per the instruction in column J,
multiplied by the percentage in column I of 1% gives a score of 0.01.
These scores for option 1 are then added to provide a total score for option 1 at the bottom highlighted in green i.e. in this case 0.13.
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Example A: Applying the vertical criteria: ‘need to occur on this site’, ‘importance of public transport corridor and urban spatial plan on this site’
and ‘community engagement support’
SCORING WITHOUT COST
A

Criteria

B
C
D
Need to
Importance
Occur on this
of PT
Site (Max 5) Corridor and Community
Ready choice
USP for
Engagement
of alternate
Service at
Support (Max
options
Racecourse
10)
and/or
Location
challenge of
(Max 5)
relocation

E

F

G

H

I

TOTAL 2
Overall
(Maximum
TOTAL
Importance
Score for
(E/20 as %) to the City
each
%
Criteria)

TOTAL (max
20)

Maximum
Expressed
as a %

Need for a Health Site

4.5

5

4

13.5

68%

20%

2.70

24%

Provision of Green Space for
'Broad' Public Benefit Plus
Active Recreation and
Community Facilities

3.5

5

10

18.5

93%

25%

4.63

41%

City Housing Needs

3.5

5

4

12.5

63%

25%

3.13

28%

*Racing₁

2

1

3

6

30%

4%

0.24

2%

*Golf

4

1

7

12

60%

4%

0.48

4%

*Equestrian

1

1

3

5

25%

Dwellings - Base max as 2,000
Current Site Stakeholder
Requirements:

2%

0.10

1%

80%

11.27

100%
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Example B: Applying the horizontal criteria: how well does the option achieve the outcomes.
I

A

Maximum
Expressed
as a %

Criteria

J

1

Commentary on
How Well
Assessment by
Does this
Option of
Option
Maximum Score
Achieve
this
Outcome

2

How Well
Does this
Score (Max Option
Score x
Achieve
Option
this
Outcome) Outcome

3

How Well
Does this
Score (Max Option
Score x
Achieve
Option
this
Outcome) Outcome

3plus

How Well
Does this
Score (Max Option
Score x
Achieve
Option
this
Outcome) Outcome

Score (Max
Score x
Option
Outcome)

24% Need for a Health Site

In 1, out 0

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

Provision of Green Space
for 'Broad' Public Benefit
Plus Active Recreation and
41% Community Facilities

See separate
marking by
Passive and
Active

0.15

0.06

0.42

0.17

0.66

0.27

0.78

0.32

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

28% City Housing Needs
Dwellings - Base max as
2,000

Includes on-site
and off-site
outcomes
Formula is # new
dwgs/2,000
dwgs

Current Site Stakeholder
Requirements:
2% *Racing₁

In 1, out 0

1.00

0.02

1.00

0.02

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

4% *Golf

In 1, out 0
Enhanced 1,
Maintain 0.75,
Reduced 0.5,
Out 0

1.00

0.04

1.00

0.04

1.00

0.04

1.00

0.04

0.75

0.01

0.50

0.00

0.75

0.01

0.00

0.00

1.00

0.00

0.85

0.00

0.62

0.00

0.61

0.00

1% *Equestrian
100%
Net Cost
TOTAL

0.13

0.24

0.32

0.36
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Appendix 2: Passive and Active Green and Community Facilities Scoring by Option
PASSIVE AND ACTIVE GREEN AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES SCORING BY OPTION
Options
1

2

3

3plus

4

5.1

6.1

6plus

7.1

7plus

Accessible Passive Reserves for Broad Public Benefit
Description

Score Applied

Racing

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

Golf

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

TESA
Enhanced Public Access to
Golf Area/KV

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

Large Park Area (about 30 ha)

0.5

Grass Sports Fields

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

Active Reserves and Community Facilities
Doesn't include Racing, Golf
and TESA - own separate
score elsewhere
Multi-Cultural Community
and Sports
Centre/Community Centre

0.2

School

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.5

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1
Passive Total

0.2

0.5

Limited = 0.1, Greater 0.2 (>3)

School

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.7

0.6

1

0.4

0.8

0.8

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

7

5

Fields/Courts/Play/Other:
*Description - # full field spaces or
similar (not including items in
immediate row below)

4

7

11

12

*'Plus' Options additions #:
Community gardens (1), fitness
trail (0.5), basketball courts (0.5)
open air events space (1), mini-golf
(0.5), basic play (1) or destination
play (2), pump track (0.5), Function
and Events Centre (1)

1

1.5

4.5

4.5

Total #

5

8.5

15.5

16.5

0.30

0.52

0.94

1.00

*Relativity Score (#/16.5)
Field /Courts/Play score (Max 0.8,
based on Option 4 scoring 1.0)

1

0

3

5.5

1.5

3.5

3

6.5

8.5

8.5

0.18

0.39

0.52

0.52

0.24

0.41

0.75

0.80

0.15

0.32

0.41

0.41

Active Reserves and Community Facilities Total

0.00

0.44

0.61

0.95

1.00

0.30

0.45

0.62

0.61

0.61

TOTAL SCORE

0.30

0.84

1.31

1.55

2.00

0.70

1.25

1.42

1.11

1.01

FINAL SCORE (TOTAL/2)

0.15

0.42

0.66

0.78

1.00

0.35

0.62

0.71

0.56

0.51
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Appendix 3: Net Cost by Option
NET COST BY OPTION
All figures are $m and GST exclusive
Note showing costs as negative numbers, revenue as positive
numbers
Description

Commentary

Options
1

2

All costs are based on present day costs and
include 20% design/estimating contingency, 15%
Capital Cost as per Rawlinsons Summary (as per 14 March 2022) fees, 12% P&G, and 8% margin
$m
Note, no options include Multi-Cultural & Sports
Centre/Community Centre nor Function Centre
capital costs.
For Option 4, suggest with relocation of existing
users important to provide a majority enhanced
replacement reasonably quickly
Reduced Scale of Early Amenity Development Requirement
(rough order estimate only)
Note, for this calculation assumes no phased
housing development costs nor revenue which
obviously will occur
Reduced Capital Cost due to Reduced Amenity Development $m

3.1

3plus

4

5.1

Indicative External Public Funding for Community Facilities Only
(Play + Active Recreation + On-Site Equestrian) $m
Net Gain/Cost for Reduced Development before Relocation
Costs

Assumes 50% of about a $50m
relocation/settlement cost - say $10m track +
$30m land
cost/siteworks/services/access/facilities + $10m
commercial investments for viable business
Assumes $70m based on $20m golf course and
facility redevelopment + $50m
Golf Relocation Cost $m
land/services/access
Assumes at this time $10m relocation cost, based
on $5m site redevelopment at Merricks Farm and
then a combined $5m for base facility provision at
TESA Relocation Cost $m
Merricks Farm and also at new Racecourse site
for limited eventing provision
Options 2 & 3 are a reduced level of service and
may require some contribution to facility
development elsewhere
Indicative External Funding for Equestrian Facilities Only (but not Assumed one third of other external funding will
be possible
site development) $m
Land Acquisition Required for Alternate Active Recreation Venue For Options 5,6 and 1 regard as 15 ha, for Option
2 8 ha
$m

6plus

7.1

7plus

-31.3

-50.6

-39.3

-63.7

-100.5

-127

-130.6

-46.0

-46.5

0.90

0.80

0.90

0.85

1.00

1.00

1.00

0.95

0.95

-28.17

-40.48

-35.37

-54.145

-100.5

-127

-130.6

-43.7

-44.18

113

173

173

27

27

Revenue from Land Sales (as per assessment 14 March 2022) $m
From Rawlinsons cost summary have taken total
Play, Active Recreation and on-site Equestrian
facility costs only, and assumed one third of other
external funding will be possible

6.1

4.3

3.1

3.2

4.9

2.2

2.2

-23.87

-37.38

-32.17

-49.245

12.5

46

42.4

-14.5

-14.975

-25

-25

-25

-25

-25

-25

-25

-25

-70

-70

-10

-10

-10

-10

1.7

1.7

-47.83

-48.28

Racing Relocation Cost $m

TOTAL NET COST AFTER RELOCATION REQUIREMENTS $m

-70

-3

-3

-10

1

1

1.7

-15

-8

-15.00

-33.87

-64.38

-65.47

-10

-144.25

1.7

1.7

1.7

-15

-15

-15

-35.83

-72.33

-75.90
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